Modularity of Metal-on-Metal Total Hip Arthroplasty: A Flawed Concept?

Mr. Kevin Ilo MD BSc FRCS

A thesis submitted for the degree of PhD by Publication

> University of East Anglia School of Health Sciences

Date of Submission: 20th September 2024

This copy of the thesis has been supplied on condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with the author and that use of any information derived there-from must be in accordance with current UK Copyright Law. In addition, any quotation or extract must include full attribution.

Abstract

Modular implants have been utilised in total hip arthroplasty (THA) to replicate patient biomechanics. Metal debris and its effects are unwanted consequences. Attention has focused on modular junctions as reports of corrosion could be a source of further metal debris release. This PhD by Publication thesis presents four studies reporting analyses of retrieved modular-neck and metal-on-metal (MOM) implant and one systematic review performed recently on custom femoral stems; a better option than modular neck stems?

Study 1 reported on corrosion found on the backside of two different modular metal liners, each highlighting a different corrosion pattern, but both designs illustrate greater corrosion at the equator rather than the pole.

Study 2 reported on one design of a recalled modular metal liner, highlighting a pattern of corrosion that was as a result of anti-rotation tabs for the polyethylene liner used for the same acetabular component.

Study 3 reported on retrieval analysis of MOM implants from one manufacturer but with different modularity. There was a higher incidence of adverse local tissue reactions amongst modular implants, with low levels of bearing surface material loss but increase severity of corrosion at the neck-stem taper junction.

Study 4 reported on the effect of modularity on cobalt:chromium ratio. Implants with an additional modular junction had a significantly greater cobalt:chromium ratio.

Study 5 was a systematic review on custom femoral stems, highlighting promising implant survival and functional outcomes but a lack of direct comparative studies with standard implants and cost-effectiveness.

Although MOM and modularity have advantages, retrieval analysis shows modular neck junction susceptibility to corrosion. Mechanically assisted corrosion is likely the main contributor, but modular neck-stem junctions are susceptible to galvanic corrosion, crevice corrosion, mechanical stress, and design intolerances, making modular neck MOM implants a flawed concept. Other bearing surfaces have grown in popularity and custom-made femoral stems have been designed as a solution for modular-neck MOM implants.

Access Condition and Agreement

Each deposit in UEA Digital Repository is protected by copyright and other intellectual property rights, and duplication or sale of all or part of any of the Data Collections is not permitted, except that material may be duplicated by you for your research use or for educational purposes in electronic or print form. You must obtain permission from the copyright holder, usually the author, for any other use. Exceptions only apply where a deposit may be explicitly provided under a stated licence, such as a Creative Commons licence or Open Government licence.

Electronic or print copies may not be offered, whether for sale or otherwise to anyone, unless explicitly stated under a Creative Commons or Open Government license. Unauthorised reproduction, editing or reformatting for resale purposes is explicitly prohibited (except where approved by the copyright holder themselves) and UEA reserves the right to take immediate 'take down' action on behalf of the copyright and/or rights holder if this Access condition of the UEA Digital Repository is breached. Any material in this database has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the material may be published without proper acknowledgement.

Acknowledgements

I am profoundly grateful to my family, colleagues, supervisors, and mentors for their steadfast support and reassurance throughout the challenges of this journey. Special thanks to my coauthors: Harry Hothi, Robert Whittaker, Karim Aboelmagd, Prith Hallikeri, Habilan Naathan, Emma Derby, Asaad Asaad, Gordon Blunn, John Skinner, Alister Hart, Ben Van Duren, Mark Higgins, Iain McNamara and Toby Smith for their encouragement and assistance.

Their belief in me has been the bedrock of my resilience and perseverance. I owe a special debt of gratitude to my wife, Amy, whose patience and unwavering support have been my constant comfort. My son, Moses, has added a delightful dimension of chaos to my life, providing unexpected clarity amidst the busiest times.

Most importantly, I must acknowledge my parents, to whom I owe everything. Their sacrifices and unwavering belief in my potential have provided me with the foundation and determination to pursue my dreams. This achievement is as much theirs as it is mine.

Contents

Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	3
Contents	4
List of Abbreviations	5
Declarations	7
Chanter 1. Introduction to Thesis	14
1.1 Background	14
1.2 Thesis Objectives	15
Chapter 2: The Evolution of Modular MOM Hip Arthroplasty	16
2.1 Development Of The Modular Acetabular Component	16
2.2 Development of the Modular Femoral Component	17
2.2.1 Proximal Modularity	17
2.2.2 Mid-Stem Modularity	19
2.2.3 Distal Modularity	19
2.3 Development of the MOM Bearing	19
2.4 Increase in Popularity of Modular-Neck and MOM	20
2.4.1 MOM THA	20
2.4.2 Modular-neck THA	21
2.5 Concerns of Modular-Neck and MOM THA	21
2.5.1 Wear Particles	21
2.5.2 Immune Response	21
2.5.3 Trunnionosis	22
2.5.4 Modular-Neck Fractures	22
2.4.5 High Revision Rates	23
2.6 Retrieval Analysis	23
2.7 What Were the Gaps in Research?	24
Chapter 3: Publication Abstracts	26
3.1 Study 1: Corrosion Of Metal Modular Cup Liners (Appendix 1)	26
3.2 Study 2: Fretting And Corrosion Between A Metal Shell And Metal Liner May Expla	in
The High Rate Of Failure Of R3 Modular Metal On Metal Hips (Appendix 2)	28
3.3 Study 3: Metal-On-Metal Total Hip Arthroplasty: Does Increasing Modularity Effect	t
Clinical Outcome? (Appendix 3)	30
3.4 Study 4: Does Modularity Of MOM Implants Increase Blood Cobalt: Chromium Rat	io?
(Appendix 4)	32
3.5 Study 5: Custom Femoral Stems: A Needed Solution To Modularity (Appendix 5)	34
Chapter 4: Discussion	36
Chapter 5: Conclusions	53
Future directions	
References	58
Appendix	69

Word Count... 14,670

List of Abbreviations

AL – aseptic loosening
ALTR – adverse local tissue reaction
ALVAL – aseptic lymphocyte dominated vasculitis associated lesion
AVN – avascular necrosis
BMHR – Birmingham mid head resection
$CAD\text{-}CAM-computer\ aided\ design\ -\ computer\ aided\ manufacturing$
CI – confidence interval
CINAHL – cumulative index for nursing and allied health literature
Co-cobalt
Coordinate measurement machines - CMM
CoCrMo – cobalt chromium molybdenum
Cr - chromium
CT – computer tomography
DDH – developmental dysplasia of the hip
EDX – energy dispersive Xray spectroscopy
GT – greater trochanter
HHS – Harris Hip Score
HA – hydroxyapatite
HO – heterotopic ossification
JBI – Joanna Briggs Institute score
KM – Kaplan-Meier
NJR – National Joint registry
MHRA – Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency
MOM – metal-on-metal
MOP – metal-on-polyethylene
MRI – magnetic resonance imaging
OA – osteoarthritis
PE - polyethylene
PMMA – polymethylmethacrylate
PROM – patient reported outcome measures
RA – rheumatoid arthritis

SEM – scanning electron microscopy

 $SUFE-slipped \ upper \ femoral \ epiphysis$

THA – total hip arthroplasty

Ti – titanium

- $UHMWPE-ultra\ high\ molecular\ weight\ polyethylene$
- UK United Kingdom
- 3D-three-dimension

Declarations

No material in this thesis has previously been submitted for a degree. Any joint work has been confirmed by co-authors to acknowledge my contribution.

Papers

Study 1: Corrosion of Metal Modular Cup Liners

Hothi H, Ilo K, Whittaker R, Eskelinen A, Skinner J, Hart A *Journal of Arthroplasty 2015*.

The Journal of Arthroplasty is a respected journal in the field of orthopaedic surgery, specifically focusing on joint replacement. The latest impact factor of the Journal of Arthroplasty is 3.4 for the year 2023. Overall, the Journal of Arthroplasty is considered a high-quality journal with significant impact and recognition in the field of orthopaedic surgery and joint replacement research.

My involvement was in the assessment of the metal modular cup liners, collecting implant data, data analysis, preparing the draft and editing paper. The senior academic author is Prof A. Hart, and the signature declaration is R. Whittaker (co-author, researcher).

Study 2: Fretting and Corrosion Between a Metal Shell and Metal Liner May Explain the High Rate of Failure of R3 Modular Metal-on-Metal Hips

Ilo K, Derby E, Whittaker R, Blunn G, Skinner J, Hart A, *Journal of Arthroplasty 2017*.

The Journal of Arthroplasty is a respected journal in the field of orthopaedic surgery, specifically focusing on joint replacement. The latest impact factor of the Journal of Arthroplasty is 3.4 for the year 2023. Overall, the Journal of Arthroplasty is considered a high-quality journal with significant impact and recognition in the field of orthopaedic surgery and joint replacement research.

My involvement was in the assessment of the metal modular cup liners, collecting implant data, data analysis, preparing the draft and editing the paper. The senior academic author is Prof A. Hart, and the signature declaration is R. Whittaker (co-author, researcher).

Study 3: Does Modularity of Metal-on-Metal Hip Implants Increase Cobalt:Chromium Ratio

Ilo K, Hothi H, Skinner J, Hart A *Hip International 2019*.

The HIP International journal is a specialised publication focusing on hip-related medical research and is the official journal of the European Hip Society. The latest impact factor of HIP International is 1.8 as of 2023.

My involvement in this study was assessment of the implants, analysing blood metal ion levels, data analysis, preparing the draft and editing the paper. The senior academic author is Prof A. Hart, and the signature declaration is Dr H. Hothi (Honorary Assistant Professor).

Study 4: Metal-on-Metal total hip arthroplasty: does increasing modularity affect clinical outcome?

Ilo K, Hothi H, Skinner J, Hart A *Hip International 2020*.

The HIP International journal is a specialised publication focusing on hip-related medical research and is the official journal of the European Hip Society. The latest impact factor of HIP International is 1.8 as of 2023.

My involvement in this study was assessment of the implants, analysing implant data, data analysis, preparing the draft and editing the paper. The senior academic author is Prof A. Hart, and the signature declaration is Dr H. Hothi (Honorary Assistant Professor).

Study 5: Outcomes of primary total hip arthroplasty using custom femoral stems in patients with secondary hip osteoarthritis: a systematic review Ilo K, Hallikeri P, Naathan H, Van Duren B, Higgins M, McNamara I, Smith TO

Arthroplasty Today 2024

Arthroplasty Today is an open-access journal focusing on joint replacement of the hip and knee. The latest impact factor for Arthroplasty Today is 1.4 for the year 2023. Arthroplasty Today is a reputable journal within its field, providing high-quality, peer-reviewed research accessible to a wide audience due to its open-access format.

My involvement in this study was developing the research question, performing the review, analysis data and preparing the draft and editing the paper. The senior academic author is Prof T. Smith and the signature declaration is Mr. P Hallikeri (second author & Senior Orthopaedic Trainee),

LONDON'S GLOBAL UNIVERSITY

Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital

28th June 2024

To Whom It May Concern:

RE: Kevin Ilo

This is to confirm that Kevin was involved in the study design, data collection, analysis and manuscript writing of the two journal publications listed below. These studies have contributed to our understanding of the impact of modularity in metal-on-metal hip implants on their function in patients.

- [1] Does Modularity of Metal-on-Metal Hip Implants Increase Cobalt: Chromium Ratio. Ilo K, Hothi H, Skinner J, Hart A - Hip International 2019
- [2] Metal-on-Metal total hip arthroplasty: does increasing modularity affect clinical outcome? **IIo K, Hothi H, Skinner J, Hart A** Hip International 2020

Best wishes,

Harry Hothi, BEng, MSc, PhD

Implant Science Fellow at the Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital (RNOH) Honorary Associate Professor at University College London (UCL) Engineering Director of the London Implant Retrieval Centre (LIRC) Robert Whittaker 2 Birch Walk Bushey Hertfordshire WD23 1FW 1st July 2024

To Whom It May Concern:

RE: Kevin Ilo

I am writing to confirm that Kevin was involved and instrumental in the study design, data collection, analysis, and manuscript writing for the two journal publications listed below..

Corrosion of Metal Modular Cup Liners

Hothi H, Ilo K, Whittaker R, Eskelinen A, Skinner J, Hart A

Journal of Arthroplasty 2015.

Fretting and Corrosion Between a Metal Shell and Metal Liner May Explain the High Rate of Failure of R3 Modular Metal-on-Metal Hips

Ilo K, Derby E, Whittaker R, Blunn G, Skinner J, Hart A,

Journal of Arthroplasty 2017

Many thanks

Robert Whittaker BSc



We Listen We Care www.nuh.nhs.uk

Presentations

American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, Las Vegas, USA (2015) *Corrosion of metal modular cup liners* Ilo K, Hothi H, Whittaker R, Berber R, Blunn G, Skinner J, Hart A

American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, Las Vegas, USA (2015) *Metal-on-Metal Total Hip Arthroplasty: Does increasing modularity affect clinical outcome?*Ilo K, Hothi H, Whittaker R, Berber R, Blunn G, Skinner J, Hart A

Posters

Ratio

American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, Las Vegas, USA (2015)

Metal-on-Metal Total Hip Arthroplasty: Does increasing modularity affect clinical outcome?

Ilo K, Hothi H, Whittaker R, Berber R, Blunn G, Skinner J, Hart A

Orthopaedic Research Society, Las Vegas, USA (2015)

Modularity of Metal-on-Metal Hip Implants Increases Cobalt: Chromium Ratio (BEST OF ORS – HIP CATEGORY)

Ilo K, Aboelmagd K, Hothi H, Whittaker R, Blunn G, Skinner J, Hart A

American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, Las Vegas, USA (2015) Large diameter Metal-on-Metal Hip Arthroplasty: Modularity effects Blood Metal Ion Level

Ilo K, Asaad A, Hothi H, Whittaker R, Blunn G, Skinner J, Hart A

Chapter 1: Introduction to Thesis

1.1 Background

Total hip arthroplasty (THA), considered to be one of the most successful operative interventions, has gained popularity over the years, earning the title of "operation of the century"[1]. The most common indication worldwide is primary osteoarthritis (OA) of the hip which develops without any obvious predisposing factors, whereas secondary OA occurs due to an identifiable underlying cause or condition. THA (Figure 1.1) has been shown to be effective in improving quality of life and cost-effective in the management of OA[2, 3].



Figure 1.1: A total hip arthroplasty^{*}

The modern THA was developed by Sir John Charnley in the 1960s. Due to its success, there is an increasing number of THAs. The UK National Joint Registry (NJR) reported that 89,716 THA procedures were performed in 2013; by 2022, this was 112,525 per year[4]. As the population ages and more THAs are performed, the burden of revision surgery will inevitably increase. Revision hip surgery is associated with increased costs to healthcare systems and significant risk to patients[5]. Accordingly, reducing failure and subsequent revision of THA is a priority for the present and future[6].

^{*} Image taken from OrthoInfo http://orthoinfo.aaos.org

Failure of THA can be divided into patient, surgeon and implant factors. Despite the development of THA design, implant factors still contribute significantly to failure. In the early 2010s, modular-neck and metal-on-metal (MOM) designs came under scrutiny. This was highlighted by a number of implant recalls which had been attributed to metal debris concerns and higher-than-expected revision rates. Therefore, modular-neck and MOM THA implants required investigation to understand potential mechanisms of failure.

1.2 Thesis Objectives

Pre-clinical laboratory testing of modular-neck and MOM THA did not highlight any issues prior to being brought to the market for clinical use[7]. These implants became popular in the use of primary hip procedures[8, 9]. However, their clinical performance has underlined concerns. To understand the failure mechanisms for modular MOM THA, analysis of implants which have failed *in-vivo* was essential[10]. The specific objectives of this thesis are:

- 1) To evaluate corrosion of modular acetabular components.
- 2) To investigate the recall of a specific MOM modular acetabular design.
- To compare the clinical outcomes of MOM hip implants from the same manufacturer and design but with differences in modularity.
- 4) To investigate whether blood metal ions are affected by modularity.
- 5) To review the results of custom femoral stems.

Chapter 2: The Evolution of Modular MOM Hip Arthroplasty

2.1 Development Of The Modular Acetabular Component

Sir John Charnley revolutionised the treatment for arthritis with the development of the cemented modern THA [11]. A monoblock acetabular component made of polyethylene (PE) was used. Fixation to bone was acquired by the utilisation of polymethylmethacrylate (PMMA) bone cement. Early implant designs failed due to loosening of the implant[12]. Initially this was thought to result from a reaction to the cement used to fix the implant, resulting in loosening. Therefore acetabular components which were fixed without the use of cement were developed and created[13]. These porous-coated acetabular components permitted biological fixation [14]. Modular cups also allowed the use of additional fixation, such as screws.

First-generation porous-coated acetabular cups achieved good biological fixation, but issues regarding liner dissociation from the metal shell and wear were common causes of failure[15-20]. Many first-generation modular acetabular cups had poor conformity between the liner and shell, suboptimal locking mechanisms and only a thin rim of ultra-high molecular weight polyethylene (UHMWPE) for security. Fracture and deformation of the UHMWPE at the liner-locking mechanism were associated with the dissociation of the modular components.

Second-generation modular acetabular cups retained the in-growth surface and brought in congruent contact between the liner and shell, giving the liner more support within the shell. There were ongoing concerns regarding osteolysis induced by PE wear debris that resulted in decreased bone stock and implant fixation[21-23]. Highly cross-linked UHMWPE was developed as it reduced wear of the liner[24, 25] but cross-linked UHMWPE reduced the mechanical properties of UHMWPE[26]. Simultaneously, there was a development towards larger head sizes to improve joint range of motion and reduce the risk of dislocation. The larger head size resulted in initial changes to the liner and greater thickness at the dome than at the rim. Unfortunately, if impingement occurred at the rim of the liner, which was not supported by metal, edge-loading and subsequent fractures occurred [27, 28].

Third-generation cup designs that eliminate cross-linked UHMWPE protruding above the metal rim and minimised sharp corners at the liner locking mechanism, were expected to reduce

the risk of liner fracture in modular acetabular cups used with highly cross-linked UHMWPEs[29]. As cross-linked UHMWPE was more susceptible to fracture, the design modifications of the third-generation acetabular cups have reduced the risk of fracture while maintaining a large diameter femoral head and the wear properties of cross-linked UHMWPE[29]. Current modular acetabular components are suggested to offer more flexibility with bearing couple choices as different liners can be utilised[30].



Figure 2.1: Modularity of a MOM THA.

2.2 Development of the Modular Femoral Component

Monoblock femoral components were initially designed for THA in the 1960s. These designs restricted the ability to alter offset, version, and leg length. Therefore, modular designs were introduced to solve these limitations. Modularity of femoral components can be classified as proximal, mid-stem and distal. The introduction and development of modular femoral components have played a crucial role in advancing hip replacement surgery, offering customisation and addressing many challenges inherent in earlier prosthesis designs.[31] Modularity in the femoral component allows separate elements of the prosthesis, such as the femoral head, neck and stem to be individually selected and assembled during surgery (Figure 2.1). This innovation has significantly impacted surgical flexibility, implant fit and the management of complications and revisions[32].

2.2.1 Proximal Modularity

There are many different design variations for proximal modular stem designs, which include modular heads, shoulders, necks, collars and sleeves[33]. Proximal modular designs can be a single taper junction between the head and neck. Development from monoblock femoral designs introduced the head/neck taper design. This modular junction is typically a Morse taper design that provides axial and rotational stability[34]. The Morse taper can have different angles and sizes, the smaller (12/14) taper is frequently used as it reduces impingement during the arc of motion. Modularity of the head facilitates the use of different materials for the stem and head. The modular head provides options for altering neck length, femoral head diameter and head-neck ratio. These options help to reduce impingement and increase stability[35, 36]. However this modular junction does not allow for independent adjustment of femoral offset from vertical height[37]. Modular proximal shoulders have varied designs and fixation mechanisms and can allow for variable body height and version[37].

Modular-neck designs (Figure 2.2) consist of an additional modular junction between the neck and stem, therefore there is a separate neck component. These designs allow for more customisation in terms of length and version of the neck. They have been increasingly used for primary THA as the stem can be inserted without the neck attached and is thought to better replicate an individual's biomechanics[32].

Metaphyseal modular designs contain their modular junction proximal to the femoral cut and therefore lies in the metaphysis of the femur. These implants have a proximal sleeve which was introduced to maximise implant fixation in the metaphysis. These systems allow intraoperative correction of hip biomechanics with the number of component options. The S-ROM implant is an example of this which has reported good long-term results[38].



Figure 2.2 Modular-neck THA.

2.2.2 Mid-Stem Modularity

Mid-stem modularity offers versatility in correction of sizing mismatch between proximal and distal femoral anatomy[37]. These implant designs have shown excellent results and are most commonly used in complex or revision hip surgery where there is inadequate proximal femur bone for fixation[33, 39, 40].

2.2.3 Distal Modularity

Distal modularity designs were developed to improve distal fixation and minimise thigh pain by improving load transfer. These designs have failed to gain popularity and have not shown to improve on other designs[41]. The development of modular components has many advantages. For example, with reduced inventory, there is cost-savings. Femoral components allow adjustments to 'fine tune' individual hip biomechanics and provide intraoperative flexibility. Revision of modular implants is theoretically easier as only the damaged/worn component needs exchanging. However there are concerns regarding dissociation[42], fatigue fractures[43] and corrosion[44] at modular junctions. Metal debris from corrosion at modular junctions makes it an additional source of metal ions which can cause local and systemic reactions[45].

2.3 Development of the MOM Bearing

The first THA was designed by Philip Wiles in 1938 and consisted of matched femoral heads and acetabular cups made from stainless steel. In the mid-1950s, a cobalt-chromiummolybdenum (CoCrMo) alloy, large diameter head MOM bearing was developed by McKee and Farrar in Norwich. In the decade following, comparable MOM implants were made. Peter Ring established the cementless MOM bearing, which showed good success rates[46]. However, these first-generation MOM implants produced high frictional torque due to their large heads, which caused cup loosening due to increased stress at the cup-bone interface[47]. Also, the release of metal wear debris led to adverse tissue reactions[48]. This resulted in an inevitable decline in their use. In the 1960s, Sir John Charnley developed the 'low friction arthroplasty', which consisted of a thick PE cup and small metal head fixed with polymethyl-methacrylate cement. This design was further developed to include a UHMWPE cup, larger metal femoral heads and ceramic heads. However, due to PE wear, osteolysis was commonly seen and often resulted in implant failure[49]. Therefore, alternative bearing surfaces were considered to solve this issue. This led to the resurgence in MOM implants[50, 51].

The second generation of MOM implants was created by Webber. This was a high carbon cobalt chromium (CoCr) wrought forged alloy bearing[52]. The third generation of MOM implants were resurfacings. These were introduced by Derek McMinn in 1997, who developed the Birmingham Hip Resurfacing[53]. This was an attractive option as it was a bone-conserving prosthesis. It also had a larger head, which allowed for a better range of motion and better stability. This brought about the large head MOM modular THAs in the early 2000s. At the time, it was thought that MOM's superior wear properties and the large diameter head, which provided stability and a greater range of movement, were a good option for primary THA[54].

2.4 Increase in Popularity of Modular-Neck and MOM

2.4.1 MOM THA

MOM hip replacements experienced a resurgence in popularity during the late 1990s and early 2000s. This renewed interest was primarily due to their perceived benefits, including reduced wear compared to metal-on-polyethylene (MOP) bearings and the possibility of using larger femoral heads to reduce dislocation risk. These advantages were particularly appealing for younger, more active patients[55].

The peak usage of MOM hip replacements occurred in the mid to late 2000s. During this period, MOM designs were widely adopted in several countries, with significant usage noted in the United States, the UK, and Australia, among others[8, 56, 57]. The NJR data for England and Wales showed that between 2003 and 2011 there were 31,932 MOM resurfacings and 31,171 stemmed MOM THAs performed[57, 58].

2.4.2 Modular-neck THA

The concept of modularity in the femoral component of hip replacements gained popularity in the late 1980s and 1990s. The introduction of modular-neck designs offered the promise of enhanced customisation of hip biomechanics, including leg length, offset, and version, aiming to improve patient outcomes and implant longevity. Modular-neck designs saw widespread adoption in the 2000s, with their peak usage extending into the early 2010s. The flexibility offered by these designs made them popular in many countries, with up to 30,000 implanted worldwide by 2013, and significant usage in the United States, Australia and Europe[59].

2.5 Concerns of Modular-Neck and MOM THA

The first concerns about MOM hip replacements began to emerge in clinical practice as early as the 1970s. However it was not until the mid to late 2000s that the extent of the problem became more widely recognised. The initial concerns are summarised below.

2.5.1 Wear Particles

A MOM bearing has excellent wear properties[51]. The wear of MOM hip bearings has been measured as 1 mm³/million cycle, much lower than the more widely used MOP bearings (30–100 mm³/million cycles). There is an initial 'run-in' period of higher wear followed by lower, steady-state wear[60]. However, the volumetric wear and particle size of MOM bearing are less than those of MOP. The number of wear particles is 500 times greater for MOM bearings[61]. This results in a larger surface area of wear particles to release metal ions *in-vivo*[62]. The small particle size also allows for easier dissemination around the body leading to systemic effects in distant organs[45, 63, 64]. Metal ions have been reported in most organs of the body post-MOM THA[64-66].

2.5.2 Immune Response

When metal wears, particles can be engulfed by cells. Metal debris is reported to be cytotoxic and cause cell mutation [67, 68]. However, there are large studies from England, Wales and Finland that did not show an increased risk of cancer after a MOM THA[69, 70]. Nonetheless,

metal wear debris causes macrophage activation and release of inflammatory cytokines to signal other inflammatory cells. These cytokines can increase osteoclastic activity resulting in osteolysis, as well as fibrosis and necrosis. Metal debris also activates the immune response resulting in a type IV delayed hypersensitivity reaction. Chronic inflammation can result in adverse local tissue reactions (ALTR), also known as an aseptic lymphocyte-dominated vasculitis-associated lesion (ALVAL) and pseudotumours[71]. Although ALTR can be asymptomatic, they can be very damaging to local tissue and bone, which can cause considerable symptoms, often resulting in revision of the MOM implant. It has been reported that patients under 40 and females are at increased risk of developing ALTR[71].

2.5.3 Trunnionosis

The modular junction between the head and neck has been reported to be an important additional source of metal ion release. It has been suggested that trunnionosis results from wear, corrosion and the subsequent release of metal ions[72-74]. Studies have reported that trunnionosis accounts for 3% of all THA revision procedures[48, 75]. There are several studies which have reported ALTR as a result of corrosion debris from trunnionosis[72, 76-79], stipulating that metal debris from modular junctions can have more clinical impact than metal debris from the bearing surface [80].

2.5.4 Modular-Neck Fractures

Early reports identified fractures in modular-neck implants resulting from design and application flaws that compromised their safety and reliability[81-87]. These fractures were primarily due to excessive mechanical stress, leading to fatigue fractures that necessitated urgent revision. Contributing factors included improper alignment or fitting of implant components, creating abnormal stress concentrations. Repeated loading could exacerbate material fatigue, leading to eventual failures[88]. Moreover, using different metals in the components could initiate corrosion, weakening the implant. More active and heavier patients may increase mechanical load accelerating this process[89]. Atwood et al.[90] reported fractures in modular titanium (Ti) alloy necks connected to Ti alloy stems, where fretting at the junction eroded the protective oxide layer, necessitating continuous repassivation. This reduced local oxygen levels, reducing local pH and enhanced corrosion, promoting crack

formation[91]. In response, Ti alloy necks were replaced with CoCr necks, which have a greater modulus of elasticity and therefore stiffer. However Gilbert et al.[92] also noted cracks in these replacements, emphasising that crack propagation was influenced by corrosion rather than external stresses. These findings underscore the mechanical complications like fatigue, fracture, and loosening associated with modular-neck implants.

2.4.5 High Revision Rates

National Joint Registry data has demonstrated since the late 2000s that MOM hip implants have a significantly higher revision rate than other bearing surfaces[93]. Up to 17% of MOM hip implants have required revision within 10 years [4]. This resulted in recalls of several MOM implants. Resultantly, government authorities acted by releasing guidelines. In April 2010, the UK Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) released a medical device alert regarding the monitoring of patients with MOM hip implants[94]. Another medical device alert was released in 2012 and updated in 2017[95]. In 2011, the United States Food & Drug Administration released a mandate that required post-market monitoring of MOM implants[96]. In Canada, Health Canada released a communication to orthopaedic surgeons regarding MOM implants in May 2012[97]. In Australia, the Therapeutic Goods Administration of Australia published their safety information on MOM hip implants in September 2012; this was subsequently updated in July 2017[98].

Similarly for modular-neck components, a joint registry report from Australia showed a 12.5% revision rates for modular-neck THA at 15 years, double compared to conventional THA[99]. Failures due to stem fracture, aseptic loosening, corrosion, ALTR and osteolysis resulted in recalls of several modular-neck femoral stems[32].

2.6 Retrieval Analysis

Hip implant retrieval studies are vital for advancing understanding and improvement of orthopaedic implant technology[100]. These studies involve the detailed analysis of explanted hip implants that have been removed from patients due to failure or other clinical reasons. By examining these failed implants, researchers can gather crucial insights that significantly contribute to the field of orthopaedics. Retrieval studies provide valuable real-world data on how hip implants perform inside the human body. This can markedly differ from the conditions

simulated during *in-vitro* testing. These studies reveal critical information on wear patterns, corrosion, and material degradation, helping healthcare providers and manufacturers understand how implants endure over time[101]. The degradation that implants experience due to the mechanical environment within the body, combined with biological reactions, can only be fully appreciated through such retrieval analyses.

Early reports of failure of MOM and modular-neck THA highlighted the need for a more systematic approach to understanding the issues associated with implant failure. While premarket testing provides initial safety and efficacy data, real-world evidence from retrieved implants offers insights into how devices perform over time in diverse patient populations. Consequently, retrieval centres for failed implants emerged as a critical initiative, providing answers regarding failure mechanisms and *in-vivo* performance[101]. Earlier retrieval studies of hip implants provided insights into identifying causes of failure and improving implant design[101-105]. Similar studies were required for modular-neck and MOM designs.

2.7 What Were the Gaps in Research?

Prior to 2013, while there was growing awareness and concern over the failure rates of MOM and modular-neck THA, several gaps in knowledge existed regarding the precise mechanisms and factors contributing to these failures. The complexity of implant failure mechanisms, coupled with the variability in patient reactions, made it challenging to understand and address the issues fully.

For MOM implants, while it was known that wear particles were generated, the detailed mechanisms by-which these particles induced tissue reactions and the full range of particle sizes and types produced were not completely understood. Similarly, the specific wear mechanisms at the modular-neck junctions, including the roles of fretting and corrosion, were not fully understood. The biological responses around the hip joint and distant organs to the metal ions generated from both bearing surfaces and modular-neck junctions were an area of ongoing research. There was limited understanding of the threshold levels of metal ions in the body that would lead to adverse reactions, the systemic effects of elevated metal ion levels, and why some patients seemed more susceptible than others.

The influence of specific design features of MOM and modular-neck implants on failure rates was not fully mapped-out. This included aspects such as the optimal size and shape of components to minimise wear and the impact of surgical technique on implant longevity and performance.

Comprehensive, long-term data on the clinical outcomes of patients with these implants were lacking. While registries and clinical studies provided some information, more extensive data were needed to understand the full spectrum of complications and failure rates over time. There was also no consensus on the best practices for monitoring patients with MOM or modular-neck implants for early signs of failure. The development and validation of specific diagnostic criteria, imaging techniques, and biomarker thresholds for detecting adverse reactions were still in progress. The role of patient-specific factors (such as activity level, weight, and pre-existing conditions) in predisposing certain individuals to higher risks of implant failure and ALTR were not comprehensively understood. Finally, there was a need for further research to customise implant selection for individual patient profiles. Custom femoral stems have been developed to address abnormal proximal femoral anatomy when standard stems are not suitable. The results of these custom stems had not previously been assessed using a systematic review methodology. The following five studies present analyses performed to answer these uncertainties.

Chapter 3: Publication Abstracts

3.1 Study 1: Corrosion Of Metal Modular Cup Liners (Appendix 1)

Background

Numerous studies have highlighted corrosion issues at the modular head taper in THA but less is known about corrosion at the interface between the metal shell and liner of modular cups. This study aimed to investigate the severity and location of corrosion on the backside of metal modular cup liners, focusing on two designs: DePuy Pinnacle and Smith & Nephew R3. The primary objective was to determine if there were any differences in corrosion between these two designs.

Methods

This retrieval study analysed the first 67 CoCr alloy modular cup liners collected at our implant retrieval centre. These liners, from DePuy Pinnacle (n=35) and Smith & Nephew R3 (n=32), were coupled with Ti alloy shells and had MOM articulations. The inclusion criterion was that the metal cup liner had to be loose from the titanium (Ti) shell or could be separated without damaging the surfaces. Macroscopic and stereomicroscopic examinations were conducted independently by two observers using a microscope at up to x40 magnification. Corrosion was scored using a scale from one (no corrosion) to four (severe corrosion), applied separately to the polar and equatorial regions of the liner. SEM (scanning electron microscopy) and EDX (energy dispersive x-ray spectroscopy) were employed to analyse the elemental composition of corrosion deposits and detailed surface characteristics.

Results

Visual inspection found evidence of corrosion in virtually all liners, with the engaging rim surface significantly more corroded than the polar regions (p<0.001). SEM analysis revealed considerable pitting in the vicinity of the black corrosion debris, which EDX confirmed as chromium (Cr) rich. The R3 liners exhibited significantly more corrosion than the Pinnacle liners (p<0.001). Corrosion scores were notably greater at the equator than the pole in both

designs. One Pinnacle liner was graded as severely corroded, while 12 R3 liners had evidence of severe corrosion overall. The patterns of corrosion were consistent with the areas of engagement between the shell and liner, with the Pinnacle liners showing a uniform circumferential band of corrosion at the equator and the R3 liners displaying peaks and troughs corresponding to the modular cup shell design.

No significant associations were found between liner corrosion scores and head size (R3 only), Co/Cr ratio, or head taper corrosion for either design. Kruskal-Wallis tests indicated no significant differences in corrosion scores in relation to time to revision, patient age, Co levels, Cr levels, or Co/Cr ratios.

Conclusion

This study, the largest of its kind at the time, provides evidence of significant corrosion at the backside of modular cup liners, primarily at the equator, with design-dependent severity. The greater corrosion observed in the R3 liners may explain the higher failure rates of this design, ultimately leading to its market withdrawal. These findings suggest that fluid ingress and galvanic corrosion between dissimilar alloys contribute to the observed damage. Further research is needed to quantify material loss and understand the clinical impact of corrosion at this junction.

3.2 Study 2: Fretting And Corrosion Between A Metal Shell And Metal Liner May Explain The High Rate Of Failure Of R3 Modular Metal On Metal Hips (Appendix 2)

Background

The R3 acetabular system, particularly when used with its metal liner, has demonstrated higher revision rates compared to its ceramic and polyethylene counterparts. In June 2012, the MHRA issued an alert regarding the metal liner of the R3 acetabular system due to these higher revision rates. This study aimed to investigate the failure mechanisms of the metal liner in the R3 modular system to understand the reasons behind its higher-than-expected revision rate.

Methods

This retrospective study involved a detailed visual analysis of six retrieved R3 acetabular systems with metal liners. The implants, collected from different hospitals between July 2009 and July 2014 were visually assessed using macroscopic and microscopic techniques, SEM and EDX were performed to examine the nature and composition of corrosion products. Pre-revision imaging and blood metal ion levels were also collected.

Results

The visual analysis revealed corrosion on the backside of all metal liners. A distinct border of corrosion was observed, conforming to the anti-rotation tab insertions on the inner surface of the acetabular shell, which are designed for the PE liner. SEM indicated extensive pitting and a clear demarcation between corroded and non-corroded areas, while EDX confirmed the presence of Ti rich corrosion debris. The corrosion was primarily located circumferentially at the equator of the liners, suggesting a relationship with the design characteristics of the acetabular shell.

Clinical data indicated that five out of the six patients had elevated blood levels of cobalt (Co)and Cr ions prior to revision surgery. All pre-revision MRI scans showed adverse local tissue reactions ranging from fluid collections to soft tissue masses. The mean patient age was 63 years, and the implants were retrieved after an average of 47 months.

Conclusion

The high failure rate of the metal liner in the R3 acetabular system is likely attributed to corrosion on the backside of the liner, resulting from the geometry and design characteristics of the acetabular shell. The areas designed for the anti-rotation tabs of the polyethylene liner create intermittent contact points with the metal liner, promoting crevice corrosion. This finding is significant as it suggests that the R3 acetabular system's modular design, intended to enhance intraoperative flexibility and ease of revision surgery, may inadvertently contribute to its higher failure rate when used with a metal liner. Future designs of modular acetabular systems should consider these findings to prevent similar issues. Further research is required to quantify the extent of material loss due to corrosion and to evaluate the long-term clinical impact of this corrosion on implant performance and patient outcomes.

3.3 Study 3: Metal-On-Metal Total Hip Arthroplasty: Does Increasing Modularity Effect Clinical Outcome? (Appendix 3)

Background

Modularity of MOM implants has come under scrutiny due to concerns regarding additional sources of metal debris. This study was a retrieval analysis of implants from one manufacturer with the same MOM bearing surface. The difference between the implants was the presence or absence of modular junctions.

Methods

This study involved 31 retrieved implants from 31 patients who had received a Conserve Wright Medical MOM hip prosthesis. The 31 implants included 16 resurfacings and 15 implants with modular junctions (four conventional THAs and 11 modular-neck THAs). Implants were collected from a national retrieval centre, and patient demographics, blood metal ion levels, and imaging data were gathered. Visual assessments were conducted using macroscopic and microscopic techniques. SEM and EDX analyses were performed to examine the nature and composition of corrosion products.

Results

Pre-revision MRI scans showed evidence of ALTRs in 43% of resurfacing implants and 91% of modular implants. There was no significant difference in pre-revision blood metal ion levels or bearing surface wear between the resurfacings and modular implants. The neck-head tapers of the modular group exhibited low levels of material loss, while the neck-stem tapers showed increased severity of corrosion and material loss. This increased corrosion at the neck-stem junction may explain the higher incidence of ALTRs observed in the modular group.

Conclusion

Modular MOM hip implants are associated with a higher incidence of ALTRs, which might be attributed to increased metal debris production at modular junctions. While modularity offers potential benefits like optimised biomechanics, it also introduces risks, particularly at the neckstem junction. This dual nature necessitates a careful evaluation of implant design and patientspecific factors in determining the suitability of modular hip implants.

3.4 Study 4: Does Modularity Of MOM Implants Increase Blood Cobalt:Chromium Ratio? (Appendix 4)

Background

This study investigated the impact of modularity on Co:Cr ratio in patients with MOM hip implants. Blood metal ion levels are commonly used for the surveillance of patients with MOM hip implants. Modular implants, which include additional junctions, have the potential to introduce more metal debris, potentially affecting the Co:Cr ratio in the blood.

Methods

This study involved 503 patients who received hip replacements from a single manufacturer (Smith & Nephew, Warwick, UK) with the same bearing surface design. The patient cohort included 54 individuals with THA, 35 with BMHR implants, and 414 with hip resurfacings. Blood samples were collected, and whole blood metal ion levels were measured. The primary focus was to analyse the Co:Cr ratios across different implant types to determine the impact of a modular junction on these levels. Statistical analysis was performed using the Mann-Whitney U-test with a significance level set at p<0.05.

Results

The results indicated a significant difference in Co:Cr ratios between the different implant types. The THA group exhibited the highest mean Co:Cr ratio of 2.3:1, which was significantly greater than the ratios observed in the hip resurfacing group (mean: 1.3:1; p<0.05) and the BMHR group (mean: 1.1:1; p=0.11). These findings suggest that the presence of an additional modular junction in the THA group could be contributing to the elevated Co:Cr ratio. Furthermore, revised implants displayed significantly higher Co and Cr levels compared to well-functioning implants, with revised THA implants showing a particularly higher Co:Cr ratio than revised resurfacing implants.

Conclusion

The study demonstrates that modularity in MOM hip implants, particularly in THA, is associated with a significantly elevated Co:Cr ratio. This increase is likely due to the additional metal debris generated from the modular stem-head junction. The study highlights the potential for using Co:Cr ratios as a marker to stratify implants at risk of taper failure. Future studies should also consider other factors influencing blood metal ion levels, including patient demographics, implant design variations, and different laboratory analysis methods.

3.5 Study 5: Custom Femoral Stems: A Needed Solution To Modularity (Appendix 5)

Background

This systematic review aims to evaluate the effectiveness and safety of custom femoral stems in primary THA for patients with secondary OA with abnormal hip anatomy. Custom cementless femoral stems, designed through advanced preoperative 3D imaging techniques, offer a promising solution for achieving better fit and stability, addressing the unique anatomical variations in these patients.

Methods

This systematic review adhered to the PRISMA guidelines and was registered with PROSPERO. Databases including Medline, Embase, Cochrane, and CINAHL were searched for studies published on primary THA utilising custom femoral stems. Inclusion criteria were studies on patients with secondary OA receiving custom stems, with outcomes including implant survival, revision rates, and functional scores.

Results

Out of 689 studies screened, 13 met the inclusion criteria, encompassing 806 patients and 951 custom THA procedures. The collective follow-up period averaged 11.6 years, with a mean patient age of 44.6 years. The mean reoperation and revision rates were 6.9% and 8.25%, respectively. Intraoperative fracture rates were reported at 3.23%, and the mean postoperative leg length discrepancy was 4.25 mm. Postoperative Harris Hip Scores (HHS) improved by an average of 40.32 points. Kaplan-Meier survival rates showed high stem survival with minimal revisions for aseptic loosening, demonstrating the effectiveness of custom femoral stems in achieving durable fixation and optimal patient outcomes.

Conclusion

Custom femoral stems in primary THA demonstrate promising results in terms of implant survival and functional outcomes for patients with complex hip anatomy due to secondary OA. However, the variability in study designs and methodologies, along with the lack of direct comparative studies with standard prostheses, highlights the need for further research. Future studies should focus on long-term outcomes, cost-effectiveness, and direct comparisons with off-the-shelf implants to provide more robust evidence and guide clinical practice.
Chapter 4: Discussion

Section 4.1: Study 1: Corrosion of Metal Modular Cup Liners

This study investigated the corrosion at the interface between metal shells and liners of modular cups, specifically examining DePuy Pinnacle and Smith and Nephew R3 designs retrieved from 67 patients. The study used visual analysis and detailed surface assessment methods, including SEM and EDX to determine the severity and location of corrosion on the backside of metal liners. The findings revealed that virtually all liners exhibited evidence of corrosion on their back surfaces, with the engaging rim surface being significantly more corroded than the polar regions. The corrosion was identified as Cr-rich debris through EDX analysis, and SEM revealed considerable pitting in areas with black debris. Notably, R3 liners were found to be significantly more corroded than Pinnacle liners. This could help explain the higher revision rates associated with the R3 design. The study concluded that corrosion occurred in all examined liners at the engagement point between the liner and shell, likely due to galvanic corrosion from the pairing of dissimilar alloys. This corrosion at the modular cup liner interface presents an additional source of metal ions, potentially contributing to implant failure.

This 2014 retrieval study focused on the corrosion of metal modular cup liners and stands as an important publication, marking one of the first and most extensive efforts to identify and understand the degradation mechanisms affecting modular metal liners. Prior to this study, there were only two published retrieval studies on modular metal liners, with eight and 10 implants in each study[106, 107]. By analysing the largest series (n=67) of retrieved modular cups at the time, the study offered insights into the prevalence and patterns of corrosion, showing corrosion in all liners at the point of engagement between the liner and shell. This research highlighted the specific regions within the modular cup liners that were most susceptible to corrosion, notably identifying the equator of the liner as a primary site. The findings underscored the influence of design on the severity of corrosion, with a marked difference observed between the liner models, particularly highlighting the R3 liners' susceptibility.

This detailed investigation revealed galvanic corrosion as a likely mechanism behind the degradation, attributed to the interaction between dissimilar alloys used in the implant.

Galvanic corrosion was identified as a significant contributor to the corrosion process, leading to material wear and the release of metallic debris. Such comprehensive methodological analysis had not been performed in other retrieval studies at the time. The study highlighted how specific design features, such as the circumferential surface depressions in the R3 shell, contributed to a reduced area of contact and, consequently, a higher susceptibility of corrosion. This design insight was pivotal and not reported previously.

The study's findings offered clinical implications. They urged a more cautious approach to implant selection, particularly concerning metal liners. The documented evidence of corrosion led to heightened vigilance in monitoring patients with these implants, emphasising the importance of regular follow-up for signs of metal wear and potential systemic exposure to metallic debris. Blood metal ion levels, specifically their ratios in patients with MOM hip implants, was an area of clinical interest. Elevated levels of blood Co and Cr ions are considered indicators of implant wear and potential failure[108]. There were established threshold levels for Co and Cr ions to aid clinical decision-making. For example, the UK MHRA suggested specific action levels (e.g., 7 ppb for Co or Cr) above which further investigation and possibly revision surgery might be considered [109]. The more corroded R3 liners in this study, had more than double median Co:Cr ratio when compared to less corroded Pinnacle liners. To the author's knowledge, no previous study had reported a difference in Co:Cr ratio with modular metal implants. An elevated Co:Cr ratio might suggest more active corrosion processes, particularly at modular junctions, as an earlier study had shown that Co is generally released in greater quantities during corrosive wear compared to Cr [110], although that study focused on corrosion at the modular head neck junction. Finally, at the time, this study was the largest and most comprehensive study of retrieved modular metal liners. It spurred further investigations into metal liner corrosion mechanisms and blood metal ion level ratios as a possible marker for modular junction failure.

This study stands out due to its large number of implant retrievals and for its depth of analysis, shedding light on the degradation mechanisms of these implants. By employing a multifaceted analytical approach, including visual inspection, SEM and EDX, the study offered a detailed exploration of corrosion patterns and the composition of corrosion products. Furthermore, the study's design, which involved a direct comparison between two different implant designs, provided critical insights into the impact of design factors on the risk of corrosion and also an explanation for higher-than-expected revision rates. However, limitations were evident. Firstly,

the study's retrospective nature, focusing solely on implants that were revised, introduces a potential selection bias. This bias may limit the generalisability of the findings to the broader population of implants in clinical use. Future investigations could benefit from incorporating a prospective dimension, tracking implants from the time of surgery to gain a more comprehensive understanding of failure incidence and progression across a wider array of devices. Secondly, the limited sample diversity, restricted to two specific implant designs from a single retrieval centre, further constrains the study's applicability. Expanding the research to include a broader variety of implant designs and samples from multiple centres, could enhance the findings' representativeness and relevance. Thirdly, the absence of a control group of implants, either known for minimal corrosion or retrieved for reasons other than failure, limits the ability to contextualise the severity of observed corrosion patterns. Fourthly, the subjective nature of visual inspection for corrosion assessment may be considered a limitation. Despite the standardisation efforts, visual inspection remains prone to observer variability. The adoption of digital image analysis tools could complement visual assessments, offering more objective and quantifiable criteria for evaluating corrosion. Finally, the study's focus on the physical and chemical characterisation of corrosion did not extend to directly correlating these findings with clinical outcomes. Incorporating clinical data would create a more comprehensive picture of the clinical implications of modular cup liner corrosion.

This study highlighted the importance of adopting a multi-dimensional analytical framework to corrosion of orthopaedic implants. The integration of visual assessments with advanced microscopic and spectroscopic techniques allowed for an in-depth exploration of corrosion. This layered approach highlights the need for comprehensive and interdisciplinary methodologies in implant analysis, particularly for studies aimed at investigating failed retrievals. By contrasting the corrosion severity and pattern of the DePuy Pinnacle and Smith and Nephew R3 designs, it established how specific design features can affect the susceptibility of implants to corrosion. Such comparative studies are invaluable, as they not only elucidate factors contributing to or mitigating corrosion risk, but also inform the design and development of future implants with enhanced safety and performance profiles.

From a clinical perspective, the insights garnered from this study had ramifications for the continued use and management of patients with modular metal liners. This heightened emphasis on implant selection and corrosion resistance of implant materials and designs. Additionally, the study stresses the importance of meticulous post-operative monitoring for

patients with MOM implants, highlighting the potential systemic implications of metal ion release due to corrosion.

Section 4.2: Study 2: Fretting and Corrosion Between a Metal Shell and Metal Liner May Explain the High Rate of Failure of R3 Modular Metal-on-Metal Hips

This study aimed to investigate the reasons behind the high revision rates observed with the R3 acetabular cup when used with its metal liner. This interest was spurred by regulatory alerts issued regarding the system, which prompted its recall[109]. The study involved a detailed analysis of six retrieved R3 acetabular systems with metal liners, focusing on visual, microscopic and chemical assessments to identify signs of fretting and corrosion. We found evidence of corrosion on the backside of all the metal liners, characterised by distinct borders that matched the anti-rotation tab insertions on the acetabular shell designed for the PE liner. SEM and EDX analysis confirmed the presence of crevice corrosion and Ti-rich corrosion debris. These findings suggested that the design and geometry of the acetabular shell, intended for PE liners with anti-rotation tabs, might not be compatible with the metal liner, leading to areas of close contact that facilitate crevice and galvanic corrosion, due to the presence of dissimilar metals.

The R3 acetabular system was introduced in 2007 as a modular implant system designed to give surgeons options in terms of liners. By 2012, there were national registry data from UK and Australia demonstrating higher than expected revision rates with use of the metal liner[109]. At the time, there were very few reports regarding the performance of the R3 metal liner[111, 112]. In mid-2014 Dramis et al.[113] reported a 24% failure rate with the use of this component. This led to a need to investigate why the metal liner option with the R3 acetabular system was prone to failure in comparison to other liner options. My 2014 study revealed the potential cause of failure in the R3 metal liner system identifying fretting and corrosion as key factors in implant failure. This provided clinicians with vital insights for evaluating the risk of failure, informing decisions regarding the need for closer monitoring or the consideration of early intervention and revision surgery.

The study's findings have validates significant regulatory actions, including the recall of the R3 metal liner and the issuance of safety alerts by healthcare regulatory bodies[109]. These actions, strengthened by the evidence generated by this research, highlight the critical

importance of rigorous post-market surveillance and the responsive regulatory mechanisms necessary to safeguard patient health in the face of emerging evidence of implant-related risks. From a broader perspective, the research contributed to the growing evidence regarding use and safety of MOM hip replacements within the orthopaedic community. By detailing the specific risks associated with the R3 system's metal liner option, the study provided information to guide implant selection. In addition to its clinical implications, this study highlighted a previously underexplored mechanism of failure affecting the R3 acetabular system's metal liners. The results highlighted the unintended consequences of using specific design intentions for one type of liner material with another. This emphasises the need for further research to explore the best design features and material combinations that reduce the risk of corrosion and improve implant survival.

This study highlighted specific complications associated with modular metal lines. Through detailed examination of corrosion at the interface between the metal shell and liner, it explored how specific design elements can exacerbate the risk of implant failure. By employing a combination of visual analysis, SEM, spectroscopy, blood metal ion levels and MRI findings, it provided a comprehensive characterisation of the corrosion process, correlating it with the unique design features of the R3 system. This methodological approach, focused on retrieved implants, presented direct evidence of *in-vivo* performance issues, offering valuable insights into the real-world implications of design and material selection in orthopaedic implants. However, the research has limitations. The relatively small sample size of retrieved implants may limit the generalisability of the findings, potentially obscuring the full spectrum of variability in implant performance and failure mechanisms. Future research could benefit from a broader collection of samples, possibly through multicentre studies, to offer a more comprehensive picture of these issues. Additionally, the absence of a control group meant that the findings regarding fretting and corrosion are not as conclusively linked to the specific design features of the R3 system as they could be. Future studies incorporating control groups, including implants with lower reported failure rates or different material compositions, could provide a clearer comparative analysis, strengthening the causal links between design choices, material compatibility and corrosion risk. The study's reliance on visual analysis, despite its standardisation, introduces subjectivity to the assessment of corrosion. This subjective component could influence the reproducibility of the findings and may benefit from augmentation with more objective, quantitative measures of corrosion. Digital imaging and analysis software could offer a more precise and quantifiable assessment of corrosion[114].

Furthermore, the study's focus on the physical evidence of corrosion did not extend to a direct examination of clinical outcomes. Incorporating clinical data into future research could provide a more holistic view of the implications of corrosion on implant performance and patient health, offering clearer guidance for clinical practice. Finally, while the research effectively highlights design-related factors contributing to corrosion, it does not fully explore other potential influences, such as patient activity levels, surgical techniques, or the dynamics of micromotion at the implant interface. Analyses considering these additional factors could offer a deeper understanding of how various elements interact to influence corrosion and implant failure, informing both implant design and surgical practice.

A critical lesson from this study was the impact of design and material compatibility on implant performance. The study detailed how specific design elements intended for PE liners inadvertently contributed to corrosion when used with metal liners. This linkage between design features, such as the anti-rotation tabs and the corrosion patterns observed, clearly illustrates how minor design considerations can have significant implications for implant integrity and patient safety. The findings serve as a reminder for implant designers and manufacturers about the importance of comprehensive design evaluation, particularly concerning how different materials interact within an implant system.

From a clinical perspective, the study's findings regarding the specific causes of failure in the R3 metal liner system have a direct bearing on clinical decision-making, informing surgeons about the potential risks associated with modular metal liners. Prior to this study, there were limited studies that had investigated the R3 acetabular system. This study was the first to identify a potential cause of increased failure rates[113, 115, 116]. In addition, the regulatory actions and safety alerts supported by this study's findings underscore the importance of postmarket surveillance in orthopaedic implants. The recall of the R3 metal liner, reinforced by evidence of increased fretting and corrosion, illustrates research's vital role in safeguarding patients.

Section 4.3: Study 3: Metal-on-metal total hip arthroplasty: does increasing modularity affect clinical outcome

This study retrospectively analysed 31 retrieved MOM implants from a single manufacturer with the aim of determining whether the addition of modular junctions influenced clinical

outcomes in patients. By comparing 16 resurfacing implants against 15 modular THA implants, which include conventional and modular-neck THAs, the study offered a perspective on the implications of modularity in hip prostheses. One of the study's pivotal findings was the significant difference in the incidence of ALTR between the two groups, with a notably higher prevalence observed among patients with modular implants. This correlation between modularity and an increased risk of ALTR highlights a critical area of concern, as these tissue reactions can lead to severe complications such as extensive soft tissue damage and the need for revision surgery. A key aspect of the study's findings pertains to the corrosion observed at the modular junctions, particularly the neck-stem junction, which exhibited a higher severity of corrosion and material loss compared to the neck-head tapers. The higher incidence of ALTR in the modular implant group, as revealed through pre-revision MRI scans, further corroborates the link between modular junction degradation and negative clinical outcomes.

At the time of this study and currently, there is no accurate method of determining material loss from the neck-stem taper junction as the unworn shape of the taper surfaces cannot be accurately measured. To estimate the material loss of the neck-stem taper, we used the Talyrond 365, taking a series of 14 vertical straightness profiles along the axis of the neck-stem taper surfaces. These traces were used to estimate the maximum linear deviation (equal to the maximum depth of material loss) on each surface. To the author's knowledge, this had not previously been reported to measure material loss from this modular junction. Straightness traces of the 11 male, neck-stem taper demonstrated surface damage with areas of material deposition and material loss at this modular junction might contribute to the observed disparities in clinical outcomes.

A critical aspect of the study was its focus on the stem-neck taper junctions of modular-neck THAs, which were found to exhibit more severe corrosion when compared to the head-neck taper junctions. This observation was particularly concerning, as nearly all investigated stemneck taper junctions showed moderate to severe corrosion, underlining a potentially inherent risk in the design of dual-modular implants. This finding was significant, highlighting the susceptibility of these junctions to mechanically-assisted crevice corrosion, a process exacerbated by micromotion and the presence of gaps due to manufacturing tolerances, which can further facilitate corrosion through crevice formation and galvanic interactions between dissimilar metals. Altogether, this retrieval study showed that the material loss at this junction

is greater than originally thought. This was not highlighted during pre-clinical testing. In this study, one modular-neck stem component was sectioned to visualise the stem trunnion. This showed severe damage, contradicting the advantages of leaving a well-fixed stem in place.

This study added to the existing knowledge that while the modularity in MOM hip prostheses offers surgical flexibility and potential for personalised biomechanical optimisation, it also poses significant risks. The presence of modular junctions increases the probability of corrosion, which can lead to the release of metal ions and particles. These degradation products are responsible for the development of ALTR and other systemic responses that can negatively affect patient health. In this study, 91% of the modular implants had MRI evidence of ALTR compared to 43% of the resurfacing implants. The modular implant group also showed a higher Co:Cr ratio. It is believed that Co is the more clinically relevant metal responsible for adverse tissue reactions, which might explain these results [117]. It also adds to the evidence that the Co:Cr ratio may be utilised as a tool to identify trunnionosis or failure of modular junctions. The quantitative analysis of material loss and the characterisation of corrosion at modular junctions presented in this study underscored the importance of material compatibility and meticulous design in the development of hip implants. Despite the absence of significant differences in wear rates between resurfacing and modular implants, the incidence of ALTR was markedly higher in the modular group. This correlation points to the critical impact of modular junctions on clinical outcomes, suggesting the benefits of modularity must be carefully weighed against the potential increase in corrosion and subsequent risk of ALTR.

The study emphasised a need for rigorous implant surveillance and the development of more sophisticated monitoring protocols for patients with MOM hip prostheses. Furthermore, the study's findings had broader implications for regulatory bodies, implant manufacturers, and the informed consent process. By providing empirical evidence of the increased risks associated with modular MOM implants, the research contributed to the dialogue on implant safety and efficacy, potentially influencing regulatory guidelines and prompting manufacturers to pursue innovations in implant design and material science. The methodological strengths of this study are underscored by its approach to data collection and analysis. The utilisation of retrieved implants as the basis for examination allows for a direct assessment of the implants' condition post-use, providing a tangible evidence base for evaluating the extent of wear and corrosion.

Despite these strengths, the study presented with limitations that could impact the interpretability and generalisability of its conclusions. The relatively small sample size poses a challenge to the statistical robustness of the findings, potentially limiting their applicability to the broader population of patients with MOM hip prostheses. To address these methodological weaknesses, future research could aim to expand the cohort of studied implants. Prospective cohort studies, monitoring patients from the time of implantation, could offer a more robust approach to assess the long-term impact of modularity on clinical outcomes, minimising selection biases. Furthermore, further research is required to investigate what factors contribute to the higher prevalence of ALTR in this population and whether patient factors increase susceptible. Finally, ALTR are variable and can range in severity, so classifying this could be useful[118].

The study's approach to estimating material loss at the neck-stem taper, while innovative, acknowledges the challenges in accurately determining this due to the complexities of the implant's geometry. Advances in imaging techniques and computational modelling could offer more precise methodologies for assessing wear patterns, particularly at complex junctions such as the neck-stem taper. Additionally, the reliance on visual scoring systems for evaluating corrosion and fretting introduces an element of subjectivity into the analysis. From a methodological standpoint, the study's reliance on retrieved implants for analysis is both a strength and a limitation. While this approach offers direct evidence of wear, corrosion, and failure mechanisms, providing invaluable insights into the *in-vivo* performance of these devices, it also highlights the challenges associated with retrospective studies, such as the potential for selection bias and the limited ability to draw definitive causal inferences.

The finding of increased corrosion susceptibility at modular junctions, particularly the neckstem junction, is a pivotal, with broad implications for implant design and usage. It not only identifies a specific target for improvement but also underscores the critical need for advancements in material science to address these vulnerabilities. Clinically, this study has implications for the management of patients with MOM hip prostheses. The documented increase in ALTR among patients with modular implants confirms the strategic approach to patient monitoring, emphasising the importance of regular clinical evaluations and the potential for early intervention.

Section 4.4: Study 4: Does modularity of metal-on-metal hip implants increase cobalt: chromium ratio?

This study investigated the impact of modularity in MOM hip implants on Co:Cr ratio. This retrospective study analysed 503 patients with hip replacements by a single manufacturer and the same bearing surface, categorised into three groups: 54 with THAs, 35 with BMHRs, and 414 with hip resurfacings. The study's objective was to determine if the presence of a modular junction in these implants leads to a significant difference in Co and Cr levels and their ratio. Prior to this study, there were few studies that investigated the effect of modularity on Co:Cr ratio[119-122]. However, this study contained the largest number of patients at the time. The study influenced the understanding and surveillance of MOM hip implants. Central to the study's findings is the observation that modularity in MOM implants may contribute to an increased blood Co:Cr ratio. This finding is important, as it acknowledges the potential for identifying modular junction failure, thereby necessitating a more vigilant approach to implant surveillance. The study's emphasis on the importance of closely monitoring blood metal ion levels in patients with modular MOM implants is a direct consequence of these findings, highlighting the need for healthcare providers to adopt surveillance protocols to detect and address early potential complications. Furthermore, this study introduced the principle that the Co:Cr ratio was an important marker for evaluating the performance and wear of modular MOM hip implants. By establishing a potential link between modularity and elevated Co levels compared to Cr levels, this study paved the way for future research aimed at exploring the specific mechanisms through-which modular junctions contribute to increased metal wear and corrosion. Additionally, the study contributed to a re-evaluation of clinical guidelines and surveillance protocols for patients with MOM hip implants. The suggestion that the Co:Cr ratio could be used to risk stratify implants susceptible to taper failure introduced a new dimension to patient monitoring, advocating for an alteration in the reporting of clinical reference levels. The current threshold set by regulatory bodies, such as the MHRA, which stands at 7ppb for Co and Cr levels, may require revision to account for the unique challenges posed by modular implants.

A notable strength of the study is its sample size with 503 implants. This dataset not only provides assurances on statistical power but also offers a broad perspective on the variability of patient responses to different MOM hip implants, enhancing study validity. Furthermore, the study's methodological approach in comparing different types of hip implants manufactured

by the same company isolates the factor of modularity. This comparison is instrumental in delineating the specific influence of modular components on metal ion release, providing a robust foundation for the study's conclusions pertaining to the impact of modularity. Central to the study's methodology is the utilisation of blood metal ion levels as a metric for assessing metal debris release from the implants. By focusing on the concentrations of blood Co and Cr ions, the study concentrates on a direct biomarker of implant wear and corrosion, offering an objective measure to gauge systemic exposure to metal ions.

Despite these methodological strengths, the study is not without its limitations. The retrospective design, while offering valuable insights from existing data, inherently limits the capacity to control confounding variables that might influence metal ion levels, such as patient activity, component position and excretion. This design choice also confines the research to the data available in medical records, potentially introducing selection bias. Future research could benefit from a prospective cohort study design, allowing for a more standardised data collection process and the ability to monitor metal ion levels longitudinally, thus offering a clearer inference between modularity and increased Co:Cr ratios. Moreover, the study's focus on metal ion levels, while crucial, does not extend to the direct correlation of these levels with specific clinical outcomes or symptoms, leaving uncertainty in understanding of the clinical significance of elevated Co:Cr ratios. Integrating comprehensive clinical assessments and patient follow-up data could offer a more holistic view of how increased metal ion release impacts on patient health and implant success over the long term. Additionally, the inclusion of both revised and unrevised implants within the study cohort, along with the variability in the duration of implantation, introduces another factor that could distort the interpretation. A more stratified analysis, considering the status of the implant (revised versus unrevised) and adjusting for the duration of implantation, might provide a clearer insight into the effects of modularity. Lastly, the potential variability in laboratory techniques for measuring blood metal ion levels across different sites could introduce measurement inconsistencies, affecting the comparability and accuracy of the ion level data. Greater standardisation in blood sample collection and analysis process, either by centralising laboratory assessments or ensuring uniform protocols across sites, would significantly enhance the reliability of the metal ion measurements.

Clinically, the study has implications for the monitoring and management of patients with MOM hip implants. The potential for modular implants to contribute to increased metal ion

release, specifically Co, necessitates as an additional aspect to patient surveillance, advocating for more frequent monitoring of blood metal ion levels in patients with these types of implants and assessment of blood metal ion ratios rather than just individual values. This enhanced surveillance protocol could facilitate early detection of metal-related complications, enabling timely clinical interventions that may mitigate the adverse effects associated with increased metal debris exposure. The broader implications of this research extend to the design and regulation of MOM hip implants. The findings could influence regulatory standards and guidelines, promoting a more stringent evaluation of implant safety and efficacy, particularly concerning modularity and its impact on metal ion release.

Section 4.5: Study 5: Custom femoral stems: A needed solution to modularity

Modular neck implants were designed to better replicate patient biomechanics, but their high failure rates and additional metal debris concerns necessitated a better solution. In the context of my research, which critically examines outcomes and complications associated with modular MOM hip arthroplasty, the decision to include a systematic review on custom femoral stems was significantly influenced by my clinical experiences during my training year as a joint arthroplasty fellow. This pivotal year not only introduced me to the advanced technology behind custom femoral stems but also allowed me to gain hands-on experience with this patient-specific solutions. As an aspiring hip surgeon, I was intrigued by the potential of these custom-designed stems to optimize fixation, stability, and individual biomechanics without the need for additional modular junctions.

A primary motivation for focusing on custom femoral stems results from the complications associated with modular designs. Modular hip prostheses, particularly those featuring a modular neck, have historically been plagued by high failure rates due to mechanical and biochemical interactions at the modular junctions. Corrosion, wear and subsequent metal debris release lead to biological responses, resulting in systemic and localised adverse reactions. As detailed throughout the thesis, modular neck designs have shown susceptibility to fretting and crevice corrosion, which not only compromises implant integrity but also patient safety and implant longevity.

Custom femoral stems, designed through precise preoperative planning and tailored to the individual's unique anatomical requirements, present a promising alternative. By eliminating

the need for additional junctions in the proximal part of the femur, custom stems reduce the risks associated with modularity, such as junctional corrosion and mechanical failure. This systematic review of custom femoral stems aimed to critically evaluate their clinical effectiveness and safety, assess their performance in terms of implant survival and functional outcomes, and compare these with the results from standard, off-the-shelf prosthetic designs.

This systematic review is integral to this thesis as it contributes directly to a broader understanding of how custom femoral stems can mitigate the identified risks of modular designs while potentially enhancing patient-specific outcomes. The review illuminates the potential benefits of customisation in surgical practice by examining a body of literature that focuses on the application of custom femoral stems, particularly in patients with unusual proximal femoral anatomy. Moreover, the review supports the thesis' overarching narrative that advancements in hip arthroplasty should not only focus on enhancing material properties and engineering designs, but also on adopting a more patient-centred approach in implant selection. Custom femoral stems represent a shift towards personalised orthopaedic solutions, offering significant implications for clinical outcomes by addressing the specific biomechanical and anatomical needs of each patient.

Custom femoral stems have emerged as a potential alternative, offering the ability to fine-tune and recreate individual biomechanics without an additional modular junction. Furthermore, custom stems can optimise metaphyseal fit, improving stability and fixation[123]. This systematic review provided a comprehensive evaluation of the effectiveness and safety of custom femoral stems in THA for patients with secondary OA due to abnormal hip anatomy. This review, adhering to PRISMA guidelines[124], systematically searched for studies published on primary THA utilising custom femoral stems. Inclusion criteria were studies including patients with secondary OA receiving custom stems, with outcomes including implant survival, revision rates, and functional scores. Data were extracted from eligible studies, with a focus on overall and cause-specific revision rates. Thirteen studies met the inclusion criteria including 806 patients and 951 THA procedures using custom femoral stems. The review's findings propose custom femoral stems as a viable and effective option for patients with complex hip anatomy due to secondary OA, citing their promising implant survival and functional outcomes. It advocates for further research to explore long-term outcomes and direct comparisons with standard prostheses, potentially guiding future clinical practice and the design of hip implants tailored to meet the unique anatomical requirements of

this patient group. This research amalgamates data from various studies to critically evaluate the effectiveness and safety of employing custom femoral stems for patients challenged by secondary OA due to abnormal hip anatomy. This review not only bridges a gap in the existing literature but also highlights a shift toward a more individualised approach in orthopaedic care, particularly for those with congenital or developmental deformities that complicate primary THA procedures. The introduction of custom femoral stems, tailored to fit the unique anatomical nuances of each patient, emerges from this review as a promising innovation in the management of complex hip deformities. By synthesising outcomes related to implant survival, functional improvement post-surgery, and the incidence of revision surgeries and complications, the review supports enhancing patient care through customisation. This not only underscores the viability of custom femoral stems in achieving excellent patient outcomes, but also highlights the low incidence of complications associated with their use.

The review identifies the need for further studies, especially randomised controlled trials and longitudinal studies, to draw more definitive comparisons between custom and standard prostheses. This call for further research emphasises the necessity of substantiating the long-term efficacy and cost-effectiveness of custom femoral stems, ensuring that these innovative solutions can be confidently recommended in clinical practice. Furthermore, the review adheres to the PRISMA guidelines[124], ensuring a rigorous, transparent, and reproducible approach to systematic review reporting. This method enhances the reliability of the review's findings. Moreover, the positive outcomes associated with the use of custom femoral stems, as highlighted in this review, advocates for the adoption of personalised orthopaedic solutions, marking a departure from the traditional, one-size-fits-all approach to THA. This shift toward personalisation has the capability of enhancing surgical outcomes and patient satisfaction but also encourages innovation in preoperative planning, imaging techniques, and manufacturing processes, potentially making custom solutions more accessible and cost-effective.

The systematic review critically examines the utility and effectiveness of custom femoral stems in addressing the unique challenges presented by secondary OA, a condition often characterised by complex anatomical variations due to prior disease, developmental anomalies, or previous interventions. This review collates and analyses data across a spectrum of studies, including patients with various pathologies, to offer a comprehensive evaluation of the role that custom femoral stems play in optimising surgical outcomes for this challenging patient cohort. These patients tend to develop arthritis younger and there are concerns regarding durability, fixation and high expectations. This systematic review is notable for its strict adherence to established methodological standards, particularly the PRISMA guidelines[124]. The review employed a thorough literature search, using a well-defined and robust search strategy across multiple databases. This approach ensured that all relevant studies were examined, minimising the risk of overlooking critical data. Additionally, the review's methodological rigor is supported by a precise delineation of inclusion criteria and a systematic approach to study selection. As a result, the review presents a focused and relevant synthesis of evidence that directly addressed the research question.

Despite these methodological strengths, the review has limitations. The inherent heterogeneity among the included studies, with variations in design, patient demographics, and surgical techniques, introduces some study heterogeneity that may impede the direct comparability of outcomes. To address this, future studies could benefit from conducting subgroup or sensitivity analyses that allow for a more nuanced examination of data within more homogenised patient groups or surgical categories. Another notable omission is the analysis of cost-effectiveness, an increasingly important consideration in healthcare decision-making. The inclusion of economic evaluations or a dedicated cost-effectiveness analysis could significantly enhance the review's utility, providing insights into the financial implications of employing custom femoral stems versus standard options for both healthcare and societal costs. This dimension is particularly pertinent given the personalised nature of custom implants and the associated costs. Despite their clinical benefits, custom femoral stems face limitations primarily due to these higher costs and the detailed planning required, including the use of advanced imaging. Furthermore, the dependency on specific manufacturing processes tailored to individual patients can limit their broader application. The current lack of extensive cost-related data poses a challenge to fully understanding the economic impact of employing custom stems in primary THA. The investment in custom femoral stems should be weighed against the potential for long-term cost-effectiveness. The proposed premise here is that the decreased likelihood of revision surgeries, especially those stemming from complications such as leg length discrepancy, aseptic loosening, periprosthetic fracture, and dislocation, may compensate for the initial higher investment. Further longer-term clinical and cost-effective analyses are recommended to examine these hypotheses.

A significant gap in existing research is the lack of direct comparative studies between custommade and standard femoral stems in complex THA cases. This limits our understanding of the relative benefits (or harms) of custom designs in these specialised scenarios. However, patient reported outcome measures (PROMs) were promising, showing significant improvements. This aspect is particularly vital and encouraging, considering that the patient population for these procedures is generally younger, with higher physical demands and expectations. The review highlights a potential need for personalised approaches in hip surgery. It stresses the importance of continuous innovation in preoperative imaging, computational modelling, and prosthetic manufacturing to improve the precision and effectiveness of custom implants. Additionally, it highlights the lack of long-term data on the performance and durability of custom femoral stems, indicating a need for rigorous research to compare custom and standard implants and to evaluate the cost-effectiveness of personalised implant solutions.

Clinically, the results of this systematic review have implications for surgical practice. This evidence-based endorsement of custom implants as a viable and often preferable option for patients with secondary OA and abnormal hip anatomy enhances surgical planning and decision-making processes. It may aid patient counselling, enabling practitioners to offer a better understanding of the benefits and potential risks associated with custom femoral stems. Furthermore, the positive outcomes associated with custom femoral stems highlighted in the review stimulate further technological advancements in the field. The demand for precise, patient-specific prosthetic solutions drives innovation in 3D imaging, digital fabrication techniques, and materials science, heralding a new era of custom hip implants that promise greater compatibility, durability and overall patient satisfaction.

For surgeons navigating the intricacies of complex primary THA, the decision to opt for a custom femoral stem is a pivotal one. This choice necessitates an in-depth comprehension of the patient's unique anatomical structure, an awareness of the constraints posed by standard implants, and a keen insight into the distinct advantages and potential obstacles associated with custom-designed solutions. Surgeons confronted with the challenges of performing THA on patients with complex hip anatomies now have a substantial option to consider in custom femoral stems. These stems, meticulously designed to conform to the individual's specific anatomical requirements, have the potential to reduce the incidence of complications markedly. Furthermore, they may substantially lower the likelihood of needing revision surgeries, thereby enhancing the overall long-term success of the procedure[125]. This tailored approach not only aligns with the surgical objectives but also aligns with the evolving standards of patient-centred

care in orthopaedics, emphasising the importance of personalised treatment plans for optimal patient outcomes.

Chapter 5: Conclusions

This thesis concludes my research that began in 2008 focusing on MOM hip implant retrievals[126-130]. My initial research explored retrieved hip resurfacings and bearing surface wear, a topical subject when MOM hip resurfacings were widely implanted, and initial concerns about MOM surfaced. This research laid the groundwork for the comprehensive retrieval analyses presented in this thesis.

Currently, metal debris from MOM hip replacements remains and will always be a significant concern in orthopaedics[45, 80, 131, 132]. Microscopic metal particles, released due to wear and corrosion at the bearing surfaces and modular junctions of implants, can cause various local and systemic health issues. Understanding these complications is critical for managing patient outcomes and guiding the future use of metal implants. Notably, the neck-stem junction of modular-neck implants shows a higher susceptibility to corrosion than the neck-head junction. The design and geometry of these junctions, while facilitating ease of assembly and disengagement, fail to mitigate motion and subsequent corrosion effectively[133].

Modular junctions in hip implants, especially the neck-stem junction, is particularly susceptible to corrosion and wear. Mechanically-assisted crevice corrosion exacerbates the release of metal ions and particles, contributing to local tissue damage and implant failure[133]. The complexity of these junctions often leads to a higher incidence of corrosion-related complications, emphasising the need for better materials and designs to mitigate these issues.

It is now well-known that systemic dissemination of metal ions from hip implants poses several health risks. Elevated levels of Co and Cr ions in the bloodstream can have various systemic effects. Cardiovascular complications, including cardiotoxicity, arrhythmias, and cardiomyopathy, are particularly concerning with elevated Co levels[134, 135]. Neurological effects are also associated with high systemic metal ion levels. Patients may experience cognitive decline, headaches, and sensory disturbances, which can affect their daily functioning and quality of life[136-138]. These neurological symptoms are particularly troubling as they can be progressive and challenging to treat. Another significant systemic effect is thyroid dysfunction[139]. Metal ions can alter thyroid function, leading to conditions such as hypothyroidism[136]. This can have widespread effects on the body's metabolism, energy

levels, and overall health. Hypersensitivity or allergic reactions to metal ions are another systemic issue[140, 141]. Some patients may develop dermatitis, rashes, and other allergic responses, which can be severe. Renal impairment is also a concern due to the kidneys' role in filtering metal ions from the blood. Prolonged exposure to high levels of metal ions can lead to renal dysfunction, which can complicate the patient's overall health management.

The potential carcinogenic effects of long-term exposure to elevated metal ion levels are an ongoing concern[142, 143]. While the evidence is still inconclusive, some studies suggest an increased risk of cancer, necessitating further research to understand the long-term risks associated with MOM implants. Elevated metal ion levels can also impact haematological health. Changes in blood cell counts and haemoglobin levels can lead to conditions such as anaemia and other blood disorders, further complicating the patient's health status.

It is still challenging to accurately determine the volume of metal debris and wear from modular-neck-stem junctions and modular metal liners in hip replacements[144]. These difficulties arise from the complexity of implant design, the limitations of current measurement techniques, and the inherent variability in wear patterns. Addressing these challenges is essential for improving measurement accuracy and developing more reliable and durable hip implants. One of the primary challenges stems from the shape of the modular junction in hip implants. The dual-taper design of modular neck-stem junctions and the interfaces between metal liners and acetabular shells involve intricate shapes that are difficult to assess using standard measurement tools. These components have precise contours and varying angles that require advanced measurement techniques to capture the complete wear profile accurately. Furthermore, many wear and corrosion issues occur on surfaces that are not easily accessible or visible, such as the internal taper surfaces of modular components. Inspecting and measuring these hidden areas often requires disassembling the implant, which can alter the wear patterns and compromise the accuracy of the measurements. The limitations of current measurement techniques further complicate the assessment of wear and material loss. The gravimetric approach, measures the weight of components before and after use to estimate material loss[145]. However, this method also faces challenges. Accurate initial weight measurements are crucial for the gravimetric method to be effective, and any errors in the initial weighing can lead to incorrect estimates of material loss. Additionally, the material loss from implants may be only a few milligrams, making it difficult to detect such small changes accurately. The gravimetric method provides a total value for material loss but lacks information about the

distribution of damage or the specific contact conditions that led to wear, which limits the ability to understand wear mechanisms fully[146, 147]. Coordinate measurement machines (CMMs) offer high precision in measuring material loss but present their own set of challenges when applied to modular-neck-stem junctions and metal liners. CMMs use a spherical ruby touch-probe stylus to measure surfaces, but the size of the probe and its resolution can limit the ability to capture fine details of the worn surfaces, particularly in complex geometries[148]. The unique design of modular junctions requires a computational approach to reverse engineer the as-manufactured geometry, a process that can be complex and time-consuming. Inaccuracies in the reverse engineering process can also affect measurement results.

Joint registry data has shown a significant decrease in the use of MOM bearing surfaces in THA[4]. Modular-neck implants have also seen a decline in their use due to higher rates of failure and issues regarding ALTR. Recent studies have identified factors contributing to the failure of modular-neck junctions, such as male sex, longer lever arm, high BMI, young age, longer time since implantation, and an active lifestyle[133]. However, there are still reports of good survivorship and clinical outcomes at long-term follow-up[149-154]. Further research is needed to understand why there are satisfactory results with MOM and modular-neck components, focusing on surgical technique, patient factors, and implant factors. Despite welldocumented complications associated with MOM hip implants, MOM resurfacings continue to be utilised in specific patient populations due to several compelling advantages. These include the preservation of more femoral bone compared to traditional THA, larger femoral heads for greater stability and reduced risk of dislocation, and a more natural distribution of biomechanical forces across the hip joint[155, 156]. For younger, more active individuals, MOM resurfacings can offer a durable solution capable of withstanding higher demands[157]. The success of MOM resurfacings largely depends on careful patient selection and precise surgical technique. Patients who are most likely to benefit from MOM resurfacing are typically young, active, and have good bone quality. Surgeons specialising in MOM resurfacing have developed refined techniques to minimise the risk of complications, including accurate positioning of the implant components and optimising the surgical approach to preserve as much bone as possible. Experienced surgeons are able to achieve better outcomes with this procedure, which was likely a factor in the initially high failure rate of MOM hip resurfacings[158].

Future directions

One of the primary benefits of retrieval studies is the identification of specific mechanisms that lead to implant failure. This includes understanding the types of wear, the locations of wear, and the role of corrosion. By 'pin-pointing' these failure mechanisms, more durable implants can be developed. For example, findings from retrieval studies can lead to the creation of new alloys, coatings, and design modifications that significantly enhance implant longevity[101]. Retrieval studies offer essential feedback to surgeons about how their techniques might influence implant performance. For example, improper alignment or fixation can lead to early implant failure[129, 159]. Understanding these factors enables surgeons to refine their techniques, thereby improving patient outcomes and reducing the incidence of implant failures. The insights gained from retrieval studies also contribute to the development of industry standards and clinical guidelines. Regulatory bodies and professional organisations use retrieval data to establish best practices for implant design, testing, and clinical use[160]. These guidelines help ensure that new implants are safe, effective, and meet the highest quality standards. Moreover, retrieval studies are crucial for evaluating implant technologies. Innovations such as modular designs or novel bearing surfaces can be assessed in real-world conditions through these studies. This feedback is critical for validating the performance and safety of innovative implants before they are widely adopted in clinical practice[161]. Ensuring patient safety is a critical aspect of retrieval studies. By identifying and addressing potential problems with implants, these studies help regulatory agencies, make informed decisions regarding the approval of new implants and the issuance of recalls or safety warnings when necessary[100, 101, 161]. Altogether, the understanding of why implants fail can lead to the development of more durable implants, ultimately reducing the need for revision surgeries. This not only improves the quality of life for patients but also lowers healthcare costs associated with treating failed implants[5].

The use of MOM bearing surfaces and modular-neck implants is becoming increasingly rare and unlikely to make a resurgence in the future. In the realm of bearing surfaces, ceramics have revolutionised the field by offering superior wear rates and eliminating the need for monitoring blood metal ion levels[162, 163]. Ceramic-on-ceramic and ceramic-on-polyethylene bearing surfaces have demonstrated exceptional performance, as evidenced by extensive studies and joint registry data[164-166]. The success and low complications of ceramic bearing surfaces makes it highly improbable that MOM bearings will ever regain popularity again, even though MOM resurfacing has shown good functionality and high survivorship in specific patient groups. There are also emerging developments in ceramic resurfacing technologies, highlighting the continuous innovation in this area[167, 168].

Similarly, the likelihood of modular-neck implants making a comeback is low. The advent of monoblock designs, particularly custom-made femoral stems, addresses the issues associated with the modular-neck junction. These custom femoral components are tailored to individual patients, potentially enhancing biomechanics and longevity. Future research should focus on the material science aspects of implant design, investigating new alloys and surface treatments that reduce metal ion release while optimising biomechanical compatibility and durability. Additionally, economic evaluations are crucial to determine the cost-effectiveness of custom femoral stems, ensuring that the advantages of personalised implants are both accessible and justifiable within the broader healthcare system. Overall, the advancements in bearing surfaces and custom femoral stem designs signify a significant shift away from the flawed concept of MOM modular-neck implants, paving the way for more effective and patient-specific orthopaedic solutions.

References

1. Learmonth ID, Young C, Rorabeck C. (2007); The operation of the century: total hip replacement. Lancet.370(9597):1508-19.

2. Harris WH, Sledge CB. (1990); Total hip and total knee replacement (1). N Engl J Med.323(11):725-31.

3. Chang RW, Pellisier JM, Hazen GB. (1996); A cost-effectiveness analysis of total hip arthroplasty for osteoarthritis of the hip. JAMA.275(11):858-65.

4. National Joint Registry for England and Wales (NJR) 10th Annual Report; 2013 [Available at <u>www.njrcentre.org.uk</u>].

5. Duwelius PJ, Southgate RD, Crutcher JP, Jr., Rollier GM, Li HF, Sypher KS, et al. (2023); Registry Data Show Complication Rates and Cost in Revision Hip Arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty.38(7S):S29-S33.

6. Klug A, Gramlich Y, Rudert M, Drees P, Hoffmann R, Weißenberger M, et al. (2021); The projected volume of primary and revision total knee arthroplasty will place an immense burden on future health care systems over the next 30 years. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy.29:3287-98.

7. Reito A, Lehtovirta L, Lainiala O, Makela K, Eskelinen A. (2017); Lack of evidence-the anti-stepwise introduction of metal-on-metal hip replacements. Acta Orthop.88(5):478-83.

8. Bozic KJ, Kurtz S, Lau E, Ong K, Chiu V, Vail TP, et al. (2009); The epidemiology of bearing surface usage in total hip arthroplasty in the United States. J Bone Joint Surg Am.91(7):1614-20.

9. Berry DJ, Bozic KJ. (2010); Current practice patterns in primary hip and knee arthroplasty among members of the American Association of Hip and Knee Surgeons. The Journal of arthroplasty.25(6):2-4.

10. Antoniac I, Miculescu F, Laptoiu D, Antoniac A, Niculescu M, Grecu D. Retrieval Analysis of Hip Prostheses. In: Antoniac IV, editor. Handbook of Bioceramics and Biocomposites. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2014. p. 1-33.

11. Arirachakaran A, Sukthuayat A, Sisayanarane T, Laoratanavoraphong S, Kanchanatawan W, Kongtharvonskul J. (2016); Platelet-rich plasma versus autologous blood versus steroid injection in lateral epicondylitis: systematic review and network metaanalysis. Journal of orthopaedics and traumatology : official journal of the Italian Society of Orthopaedics and Traumatology.17(2):101-12.

12. Peters C, Dunn H. (1998); The cementless acetabular component. The adult hip.2:993-1016.

13. Harris WH, Jasty M. (1985); Bone ingrowth into porous coated canine acetabular replacements: the effect of pore size, apposition, and dislocation. The Hip:214-34.

14. Kini SG, Anwar R, Bruce W, Walker P. (2014); Modular Versus Monoblock Cementless Acetabular Cups in Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty-A Review. International Journal of Orthopaedics.1(3):93-9.

15. Udomkiat P, Dorr LD, Wan Z. (2002); Cementless hemispheric porous-coated sockets implanted with press-fit technique without screws: average ten-year follow-up. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume.84-A(7):1195-200.

16. Gonzalez della Valle A, Ruzo PS, Li S, Pellicci P, Sculco TP, Salvati EA. (2001); Dislodgment of polyethylene liners in first and second-generation Harris-Galante acetabular components. A report of eighteen cases. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume.83-A(4):553-9.

17. Ries MD, Collis DK, Lynch F. (1992); Separation of the polyethylene liner from acetabular cup metal backing. A report of three cases. Clinical orthopaedics and related research(282):164-9.

18. Mihalko WM, Papademetriou T. (2001); Polyethylene liner dissociation with the Harris-Galante II acetabular component. Clinical orthopaedics and related research(386):166-72.

19. Dowd JE, Sychterz CJ, Young AM, Engh CA. (2000); Characterization of long-term femoral-head-penetration rates. Association with and prediction of osteolysis. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume.82-A(8):1102-7.

20. Crowther JD, Lachiewicz PF. (2002); Survival and polyethylene wear of porous-coated acetabular components in patients less than fifty years old: results at nine to fourteen years. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume.84-A(5):729-35.

21. Orishimo KF, Claus AM, Sychterz CJ, Engh CA. (2003); Relationship between polyethylene wear and osteolysis in hips with a second-generation porous-coated cementless cup after seven years of follow-up. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume.85-A(6):1095-9.

22. Sochart DH. (1999); Relationship of acetabular wear to osteolysis and loosening in total hip arthroplasty. Clinical orthopaedics and related research(363):135-50.

23. Dumbleton JH, Manley MT, Edidin AA. (2002); A literature review of the association between wear rate and osteolysis in total hip arthroplasty. The Journal of arthroplasty.17(5):649-61.

24. Jacobs CA, Christensen CP, Greenwald AS, McKellop H. (2007); Clinical performance of highly cross-linked polyethylenes in total hip arthroplasty. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume.89(12):2779-86.

25. Dorr LD, Wan Z, Shahrdar C, Sirianni L, Boutary M, Yun A. (2005); Clinical performance of a Durasul highly cross-linked polyethylene acetabular liner for total hip arthroplasty at five years. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume.87(8):1816-21.

26. Baker DA, Hastings RS, Pruitt L. (1999); Study of fatigue resistance of chemical and radiation crosslinked medical grade ultrahigh molecular weight polyethylene. Journal of biomedical materials research.46(4):573-81.

27. Tower SS, Currier JH, Currier BH, Lyford KA, Van Citters DW, Mayor MB. (2007); Rim cracking of the cross-linked longevity polyethylene acetabular liner after total hip arthroplasty. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume.89(10):2212-7.

28. Halley D, Glassman A, Crowninshield RD. (2004); Recurrent dislocation after revision total hip replacement with a large prosthetic femoral head. A case report. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume.86-A(4):827-30.

29. Ries MD. (2008); Review of the evolution of the cementless acetabular cup. Orthopedics.

30. Zagra L, Gallazzi E. (2018); Bearing surfaces in primary total hip arthroplasty. EFORT open reviews.3(5):217-24.

31. Srinivasan A, Jung E, Levine BR. (2012); Modularity of the femoral component in total hip arthroplasty. JAAOS-Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons.20(4):214-22.

32. Krishnan H, Krishnan SP, Blunn G, Skinner JA, Hart AJ. (2013); Modular neck femoral stems. Bone Joint J.95-B(8):1011-21.

33. Park CW, Lim SJ, Park YS. (2018); Modular Stems: Advantages and Current Role in Primary Total Hip Arthroplasty. Hip Pelvis.30(3):147-55.

34. Friedman RJ, Black J, Galante JO, Jacobs JJ, Skinner HB. (1994); Current concepts in orthopaedic biomaterials and implant fixation. Instr Course Lect.43:233-55.

35. Burroughs BR, Hallstrom B, Golladay GJ, Hoeffel D, Harris WH. (2005); Range of motion and stability in total hip arthroplasty with 28-, 32-, 38-, and 44-mm femoral head sizes. J Arthroplasty.20(1):11-9.

36. Jameson SS, Lees D, James P, Serrano-Pedraza I, Partington PF, Muller SD, et al. (2011); Lower rates of dislocation with increased femoral head size after primary total hip replacement: a five-year analysis of NHS patients in England. J Bone Joint Surg Br.93(7):876-80.

37. McTighe T. Reference Book on Total Hip Modularity". JISRF pub. Jan; 2009.

38. Christie MJ, DeBoer DK, Trick LW, Brothers JC, Jones RE, Vise GT, et al. (1999); Primary total hip arthroplasty with use of the modular S-ROM prosthesis. Four to seven-year clinical and radiographic results. J Bone Joint Surg Am.81(12):1707-16.

39. Hoberg M, Konrads C, Engelien J, Oschmann D, Holder M, Walcher M, et al. (2015); Outcome of a modular tapered uncemented titanium femoral stem in revision hip arthroplasty. Int Orthop.39(9):1709-13.

40. Fink B, Urbansky K, Schuster P. (2014); Mid term results with the curved modular tapered, fluted titanium Revitan stem in revision hip replacement. Bone Joint J.96-B(7):889-95.

41. Mertl P, Dehl M. (2020); Femoral stem modularity. Orthopaedics & Traumatology: Surgery & Research.106(1):S35-S42.

42. Barrack RL, Burke DW, Cook SD, Skinner HB, Harris WH. (1993); Complications related to modularity of total hip components. J Bone Joint Surg Br.75(5):688-92.

43. Atwood SA, Patten EW, Bozic KJ, Pruitt LA, Ries MD. (2010); Corrosion-induced fracture of a double-modular hip prosthesis: a case report. J Bone Joint Surg Am.92(6):1522-5.

44. Brown SA, Flemming CA, Kawalec JS, Placko HE, Vassaux C, Merritt K, et al. (1995); Fretting corrosion accelerates crevice corrosion of modular hip tapers. J Appl Biomater.6(1):19-26.

45. Sidaginamale RP, Joyce TJ, Bowsher JG, Lord JK, Avery PJ, Natu S, et al. (2016); The clinical implications of metal debris release from the taper junctions and bearing surfaces of metal-on-metal hip arthroplasty: joint fluid and blood metal ion concentrations. Bone Joint J.98-B(7):925-33.

46. Ring PA. (1968); Complete replacement arthroplasty of the hip by the ring prosthesis. J Bone Joint Surg Br.50(4):720-31.

47. Long WT. (2005); The clinical performance of metal-on-metal as an articulation surface in total hip replacement. Iowa Orthop J.25:10-6.

48. Drummond J, Tran P, Fary C. (2015); Metal-on-Metal Hip Arthroplasty: A Review of Adverse Reactions and Patient Management. J Funct Biomater.6(3):486-99.

49. Joshi RP, Eftekhar NS, McMahon DJ, Nercessian OA. (1998); Osteolysis after Charnley primary low-friction arthroplasty. A comparison of two matched paired groups. J Bone Joint Surg Br.80(4):585-90.

50. Zijlstra WP, Bos N, van Raaij JJ. (2008); Large head metal-on-metal cementless total hip arthroplasty versus 28 mm metal-on-polyethylene cementless total hip arthroplasty: design of a randomized controlled trial. BMC Musculoskelet Disord.9:136.

51. Dowson D, Jin ZM. (2006); Metal-on-metal hip joint tribology. Proc Inst Mech Eng H.220(2):107-18.

52. Weber B. (1992); Metall-Metall-Totalprothese des Hüftgelenkes: Zurück in die Zukunft. Zeitschrift für Orthopädie und ihre Grenzgebiete.130(04):306-9.

53. McMinn D, Treacy R, Lin K, Pynsent P. (1996); Metal on metal surface replacement of the hip. Experience of the McMinn prothesis. Clin Orthop Relat Res(329 Suppl):S89-98.

54. Sands D, Schemitsch EH. (2017); The Role of Metal-on-Metal Bearings in Total Hip Arthroplasty and Hip Resurfacing: Review Article. HSS J.13(1):2-6.

55. Delaunay CP, Bonnomet F, Clavert P, Laffargue P, Migaud H. (2008); THA using metal-on-metal articulation in active patients younger than 50 years. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research[®].466(2):340-6.

56. Huang P, Lyons M, O'Sullivan M. (2018); The infection rate of metal-on-metal total hip replacement is higher when compared to other bearing surfaces as documented by the Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry. HSS Journal[®].14(1):99-105.

57. Smith AJ, Dieppe P, Howard PW, Blom AW, National Joint Registry for E, Wales. (2012); Failure rates of metal-on-metal hip resurfacings: analysis of data from the National Joint Registry for England and Wales. Lancet.380(9855):1759-66.

58. Smith AJ, Dieppe P, Vernon K, Porter M, Blom AW, National Joint Registry of E, et al. (2012); Failure rates of stemmed metal-on-metal hip replacements: analysis of data from the National Joint Registry of England and Wales. Lancet.379(9822):1199-204.

59. United States Food and Drug Administration. Stryker initiates voluntary product recall of modular-neck stems: action specific to Rejuvenate and ABG II modular-neck stems. http://www.fda.gov/safety/recalls/ucm311043.htm United States Food and Drug Administration. Stryker initiates voluntary product recall of modular-neck stems: action specific to Rejuvenate and ABG II modular-neck stems.

http://www.fda.gov/safety/recalls/ucm311043.htm (date last accessed 13 June 2013). [

60. Liu F, Jin Z, Rieker C, Hirt F, Roberts P, Grigoris P, editors. Running-in wear and lubrication of metal-on-metal hip implants. Orthopaedic Proceedings; 2006: Bone & Joint.

61. Doorn PF, Campbell PA, Worrall J, Benya PD, McKellop HA, Amstutz HC. (1998); Metal wear particle characterization from metal on metal total hip replacements: transmission electron microscopy study of periprosthetic tissues and isolated particles. J Biomed Mater Res.42(1):103-11.

62. Billi F, Benya P, Ebramzadeh E, Campbell P, Chan F, McKellop HA. (2009); Metal wear particles: What we know, what we do not know, and why. SAS J.3(4):133-42.

63. Kwon YM, Thomas P, Summer B, Pandit H, Taylor A, Beard D, et al. (2010); Lymphocyte proliferation responses in patients with pseudotumors following metal-onmetal hip resurfacing arthroplasty. J Orthop Res.28(4):444-50.

64. Gill HS, Grammatopoulos G, Adshead S, Tsialogiannis E, Tsiridis E. (2012); Molecular and immune toxicity of CoCr nanoparticles in MoM hip arthroplasty. Trends Mol Med.18(3):145-55.

65. Urban RM, Jacobs JJ, Tomlinson MJ, Gavrilovic J, Black J, Peoc'h M. (2000); Dissemination of wear particles to the liver, spleen, and abdominal lymph nodes of patients with hip or knee replacement. J Bone Joint Surg Am.82(4):457-76. 66. Bradberry SM, Wilkinson JM, Ferner RE. (2014); Systemic toxicity related to metal hip prostheses. Clin Toxicol (Phila).52(8):837-47.

67. Davies AP, Sood A, Lewis AC, Newson R, Learmonth ID, Case CP. (2005); Metalspecific differences in levels of DNA damage caused by synovial fluid recovered at revision arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Br.87(10):1439-44.

68. Doherty AT, Howell RT, Ellis LA, Bisbinas I, Learmonth ID, Newson R, et al. (2001); Increased chromosome translocations and aneuploidy in peripheral blood lymphocytes of patients having revision arthroplasty of the hip. J Bone Joint Surg Br.83(7):1075-81.

69. Smith AJ, Dieppe P, Porter M, Blom AW, National Joint Registry of E, Wales. (2012); Risk of cancer in first seven years after metal-on-metal hip replacement compared with other bearings and general population: linkage study between the National Joint Registry of England and Wales and hospital episode statistics. BMJ.344:e2383.

70. Makela KT, Visuri T, Pulkkinen P, Eskelinen A, Remes V, Virolainen P, et al. (2014); Cancer incidence and cause-specific mortality in patients with metal-on-metal hip replacements in Finland. Acta Orthop.85(1):32-8.

71. Glyn-Jones S, Pandit H, Kwon YM, Doll H, Gill HS, Murray DW. (2009); Risk factors for inflammatory pseudotumour formation following hip resurfacing. J Bone Joint Surg Br.91(12):1566-74.

72. Pivec R, Meneghini RM, Hozack WJ, Westrich GH, Mont MA. (2014); Modular taper junction corrosion and failure: how to approach a recalled total hip arthroplasty implant. J Arthroplasty.29(1):1-6.

73. Gilbert JL, Buckley CA, Jacobs JJ. (1993); In vivo corrosion of modular hip prosthesis components in mixed and similar metal combinations. The effect of crevice, stress, motion, and alloy coupling. J Biomed Mater Res.27(12):1533-44.

74. Langton DJ, Jameson SS, Joyce TJ, Gandhi JN, Sidaginamale R, Mereddy P, et al. (2011); Accelerating failure rate of the ASR total hip replacement. J Bone Joint Surg Br.93(8):1011-6.

75. Porter DA, Urban RM, Jacobs JJ, Gilbert JL, Rodriguez JA, Cooper HJ. (2014); Modern trunnions are more flexible: a mechanical analysis of THA taper designs. Clin Orthop Relat Res.472(12):3963-70.

76. Mistry JB, Chughtai M, Elmallah RK, Diedrich A, Le S, Thomas M, et al. (2016); Trunnionosis in total hip arthroplasty: a review. Journal of orthopaedics and traumatology : official journal of the Italian Society of Orthopaedics and Traumatology.17(1):1-6.

77. Werner SD, Bono JV, Nandi S, Ward DM, Talmo CT. (2013); Adverse tissue reactions in modular exchangeable neck implants: a report of two cases. J Arthroplasty.28(3):543 e13-5.

78. Cooper HJ, Urban RM, Wixson RL, Meneghini RM, Jacobs JJ. (2013); Adverse local tissue reaction arising from corrosion at the femoral neck-body junction in a dual-taper stem with a cobalt-chromium modular neck. J Bone Joint Surg Am.95(10):865-72.

79. Cooper HJ, Della Valle CJ, Berger RA, Tetreault M, Paprosky WG, Sporer SM, et al. (2012); Corrosion at the head-neck taper as a cause for adverse local tissue reactions after total hip arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am.94(18):1655-61.

80. Langton D, Sidaginamale R, Lord J, Joyce T, Natu S, Nargol A, editors. Metal debris release from taper junctions appears to have a greater clinical impact than debris released from metal on metal bearing surfaces. Orthopaedic Proceedings; 2013: The British Editorial Society of Bone & Joint Surgery.

81. Ellman MB, Levine BR. (2013); Fracture of the modular femoral neck component in total hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty.28(1):196 e1-5.

82. Wodecki P, Sabbah D, Kermarrec G, Semaan I. (2013); New type of hip arthroplasty failure related to modular femoral components: breakage at the neck-stem junction. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res.99(6):741-4.

83. Sotereanos NG, Sauber TJ, Tupis TT. (2013); Modular femoral neck fracture after primary total hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty.28(1):196 e7-9.

84. Wright G, Sporer S, Urban R, Jacobs J. (2010); Fracture of a modular femoral neck after total hip arthroplasty: a case report. J Bone Joint Surg Am.92(6):1518-21.

85. Wilson DA, Dunbar MJ, Amirault JD, Farhat Z. (2010); Early failure of a modular femoral neck total hip arthroplasty component: a case report. J Bone Joint Surg Am.92(6):1514-7.

86. Grupp TM, Weik T, Bloemer W, Knaebel HP. (2010); Modular titanium alloy neck adapter failures in hip replacement--failure mode analysis and influence of implant material. BMC Musculoskelet Disord.11:3.

87. Skendzel JG, Blaha JD, Urquhart AG. (2011); Total hip arthroplasty modular neck failure. J Arthroplasty.26(2):338 e1-4.

88. Nganbe M, Khan U, Louati H, Speirs A, Beaulé PE. (2011); In vitro assessment of strength, fatigue durability, and disassembly of Ti6Al4V and CoCrMo necks in modular total hip replacements. Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part B: Applied Biomaterials.97(1):132-8.

89. Solou K, Panagopoulos A, Tatani I, Megas P. (2024); Fracture of femoral neck in modular total hip arthroplasty: A systematic review of the literature. Hip International.34(3):409-20.

90. Atwood SA, Patten EW, Bozic KJ, Pruitt LA, Ries MD. (2010); Corrosion-induced fracture of a double-modular hip prosthesis: a case report. JBJS.92(6):1522-5.

91. Hall DJ, Pourzal R, Della Valle CJ, Galante JO, Jacobs JJ, Urban RM. (2015); Corrosion of modular junctions in femoral and acetabular components for hip arthroplasty and its local and systemic effects. Modularity and Tapers in Total Joint Replacement Devices ASTM STP1591 West Conshohocken, PA, USA: ASTM International:410-27.

92. Gilbert JL, Mali S, Urban RM, Silverton CD, Jacobs JJ. (2012); In vivo oxide-induced stress corrosion cracking of Ti-6Al-4V in a neck–stem modular taper: Emergent behavior in a new mechanism of in vivo corrosion. Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part B: Applied Biomaterials.100(2):584-94.

93. Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry. Suplement Report 2014. available <u>http://aoanjrr.sahmri.com</u>.

94. Medical Device Alert: All metal-on-metal hip replacements 2010 [Available from: <u>http://www.jisrf.org/pdfs/mediacl-device-alert.pdf</u>.

95. MHRA. (2012); Medical Device Alert: All metal-on-metal hip replacements: updated advice for follow-up of patients.

96. Metal-on-Metal Hip Implants: The FDA's Activitieds 2011 [Available from: <u>https://www.fda.gov/medical-devices/metal-metal-hip-implants/metal-metal-hip-implants-fdas-activities</u>.

97. Health Canada Issued Important Safety Information on Metal-on-Metal Hip Implant Surgery 2012 [Available from: <u>https://recalls-rappels.canada.ca/en/alert-recall/metal-metal-hip-implants-information-orthopaedic-surgeons-regarding-patient-0</u>. 98. Metal-on-metal hip implants: Information for patients 2017 [Available from:

https://www.tga.gov.au/resources/resource/guidance/metal-metal-hip-implantsinformation-

patients#:~:text=As%20of%201%20July%202012,reassessed%20against%20the%20new%20 requirements.

99. Graves S, De Steiger R, Davidson D, Donnelly W, Rainbird S, Lorimer M, et al. (2017); The use of femoral stems with exchangeable necks in primary total hip arthroplasty increases the rate of revision. The bone & joint journal.99(6):766-73.

100. Jones LC, Tsao AK, Topoleski LT. (2012); Orthopedic implant retrieval and failure analysis. Degradation of Implant Materials:393-447.

101. Hirakawa K, Jacobs JJ, Urban R, Saito T. (2004); Mechanisms of failure of total hip replacements: lessons learned from retrieval studies. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research[®].420:10-7.

102. McGee MA, Howie DW, Costi K, Haynes DR, Wildenauer CI, Pearcy MJ, et al. (2000); Implant retrieval studies of the wear and loosening of prosthetic joints: a review. Wear.241(2):158-65.

103. Bolland B, Culliford D, Langton D, Millington J, Arden N, Latham J. (2011); High failure rates with a large-diameter hybrid metal-on-metal total hip replacement: clinical, radiological and retrieval analysis. The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery British Volume.93(5):608-15.

104. French K, Moore R, Gawel H, Kurtz SM, Kraay MJ, Xie K, et al. (2012); Retrieval analysis of Harris-Galante I and II acetabular liners in situ for more than 10 years. Acta orthopaedica.83(4):366-73.

105. Goldberg JR, Gilbert JL, Jacobs JJ, Bauer TW, Paprosky W, Leurgans S. (2002); A multicenter retrieval study of the taper interfaces of modular hip prostheses. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research[®].401:149-61.

106. Gascoyne TC, Dyrkacz RM, Turgeon TR, Burnell CD, Wyss UP, Brandt JM. (2014); Corrosion on the acetabular liner taper from retrieved modular metal-on-metal total hip replacements. J Arthroplasty.29(10):2049-52.

107. Higgs G, Hanzlik J, MacDonald D, Kane W, Day J, Klein G, et al. Method of characterizing fretting and corrosion at the various taper connections of retrieved modular components from metal-on-metal total hip arthroplasty. Metal-on-metal total hip replacement devices: ASTM International; 2013.

108. Sidaginamale R, Joyce T, Lord J, Jefferson R, Blain P, Nargol A, et al. (2013); Blood metal ion testing is an effective screening tool to identify poorly performing metal-on-metal bearing surfaces. Bone & joint research.2(5):84-95.

109. Metal-on-Metal hip replacements: Metal liner component of the R3 acetabular system manufactured by Smith and Nephew Orthopaedics Ltd 2012 [Available from: https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/ukgwa/20141205150130/http://www.mhra.gov.uk/home/groups/dts-bs/documents/medicaldevicealert/con155790.pdf.

110. Hallab NJ, Messina C, Skipor A, Jacobs JJ. (2004); Differences in the fretting corrosion of metal-metal and ceramic-metal modular junctions of total hip replacements. J Orthop Res.22(2):250-9.

111. Kamali A, Hussain A, Li C, editors. WEAR AND FRICTION OF A MULTI-BEARING ACETABULAR SYSTEM. Orthopaedic Proceedings; 2010: Bone & Joint.

112. Cohen D. (2012); Agency tells surgeons not to use a type of hip implant cup liner because of high revision rates. BMJ: British Medical Journal (Online).344.

113. Dramis A, Clatworthy E, Jones SA, John A. (2014); High failure rate of the R3 metalon-metal total hip arthroplasty. Hip Int.24(5):442-7.

114. Milimonfared R, Oskouei RH, Taylor M, Solomon LB. (2018); An intelligent system for image-based rating of corrosion severity at stem taper of retrieved hip replacement implants. Med Eng Phys.61:13-24.

115. Grosser D, Benveniste S, Bramwell D, Krishnan J. (2013); Early Migration of the R3 Uncemented Acetabular Component: A Prospective 2 Year Radiostereometric Analysis. J Surgery.1(2):5.

116. Lee PY, Evans AR. (2014); Early failure of the Polarstem total hip arthroplasty--can the Australian NJR tell us the full story? J Arthroplasty.29(3):609-11.

117. Hart AJ, Quinn PD, Lali F, Sampson B, Skinner JA, Powell JJ, et al. (2012); Cobalt from metal-on-metal hip replacements may be the clinically relevant active agent responsible for periprosthetic tissue reactions. Acta biomaterialia.8(10):3865-73.

118. Hart AJ, Satchithananda K, Liddle AD, Sabah SA, McRobbie D, Henckel J, et al. (2012); Pseudotumors in association with well-functioning metal-on-metal hip prostheses: a casecontrol study using three-dimensional computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging. J Bone Joint Surg Am.94(4):317-25.

119. Urish KL, Hamlin BR, Plakseychuk AY, Levison TJ, Higgs GB, Kurtz SM, et al. (2017); Trunnion Failure of the Recalled Low Friction Ion Treatment Cobalt Chromium Alloy Femoral Head. Journal of Arthroplasty.32(9):2857-63.

120. Renner L, Schmidt-Braekling T, Faschingbauer M, Boettner F. (2016); Do cobalt and chromium levels predict osteolysis in metal-on-metal total hip arthroplasty? Arch Orthop Traum Su.136(12):1657-62.

121. Laaksonen I, Galea VP, Donahue GS, Matuszak SJ, Muratoglu O, Malchau H. (2018); The Cobalt/Chromium Ratio Provides Similar Diagnostic Value to a Low Cobalt Threshold in Predicting Adverse Local Tissue Reactions in Patients With Metal-on-Metal Hip Arthroplasty. Journal of Arthroplasty.33(9):3020-4.

122. Hothi HS, Berber R, Whittaker RK, Blunn GW, Skinner JA, Hart AJ. (2016); The Relationship Between Cobalt/Chromium Ratios and the High Prevalence of Head-Stem Junction Corrosion in Metal-on-Metal Total Hip Arthroplasty. Journal of Arthroplasty.31(5):1123-7.

123. Hosny HA, Srinivasan SC, Hall MJ, Keenan J, Fekry H. (2017); Achievement Of Primary Stability Using 3D-CT Guided Custom Design Femoral Stems In Patients With Proximal Femoral Deformity : EBRA-FCA Analysis. Acta Orthop Belg.83(4):617-23.

124. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. (2021); The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ.372:n71.

125. Nogier A, Tourabaly I, Ramos-Pascual S, Barreau X, Baraduc E, Saffarini M, et al. (2023); Excellent Clinical Outcomes and Return to Dance of 6 Active, Professional Ballet Dancers Aged Younger Than 40 Years at Total Hip Arthroplasty Through Direct Anterior Approach With a Custom Stem: A Case Report. Clin J Sport Med.33(6):573-8.

126. Asaad A, Hart A, Khoo MM, Ilo K, Schaller G, Black JD, et al. (2015); Frequent femoral neck osteolysis with Birmingham mid-head resection resurfacing arthroplasty in young patients. Clin Orthop Relat Res.473(12):3770-8.

127. Hart AJ, Ilo K, Underwood R, Cann P, Henckel J, Lewis A, et al. (2011); The relationship between the angle of version and rate of wear of retrieved metal-on-metal resurfacings: a prospective, CT-based study. J Bone Joint Surg Br.93(3):315-20.

128. Hart AJ, Matthies A, Henckel J, Ilo K, Skinner J, Noble PC. (2012); Understanding why metal-on-metal hip arthroplasties fail: a comparison between patients with well-functioning and revised birmingham hip resurfacing arthroplasties. AAOS exhibit selection. J Bone Joint Surg Am.94(4):e22.

129. Hart AJ, Muirhead-Allwood S, Porter M, Matthies A, Ilo K, Maggiore P, et al. (2013); Which factors determine the wear rate of large-diameter metal-on-metal hip replacements? Multivariate analysis of two hundred and seventy-six components. J Bone Joint Surg Am.95(8):678-85.

130. Matthies A, Underwood R, Cann P, Ilo K, Nawaz Z, Skinner J, et al. (2011); Retrieval analysis of 240 metal-on-metal hip components, comparing modular total hip replacement with hip resurfacing. J Bone Joint Surg Br.93(3):307-14.

131. Ingham E, Fisher J. (2000); Biological reactions to wear debris in total joint replacement. Proc Inst Mech Eng H.214(1):21-37.

132. Maloney WJ, Smith RL, Castro F, Schurman DJ. (1993); Fibroblast response to metallic debris in vitro. Enzyme induction cell proliferation, and toxicity. J Bone Joint Surg Am.75(6):835-44.

133. Ghadirinejad K, Day CW, Milimonfared R, Taylor M, Solomon LB, Hashemi R. (2023); Fretting Wear and Corrosion-Related Risk Factors in Total Hip Replacement: A Literature Review on Implant Retrieval Studies and National Joint Replacement Registry Reports. Prosthesis.5(3):774-91.

134. Mosier BA, Maynard L, Sotereanos NG, Sewecke JJ. (2016); Progressive cardiomyopathy in a patient with elevated cobalt ion levels and bilateral metal-on-metal hip arthroplasties. Am J Orthop.45(3):E132-E5.

135. Fung ES, Monnot A, Kovochich M, Unice KM, Tvermoes BE, Galbraith D, et al. (2018); Characteristics of cobalt-related cardiomyopathy in metal hip implant patients: an evaluation of 15 published reports. Cardiovascular Toxicology.18(3):206-20.

136. Bradberry S, Wilkinson J, Ferner R. (2014); Systemic toxicity related to metal hip prostheses. Clinical toxicology.52(8):837-47.

137. Tower SS. (2010); Arthroprosthetic cobaltism: neurological and cardiac manifestations in two patients with metal-on-metal arthroplasty: a case report. Jbjs.92(17):2847-51.

138. Jelsma J, Kleinveld H, Rozemuller A, Heyligers I. (2020); Neurology in metal-on-metal hip arthroplasty a case of suspected prosthetic hip-associated cobalt toxicity. Acta Orthopaedica Belgica.86(1).

139. Czekaj J, Ehlinger M, Rahme M, Bonnomet F. (2016); Metallosis and cobalt–chrome intoxication after hip resurfacing arthroplasty. Journal of Orthopaedic Science.21(3):389-94.
140. Bizzotto N, Sandri A, Trivellin G, Magnan B, Micheloni G, Zamò A, et al. (2015); Chromium-induced diffuse dermatitis with lymph node involvement resulting from Langerhans cell histiocytosis after metal-on-metal hip resurfacing. British Journal of Dermatology.172(6):1633-6.

141. Sporer SM, Chalmers PN. (2012); Cutaneous manifestation of metallosis in a metalon-metal total hip arthroplasty after acetabular liner dissociation. The Journal of arthroplasty.27(8):1580. e13-. e16.

142. Massardier V, Catinon M, Trunfio-Sfarghiu A-M, Hubert J, Vincent M. (2020); Metalmetal hip prosthesis and kidney cancer: assumed role of chromium and cobalt overload. The American journal of case reports.21:e923416-1. 143. Wagner P, Olsson H, Ranstam J, Robertsson O, Zheng MH, Lidgren L. (2012); Metalon-metal joint bearings and hematopoetic malignancy: a review. Acta orthopaedica.83(6):553-8.

144. Dransfield K, Addinall K, Bills P. (2021); Comparison and appraisal of techniques for the determination of material loss from tapered orthopaedic surfaces. Wear.478:203903.
145. Sağbaş B, Durakbasa M. (2012); Measurement of wear in orthopedic prosthesis. Acta Physica Polonica A.121.

146. Tuke M, Taylor A, Roques A, Maul C. (2010); 3D linear and volumetric wear measurement on artificial hip joints—Validation of a new methodology. Precision Engineering.34(4):777-83.

147. Kapadia D, Racasan R, Pagani L, Al-Hajjar M, Bills P. (2017); Method for volumetric assessment of edge-wear in ceramic-on-ceramic acetabular liners. Wear.376:236-42.
148. Gascoyne TC, Turgeon TR, Burnell CD. (2018); Retrieval analysis of large-head modular metal-on-metal hip replacements of a single design. The Journal of Arthroplasty.33(6):1945-52.

149. Atrey A, Hart A, Hussain N, Waite J, Shepherd AJ, Young S. (2017); 601 metal-on-metal total hip replacements with 36 mm heads a 5 minimum year follow up: Levels of ARMD remain low despite a comprehensive screening program. J Orthop.14(1):108-14.
150. Umar M, Jahangir N, Malik Q, Kershaw S, Barnes K, Morapudi S. (2018); Long-term results of metal on metal total hip arthroplasty in younger patients (<55yrs). J Orthop.15(2):586-90.

151. Mancino F, Finsterwald MA, Jones CW, Prosser GH, Yates PJ. (2023); Metal-on-Metal Hips: Ten-Year Clinical and Radiographic Outcomes of the ADEPT Metal-on-Metal Hip Resurfacing and Modular Total Hip Arthroplasty. Journal of Clinical Medicine.12(3):889.

152. Wakabayashi H, Hasegawa M, Naito Y, Tone S, Sudo A. (2024); Long-Term Outcome of Metal-on-Metal Total Hip Arthroplasty with Modular Neck Stem. J Clin Med.13(6).

153. Carnovale M, De Meo D, Guarascio G, Martini P, Cera G, Persiani P, et al. (2024);
Mid-Term Outcomes of a Short Modular Neck-Preserving Cementless Hip Stem: A
Retrospective Study With a 6-Year Minimum Follow-Up. Arthroplast Today.27:101387.
154. Solarino G, Vicenti G, Carrozzo M, Ottaviani G, Moretti B, Zagra L. (2021); Modular

neck stems in total hip arthroplasty: current concepts. EFORT Open Rev.6(9):751-8. 155. McLawhorn AS, Buller LT, Blevins JL, Lee YY, Su EP. (2020); What Are the Benefits of Hip Resurfacing in Appropriate Patients? A Retrospective, Propensity Score-Matched Analysis. HSS J.16(Suppl 2):316-26.

156. Quesada MJ, Marker DR, Mont MA. (2008); Metal-on-metal hip resurfacing: advantages and disadvantages. J Arthroplasty.23(7 Suppl):69-73.

157. Krantz N, Miletic B, Migaud H, Girard J. (2012); Hip resurfacing in patients under thirty years old: an attractive option for young and active patients. Int Orthop.36(9):1789-94.

158. Amarasekera HW. (2016); Failure Mechanisms in Hip Resurfacing Arthroplasty. Arthroplasty-A Comprehensive Review.

159. Hart A, Ilo K, Underwood R, Cann P, Henckel J, Lewis A, et al. (2011); The relationship between the angle of version and rate of wear of retrieved metal-on-metal resurfacings: a prospective, CT-based study. The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery British Volume.93(3):315-20.

160. Cheng C-K, Wang X-H, Luan Y-C, Zhang N-Z, Liu B-L, Ma X-Y, et al. (2019); Challenges of pre-clinical testing in orthopedic implant development. Medical Engineering & Physics.72:49-54.

161. Morlock M, Gomez-Barrena E, Wirtz DC, Hart A, Kretzer JP. (2022); Explant analysis and implant registries are both needed to further improve patient safety. EFORT open reviews.7(6):344-8.

162. Al-Hajjar M, Gremillard L, Begand S, Oberbach T, Hans K, Delfosse D, et al. (2019); Combined wear and ageing of ceramic-on-ceramic bearings in total hip replacement under edge loading conditions. J Mech Behav Biomed Mater.98:40-7.

163. Slonaker M, Goswami T. (2004); Wear mechanisms in ceramic hip implants. J Surg Orthop Adv.13(2):94-105.

164. Renner L, Perka C, Melsheimer O, Grimberg A, Jansson V, Steinbruck A. (2021);
Ceramic-on-Ceramic Bearing in Total Hip Arthroplasty Reduces the Risk for Revision for
Periprosthetic Joint Infection Compared to Ceramic-on-Polyethylene: A Matched Analysis of
118,753 Cementless THA Based on the German Arthroplasty Registry. J Clin Med.10(6).
165. Pitto R. (2018); CERAMIC-ON-CERAMIC TOTAL HIP ARTHROPLASTY: LONG-TERM
RESULTS IN A NATIONAL REGISTRY. Orthopaedic Proceedings.100-B(SUPP 5):5-.

166. El D, II, Helal AH, Mansour AMR. (2021); Ten-year survival of ceramic-on-ceramic total hip arthroplasty in patients younger than 60 years: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Orthop Surg Res.16(1):679.

167. de Villiers D, Richards L, Tuke M, Collins S. (2020); Ceramic resurfacing: the future and challenges. Annals of Joint.5.

168. Lin D, Xu J, Weinrauch P, Young DA, De Smet K, Manktelow A, et al. (2024); Two-Year Results of Ceramic-on-Ceramic Hip Resurfacing in an International Multicenter Cohort. J Arthroplasty.

Appendix

Appendix 1: Corrosion of Modular Cup Liners

Hothi HS, Ilo K, Whittaker RK, Eskelinen A, Skinner JA, Hart AJ. *Corrosion of Metal Modular Cup Liners*. J Arthroplasty. 2015 Sep;30(9):1652-6. doi: 10.1016/j.arth.2015.03.022. Epub 2015 Mar 31. PMID: 25890504.

Abstract

Numerous studies have reported on corrosion at the modular head taper, however less is known about the inter- face between the metal shell and liner of modular cups. This study examined the backside of a series of metal modular cup liners of two designs (DePuy Pinnacle and Smith & Nephew R3), retrieved from 67 patients. Visual inspection found evidence of corrosion in virtually all liners, with the engaging rim surface significantly more corroded than the polar regions (P b0.001). EDX confirmed that black surface deposits were chromium rich corrosion debris, while SEM analysis revealed considerable pitting in the vicinity of the black debris. The R3 liners were significantly more corroded that the Pinnacles (P b0.001); this may help to explain the higher revision rates of this design.

Introduction

Modern total hip replacements (THRs) with metal-on-metal (MOM) bearing surfaces have consisted of implants with varying degrees of modularity, offering the surgeon greater flexibility during surgery. For example, the use of modular neck components allows for patient-specific adjustments to be made to features such as leg length and horizontal or vertical femoral offsets [1]. Approximately 50% of all stemmed MOM hips implanted in the UK have involved a modular acetabular cup, usually consisting of a titanium outer shell and a cobalt-chromium articulating liner [2]. Cup modularity is advantageous as it enables optimal component positioning to be achieved and also allows for a well-fixed shell to be retained during revision surgery [3,4].

Whilst the clinical advantages of increased modularity are clear, recent studies have reported evidence of considerable corrosion at component junctions, in particular in that of the femoral head taper [5–7]. Corrosion has been shown to be correlated with material loss at this taper surface [8] and the associated metal ion release is reported to result in local tissue reactions [9]. However the extent of corrosion damage at the interface between the liner and shell of metal modular cups and the clinical significance of this are currently less clear. Higgs et al. [4] reported evidence of scratching and discolouration at rim of the backside of the CoCr liner in a series of 18 cups; considerable pitting and black corrosive debris were also observed at the rim by Gascoyne et al. [10] in approximately 25% of their series of retrievals.

The aim of this study was: (1) to determine, using visual analysis and detailed surface assessment methods, the severity and location of corrosion on the backside of metal liners in a consecutive series of retrieved hips with two different cup designs: DePuy Pinnacle and Smith & Nephew R3 and (2) determine if there were any differences in corrosion between the two designs.

Methods

This was a retrieval study of the first 67 cobalt-chromium (CoCr) alloy modular cup liners collected at our implant retrieval centre that met our inclusion criteria. The liners were from two different manufacturers and all had been coupled with titanium (Ti) alloy shells. All of the hips had a metal-on-metal articulation and we required that the metal cup liner was loose from the titanium shell (or could be separated with- out damaging the surfaces) so that its backside could be assessed. The retrieved hips consisted of the DePuy Pinnacle cup (n = 35) and the Smith & Nephew R3 cup (n = 32).

The Pinnacles were retrieved from 17 male and 18 female patients with a median age of 61 years (37-77) at primary surgery and a median time to revision of 59 months (10-102). The median head size was 36 mm (36-40) and the median pre-revision whole blood cobalt and chromium levels were 6.22 ppb (0.6-130) and 4.65 ppb (0.6-42.4) respectively. The median Co/Cr ratio was 1.32 (0.27-5.21). The reason for revision for these implants, as defined by the revising surgeon, was unexplained pain (n = 33) and infection (n = 2).

The R3s were retrieved from 13 male and 19 female patients with a median age of 63 years (47–72) at primary surgery and a median time to revision of 56 months (28–72). The median head size was 44 mm (38–50) and the median pre-revision whole blood cobalt and chromium

levels were 13.7 ppb (1.5–116) and 4.8 ppb (1.5–45.5) respectively. The median Co/Cr ratio was 2.74 (0.64–6.83). The reason for revision for these implants, as defined by the revision surgeon, was unexplained pain (n = 31) and femoral loosening (n = 1).

Table 1 summarises the key patient and implant data. The study design of the current work issummarised in Figure 1.

	Pinnacle cups	R3 cups	P value	Significant Difference
Gender (male: female)	17:18)	13:19	0.625	No
Age at primary surgery	61 (35-77)	63 (47-72)	0.061	No
Time to revision	59 (10-102)	56 (28-72)	0.362	No
Head size	26 (36-40)	44 (38-50)	<0.001	Yes
Whole blood Co (ppb)	6.22 (0.6-130)	13.7 (1.5-116)	0.003	Yes
Whole blood Cr (ppb)	4.65 (0.6-42.4)	4.8 (1.5-45.5)	0.439	No
Co/Cr ratio	1.32 (0.27-5.21)	2.74 (0.64-6.83)	0.001	Yes

Table 1: Implant and patient data showing median (range) values with p-values indicating the significance of differences between the parameters.



Figure 1: Summary of study design
Visual Assessment of Corrosion

Macroscopic and stereomicroscopic examinations of the backside of all 67 metal liners were performed independently by two experienced observers (A and B) to assess the presence and severity of surface corrosion. A scoring scale of 1 (no corrosion) to 4 (severe corrosion), as defined by Goldberg et al. [11], was used to quantify corrosion, which was identified as discoloured or dull regions or areas with evidence of pitting, etching or black debris. This scoring method was originally developed for the inspection of femoral head tapers however the grading criteria are applicable for the cup liner backside. Scores were assigned separately to the polar and equatorial regions of the liner, Fig. 2, and overall scores were determined following assessment of the surface as a whole. A Leica M50 microscope [Leica Microsystems, Germany] at up to ×40 magnification was used to assist in examinations.



Figure 2: Polar and equatorial/rim regions of the backside of the cup liner

The severity of corrosion at the taper surfaces of the corresponding femoral heads was also determined by a single examiner using the method defined by Goldberg et al. [11].

Scanning Electron Microscopy

The liners were viewed in a JEOL JSM (Tokyo, Japan) scanning electron microscope (SEM) using secondary electron detection at an accelerating voltage of 20 KV. This was used to further

examine corroded regions identified macroscopically and microscopically and compare with visually pristine areas on the liners. The elemental composition of corrosion deposits visually identified as black debris was then analysed using energy-dispersive X-ray spectroscopy (EDX) within the SEM system.

Statistical Analysis

Cohen's weighted Kappa statistic (κ) was used to assess the inter-observer reproducibility of the corrosion scores as determined by the two independent examiners, where $\kappa \le 0 = \text{poor}$, 0.01-0.20 = slight, 0.21-0.40 = fair, 0.41-0.60 = moderate, 0.61-0.80 = substantial, 0.81-1 = almost perfect [12].

The Mann–Whitney U test was used to determine if there was a significant difference between the corrosion scores of: (1) the polar and equatorial regions of both liner designs and (2) the overall corrosion scores for the two designs.

Non-parametric Spearman correlation tests were used to determine the significance of any associations between the liner corrosion scores and (1) femoral head size (R3 only), (2) Co/Cr ratio and (3) head taper corrosion score. Associations with head size for the Pinnacle hips were not considered as virtually all heads were 36 mm.

Kruskal–Wallis non-parametric ANOVA tests were used to determine the presence of any statistically significant differences between the overall corrosion scores of the two designs (separately) in relation to (1) time to revision, (2) patient age at primary surgery, (3) Co and Cr blood metal ion levels, (4) Co/Cr ratios. Post-hoc analysis was then performed using Mann–Whitney tests to identify which particular differences were significant.

Results

The inter-observer reproducibility of the corrosion scores determined by the two examiners was found to be almost perfect ($\kappa = 0.856$) indicating that this is a reliable method of visual inspection.

Visual Assessment of Corrosion



Figure 3: (A) Corrosion scores of for the Pinnacle cup. (B) Corrosion scores for the R3 cup

Corrosion scores by examiner A for the Pinnacle and R3 cup liners are illustrated in **Figure 3**. The majority of the Pinnacle liners showed mild to moderate corrosion overall. Mild or no corrosion was seen at the polar regions, however at the equatorial region 46% (n=16) of the Pinnacle liners showed evidence of moderate to severe corrosion. Conversely, 94% (n=30) of the R3 liners exhibited mild or no corrosion at the pole whereas 79% (n=25) of liners were moderately or severely corroded at the equator. The corrosion scores overall of the R3 liners were significantly greater than of the Pinnacle liners (P<0.001). With both designs there was significantly greater corrosion scores at the equator of liners is illustrated in **Figure 4**.



Figure 4: Examples of the four corrosion scores observed at the liner rim

There were distinct differences between the corrosion patterns between the Pinnacle and the R3 liners (**Figure 5**).



Figure 5: Differences in corrosion patterns observed between the (A) Pinnacle & (B) R3 Liners

The Pinnacle liners exhibited a clear band of corrosion running circumferentially close to the rim. Whereas the R3 liners consisted of a similar band with a pattern of peaks and troughs. This was consistent with the design on the inner surface of the modular shell.

There was no correlation between the corrosion scores of the liner and head size (R3 only, p =0.735). There was also no correlation between corrosion scores and Co/Cr for the two designs (Pinnacle p=0,934 and R3 p=0.251), head taper corrosion for the two designs (Pinnacle p=0.360 and R3 p=0.314). There was also no significant difference between the corrosion scores of the R3 liners in relation to time to revision (p=0.969), patient age (p=0.869), Co levels (p=0.188), Cr levels (p=0.081), and Co/Cr ratios (p=0.761). Regarding the Pinnacle liners, there was an insufficient number of hips (n=1) in two of the corrosion score categories (score 1 and 4). Therefore, a Kruskal-Wallis test was not possible to be performed. Hence, the Pinnacle liners scores were separated into two groups: (1) no and mild corrosion (scores 1 and 2) and [193] moderate and severe corrosion (scores 3 & 4). The Mann-Whitney tests were used and no significant difference between the corrosion scores of the Pinnacle liner and time to revision (P = 0.418), patient age (P = 0.978), Co levels (P = 0.989), Cr levels (P = 0.801) and Co/Cr ratios (P = 0.269).

Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

Further inspection with SEM illustrated that both designs exhibited evidence of third-body scratching, orientated circumferentially at the polar regions of both designs (**Figure 6A**). There was a distinct margin between the corroded regions of the equator and the uncorroded regions.

The corroded areas illustrated substantial black debris and pitting (**Figure 6B**). The black deposits were shown to be Cr rich corrosion debris on EDX analysis (**Figure 7**).



Figure 6: SEM images illustrating (A) third body scratching at the polar region of a liner (B) substantial pitting observed in the corroded regions



Figure 7: EDX analysis revealing corrosion deposits as being rich in Cr

Discussion

A number of previous clinical and retrieval studies have presented clear evidence implicating corrosion as mechanism of material loss at the surfaces of metal hip implants. However, the

size of the clinical impact of corrosion in relation to implant failure is unclear. Visual evidence of corrosion has been observed at the stem-cement interface of cemented stems [13,14], the modular neck-stem junction [9,15], the modular stem-head junction [7,11] and the interface between the shell and liner of modular cups. The current study reports retrieval findings of the backside of the modular cup liner in the largest series of retrieved modular cups to date; we found very high agreement between the visual grading of components by two independent examiners, suggesting this is a reliable method of assessment.

We have shown that corrosion to some extent occurred in all liners at the point of engagement between the liner and shell and was likely due to a mechanism of galvanic corrosion as a result of the pairing of dis- similar alloys (CoCr and Ti). We observed considerable pitting in regions that were macroscopically identified as being corroded and black sur- face deposits were confirmed as being rich in Cr ions with comparatively less evidence of Co. The R3 liners were significantly more corroded than the Pinnacle liners; this may help explain why the median Co/Cr ratio of the R3 hips (2.74) was over twice that of the Pinnacles (1.32); it is acknowledged however that other sources of corrosion such as the femoral head taper junction may contribute to this also. The bands of corrosion observed are consistent with the surface areas of engagement between the shell and liner. The Pinnacle liner and shell have a contact region that is uniformly circumferential and the resulting area of engagement is larger than that which occurs between the liner and shell of the R3. The R3 shell has a series of surface depressions that run circumferentially across the inside of the component; these have been designed to be fitted with a polyethylene liner which has a series of corresponding tabs to prevent rotational movement of the component. The metal liner of the R3 does not have these tabs but the metal shell retains the surface depressions, resulting in a reduced area of contact between the shell and liner, leading to greater corrosion. Furthermore, the space between the shell and the liner depressions creates an environment for fluid ingress (originating from the rim of the cup and also the opening of the screw holes), potentially leading to crevice corrosion and therefore accelerating the corrosion process. The influence of surface area on corrosion at the shell-liner junction is synonymous with the findings re- ported for the femoral stem-head junctions; it has previously been shown that short and rough stem trunnions, which have a lower surface contact area with the head taper than long, smooth trunnions, lead to greater corrosion and material loss at this junction [16,17].

The polar regions of the liner backside of both designs are not intended to be engaged with the shells however our SEM analysis revealed evidence of third body scratching in this region. This suggests that third body material is likely to have entered this interface via the screw holes in the shells, which we found had not been covered during implantation of the components. It is speculated that this passage of material entry will have contributed to the corrosion processes therefore we suggest that screw holes that are not utilised are covered during surgery.

Our finding of considerable corrosion at the engaged region of the backside of these liners presents evidence of an additional source of metal ions that may contribute to implant failure; the clinical impact of debris from this junction is however not clear. Our observations are in agreement with those reported by Gascoyne et al. [10], who examined 8 cases, revealing clear evidence of corrosion at the shell-liner junction. The significantly greater corrosion observed on the surfaces of the R3 liners than the Pinnacles may help explain the high revision rates that were observed in this design, ultimately leading to its recall; the Pinnacle implants have a reported failure rate of 8.45% at 7 years [18], whilst a recent study has reported failure rates of 24% for R3 MOM bearings at their centre [19].

Limitations

As with all retrieval work, this study included only hips that had failed and consequently required revision. We are not able to compare our retrieval findings with the surface changes that occur in the modular cup of well-functioning hips.

Future Work

Future work may involve quantifying the volume of material lost from the backside of the liner and determining to what extent this may have been due to a mechanism of corrosion. This may aid in under- standing the clinical impact of surface damage at this junction. Previous studies [20,21] have highlighted the susceptibility of thin titanium outer shells to deforming during implantation; the effect of this deformation on the integrity of the shell-liner junction is unclear and warrants future investigation.

Conclusion

We have used the largest number of retrieved modular cups to date to present evidence of corrosion at the backside of the cup liner. We have shown that corrosion occurs primarily at

the equator of the liner and the severity of corrosion appears to be design dependent; the evidence of significantly greater corrosion of the R3 liners may suggest a potential reason for the high failure rates, ultimately leading to the withdrawal of this device from the market.

References

1. Krishnan H, Krishnan SP, Blunn G, et al. Modular neck femoral stems. Bone Joint J 2013;95-B(8):1011.

2. Smith AJ, Dieppe P, Vernon K, et al. Failure rates of stemmed metal-on-metal hip replacements: analysis of data from the National Joint Registry of England and Wales. Lancet 2012;379(9822):1199.

3. Mesko JW. Acute liner disassociation of a Pinnacle acetabular component. J Arthroplasty 2009;24(5):815.

4. Higgs G, Kurtz S, Hanzlik J, et al. Retrieval analysis of metal-on-metal hip prostheses: characterising fretting and corrosion at modular interfaces. Bone Joint J 2013;95- B(Suppl 15):108.

5. Meyer H, Mueller T, Goldau G, et al. Corrosion at the cone/taper interface leads to failure of large-diameter metal-on-metal total hip arthroplasties. Clin Orthop 2012;470:3101.

6. Matthies AK, Racasan R, Bills PJ, et al. Corrosion is the main mechanism of material loss at the taper junction of large head metal on metal hip replacements. British Orthopaedic Society Annual Meeting, September 24th–25th 2012, London, UK; 2012.

7. Bishop N, Witt F, Pourzal R, et al. Wear patterns of taper connections in retrieved large diameter metal-on-metal bearings. J Orthop Res 2013;31(7):1116.

8. Hothi HS, Matthies AK, Berber R, et al. The reliability of a scoring system for corrosion and fretting, and its relationship to material loss of tapered, modular junctions of re- trieved hip implant. J Arthroplasty 2014;29(6):1313.

9. Cooper HJ, Urban RM, Wixson RL, et al. Adverse local tissue reaction arising from corrosion at the femoral neck-body junction in a dual-taper stem with a cobalt- chromium modular neck. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2013;95:865.

10. Gascoyne TC, Dyrkacz RM, Turgeon TR, et al. Corrosion on the acetabular liner taper from retrieved modular metal-on-metal total hip replacements. J Arthroplast 2014; 29(10):2049.

11. Goldberg JR, Gilbert JL, Jacobs JJ, et al. A multicentre retrieval study of the taper interfaces of modular hip prostheses. Clin Orthop 2002;401:149.

12. Landis JR, Koch GG. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. Biometrics 1977;33:159.

13. Thomas SR, Shukla D, Latham PD. Corrosion of cemented titanium femoral stems. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2004;86-B:974.

14. Bryant M, Ward M, Farrar R, et al. Failure analysis of cemented metal-on-metal total hip replacements from a single centre cohort. Wear 2013;2013:226.

15. Molloy DO, Munir S, Jack CM, et al. Fretting and corrosion in modular-neck total hip arthroplasty femoral stems. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2014;96(6):488.

16. Panagiotidou A, Meswania J, Hua J, et al. Enhanced wear and corrosion in modular tapers in total hip replacement is associated with the contact area and surface topogra- phy. J Orthop Res 2013;31(12):2031.

17. Langton D, Nargol A, Sayginer O, et al. Taper failure: wear is the corrosion? Presented at the Annual Meeting of the British Hip Society, March 5–7, Exeter, UK; 2014.

18. National Joint Registry for England and Wales (NJR) 10th Annual Report;

2013[Available at www.njrcentre.org.uk].

19. Dramis A, Clatworthy E, Jones SA, et al. High failure rate of the R3 metal-on-metal total hip arthroplasty. Hip Int 2014;24(5):442.

20. Markel D, Day J, Siskey R, et al. Deformation of metal-backed acetabular components and the impact of liner thickness in a cadaveric model. Int Orthop 2011;35:1131. 21. Squire M, Griffin WL, Mason B, et al. Acetabular component deformation with press-fit fixation. J Arthroplast 2006;21(6):72.

Appendix 2: Fretting And Corrosion Between A Metal Shell And Metal Liner May Explain The High Rate Of Failure Of R3 Modular Metal On Metal Hips

Ilo KC, Derby EJ, Whittaker RK, Blunn GW, Skinner JA, Hart AJ. Fretting and *Corrosion Between a Metal Shell and Metal Liner May Explain the High Rate of Failure of R3 Modular Metal-on-Metal Hips*. J Arthroplasty. 2017 May;32(5):1679-1683. doi: 10.1016/j.arth.2016.12.024. Epub 2016 Dec 22. PMID: 28159422.

Abstract

Background: The R3 acetabular system used with its metal liner has higher revision rates when compared to its ceramic and polyethylene liner. In June 2012, the medical and healthcare products regulatory agency issued an alert regarding the metal liner of the R3 acetabular system.

Methods: Six retrieved R3 acetabular systems with metal liners underwent detailed visual analysis using macroscopic and microscopic techniques.

Results: Visual analysis discovered corrosion on the backside of the metal liners. There was a distinct border to the areas of corrosion that conformed to antirotation tab insertions on the inner surface of the acetabular shell, which are for the polyethylene liner. Scanning electron microscopy indicated evidence of crevice corrosion, and energy-dispersive X-ray analysis confirmed corrosion debris rich in titanium.

Conclusion: The high failure rate of the metal liner option of the R3 acetabular system may be attributed to corrosion on the backside of the liner which appear to result from geometry and design characteristics of the acetabular shell.

Introduction

Modularity of total hip arthroplasty (THA) was developed to give more flexibility to the surgeon intraoperatively to better accommodate patient geometry as well as potentially allowing easier revision surgery in the future. Modular acetabular components have allowed the use of a metallic shell that can be coupled with different liner materials. This has permitted further choice dependent on cases and functional requirement [1].

The R3 acetabular system (Smith and Nephew, Memphis, TN) contains an uncemented modular hemispherical titanium shell, which was first released in Europe and Australia in 2007.

For primary fixation, it uses a porous coating with the option of 3-hole shell for adjuvant screw fixation. The R3 acetabular system initially was available with three different liner options: polyethylene, metal, and ceramic. The metal option for the R3 is high carbide cobalt-chromium in the as-cast microstructural condition. However, the metal liner was subsequently recalled on June 1, 2012, by Smith and Nephew, and on June 25, 2012, the medical and healthcare products regulatory agency issued a medical device alert regarding the metal liner component of the R3 acetabular system, advising to stop its use and increase surveillance of these implants.

In this study, we aim at understanding the failure mechanisms of the R3 modular acetabular system with its metal liner through analysis of retrievals.

Methods

This was a retrospective study performed at a national implant retrieval centre. We investigated all failed R3 modular acetabular systems, which consisted of a metal liner collected from July 2009 to July 2014. Six implants from different hospitals were collected. Pre-revision cobalt and chromium blood ion levels were collected alongside relevant patient demographic and radiographic data.

Before analysis, the implants were cleaned in a cleaning solution consisting of 10% Decon 90 and deionized water. The implants were then placed in an ultrasound-cleaning machine for a period of 15 minutes, then rinsed with deionized water to remove loose debris, and then left to dry. The components of each implant were then visually analysed macroscopically and microscopically. A Leica M50 Stereomicroscope at 40 magnification was used to examine all areas of the acetabular shell and metal liner to identify any changes that may have occurred on their surfaces. Changes to the surface of hip implants have previously been described by Mckellop et al. [2]. Evidence of corrosion and fretting was noted and their location described in relation to their proximity to its pole or equator. Severity of corrosion was not assessed due to the subjectivity of its qualitative measurement.

For further detailed analysis, a scanning electron microscope (SEM, Joel, JSM 5500, Tokyo, Japan) was used to perform detailed microscopic analysis of areas of interest highlighted from the microscopic inspection, thus enabling identification of microscopic changes such as pitting

and fretting scars. Energy-dispersive X-ray spectroscopy was used to chemically characterize any evidence of corrosive debris.

Results

Clinical data for the retrieved R3 acetabular systems are shown in **Table 1**. Pre-revision magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans were performed for five implants. All showed evidence of adverse reactions ranging from fluid collections to soft tissue masses. The mean patient age was 63 (range 56-67) at time of implantation and they were retrieved after a mean of 47 months (range 28-67). All except one patient had both raised Co (median 9, range 5.66 – 27.7) and Cr (median 8.1, range 5.6 – 43.4) blood metal ions.

Implant no	Gender	Age (years)	Head size (mm)	Co (ppb)	Cr (ppb)	Time in situ (months)	Reason for revision	MRI result
1	Female	65	40	8.1	23.4	41	Aseptic loosening of cup	Fluid collection
2	Female	56	46	7.8	8.9	28	Aseptic loosening of cup	Fluid collection
3	Male	60	42	5.6	5.6	49	Unexplained pain	Fluid collection
4	Male	60	48	43.4	27.7	33	High metal ions	Soft tissue mass
5	Female	59	44	-	-	Unknown	Unexplained pain	Soft tissue mass
6	Female	67	40	14.0	9.0	67	Unexplained pain	-

 Table 1: Implant and patient data of retrieved R3 acetabular systems

Visual analysis of each acetabular shell showed a circumferential band of debris on the inner surface, below the hard-bearing taper locking mechanism. The backside of the R3 metal liners illustrated evidence of surface damage and black debris in the corresponding area. The areas of corrosion were clearly demarcated into a 'castle parapet' shape (**Figure 1**). These areas of

corrosion were found circumferentially at the equator of the metal liner. SEM micrographs of the backside of the liner illustrated evidence of pitting within the areas of corrosion and confirmed that the corrosive damage was clearly within the boundaries of the 'castle parapet' shape (**Figure 2**). EDX confirmed corrosive debris, rich in Ti (**Figure 3**).



Figure 1: Photographs of 6 retrieved metal liners used in the R3 acetabular system illustrating a distinctive pattern of corrosion on the backside of the liners



Figure 2: (A) Scanning electron microscopy image [x70] illustrating extensive pitting in areas of corrosion on the backside of the metal liner. (B) Scanning electron microscopy image [x70] illustrating a clear demarcation between the corroded [right of image] and non-corroded areas [left of image]



Figure 3: Energy dispersive X-ray spectroscopy of corrosive debris on the backside of the metal liner showing Ti rich deposits

Discussion

This study has shown a potential new mechanism of failure that affects the backside of the R3 acetabular system metal liners. Through detailed visual analysis, this study has identified the presence of corrosion on the backside of the metal liner, which appears to be clearly demarcated around the equator of the metal liner. Furthermore, the corrosion observed had a pattern correlating with the inner surface of the acetabular shell. The "castle parapet" outline of the areas of corrosion conforms with the grooved areas of the acetabular shell where the polyethylene liner antirotation tabs insert (Fig. 4). These results are important as they may help explain the high failure rates seen with the metal liner option of the R3 acetabular device and its subsequent recall. Recall of R3 metal liners was due to their association with a higher-thannormal failure rate. UK national joint registry data found a revision rate of 6.3% at 4 years, compared to 2.9% revision rate for all primary THA [194]. Similar results were found in the Australian joint registry, with 2.48 revisions per 100 observation years for the R3 metal liner, compared to 0.79 for all primary THAs [4]. Unpublished implant data from the national joint registries, which are available to manufactures, reported no dominant cause of failure according to Smith and Nephew, but there has been 1 study which has reported a failure rate of 24% due to adverse local tissue reactions [5]. However, the R3 acetabular cup used with polyethylene or ceramic liners ranks third most common acetabular component inserted in Australia [4], and Lee and Evans [6] found a cumulative revision rate of 0.15% for the R3 system when used with ceramic or highly cross-linked polyethylene in 646 patients from the Australian joint registry.



Figure 4: Photograph (100mm lens) of the R3 acetabular shell highlighting the insert for the polyethylene liner anti-rotation tabs (arrows)

There are a limited number of other studies that have investigated the R3 acetabular system. A radiostereometric analysis study by Grosser et al. of 14 patients who had undergone implantation of the R3 modular cup found proximal migration of 0.39 mm greater than the proposed safe level of 0.2 mm [7]. This result put the R3 system in the "at-risk range," albeit at the lower end. Labek et al. [8] analysed datasets from 3 different countries regarding the outcome of the cementless tapered SL stem. This study showed that the combination with the R3 acetabular system showed a higher revision rate when compared with another more frequently used cup. However, there are no published studies investigating the cause of the increased failure rate of the R3 modular cup with a metal liner that led to its recall. In the study by Lee et al. which reported failures due to radiographic and histologic confirmation of adverse local tissue reactions, there was no analysis of retrieved components. All of the patients who underwent a pre-revision magnetic resonance imaging in this study showed evidence of adverse local tissue reactions; however, we cannot conclude that this was directly caused by corrosion at the backside of the metal liner, as metal debris can occur from the bearing and other modular surfaces. However, damage to the backside of a metal liner will increase the amount of metal debris, which previous studies report that corrosion at taper junctions of THA has resulted in extensive soft tissue damage [9-15].

The corrosion on the backside of the retrieved metal liners in this study appears to have a clear pattern. Micrographs highlighted that there was a clear border as to which areas were corroded. These areas are exactly matched to corresponding areas on the inner surface of the shell,

illustrating that the geometry of the R3 acetabular shell does not fully conform to the metal liner. The R3 polyethylene liner is different to the ceramic and metal liners as it has antirotational tabs to prevent torque and allow a lock fit with the grooves on the acetabular shell. The insertions for the poly- ethylene tabs are visible on the inner surface of the R3 acetabular shell (Fig. 4). The metal liner does not have antirotation tabs, therefore having intermittent areas of contact between the shell and liner at its equator. Where there is close contact between 2 different metals, there is potential for corrosion. The acetabular shell is constructed from titanium, whereas the liner is constructed from a cobalt-chromium alloy. The mixing of different metals permits galvanic corrosion, and studies have shown that there is increased damage at taper junctions in mixed alloy implants [16-20]. When a metal liner is used in the R3 acetabular system, due to the antirotational tabs insertions on the equator of the shell it can permit joint fluid and debris to infiltrate the crevices between the liner and shell. This can cause an exacerbation of corrosion at this taper junction.

When a metal liner is used in the R3 acetabular system, there are areas between the grooves on the shell and the backside of the liner that are in close contact. This area of close contact between the dissimilar metals can create a crevice and a subsequent galvanic environment. SEM imaging showed evidence of pitting within areas of corrosion, which is suggestive of crevice corrosion. Differences in tolerances and also micromotion can exacerbate the potential for corrosion in this area. The presence of screw holes and decreased conformity between the liner and shell interface can permit fluid and debris into crevices. Previous studies have shown that fluid within a crevice can cause ion exchange and prevent a friction fit, increasing corrosion [21,22].

Due to the small number of retrievals in this study, we cannot conclude that backside corrosion occurs with all the metal liners of the R3 acetabular system. However, the clear corrosive patterning found during this retrieval study appears to be linked to the implant design and metallurgy. All R3 acetabular shells accommodate for the polyethylene inserts with the antirotational tabs. As all retrievals showed the same pattern of liner damage, this suggests that the metal liner may not be a suitable option for the R3 acetabular system. This problem ideally should have been discovered during in vitro testing. The results of this study suggest that through increasing implant adjustability, the R3 acetabular system long-term success could be compromised, as the shell may not be suited for its metal liner. Although larger studies are

needed to confirm our results, we suggest that a testing standard for modular cups should be developed to reduce potential future issues like this occurring.

Backside corrosion can potentially arise with any acetabular system that contains a liner with metal on its backside. Therefore, acetabular systems with metal-backed ceramic liners and modular dual-mobility components may also be susceptible to this issue, in the long term. Further research is required to understand the significance of the backside liner corrosion. However, as an extra source of metal debris, close monitoring for evidence of metallosis and adverse tissue reactions is essential as advised by the medical and healthcare products regulatory agency for all metal-on-metal implants. Further information is required as to whether all acetabular systems with metal-backed liners, regardless of bearing surface, should be monitored.

Limitations

This study has analysed a small number of retrieved R3 com- ponents; therefore, the results may not be representative all R3

components with a metal liner. Also, we do not know whether the corrosion at the backside of the metal liner was a direct cause of failure; however, this is an undesirable outcome. Further analysis is required to investigate the significance of corrosion of the backside of the metal liner and whether any patients or surgical factors contributed to its failure.

Conclusion

This study has shown that the issue regarding the R3 acetabular system and its metal liner is due to the geometry of the inner surface of the shell. While allowing for antirotational tabs of the polyethylene liner, this appears to permit corrosion between the metal liner and shell, leading to corrosive damage of the backside of the liner. The modular design of the R3 acetabular system is not suited for the metal liner, and future designs of modular acetabular systems should take these findings into account.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful for the support of Gwynneth Lloyd and Charlotte Page for their coordination of the retrieval centre. Two authors received funding from the British Orthopaedic Association

through an industry consortium of nine manufacturers: DePuy International Ltd (Leeds, UK), Zimmer GmbH (Winterthur, Switzerland), Smith & Nephew UK Ltd (Warwick, UK), Biomet UK Ltd (Bridgend, South Wales, UK), JRI Ltd (London, UK), Finsbury Orthopaedics Ltd (Leatherhead, UK), Corin Group PLC (Cirencester, UK), Mathys Orthopaedics Ltd (Alton, UK), and Stryker UK Ltd (Newbury, UK).

References

1. Eingartner C. Current trends in total hip arthroplasty. Ortop Traumatol Rehabil 2007;9(1):8.

2. McKellop HA. The lexicon of polyethylene wear in artificial joints. Biomaterials 2007;28(34):5049.

3. National Joint Registry for England and Wales. 9th Annual Report. http://www. njrcentre.org.uk/njrcentre/Portals/0/Documents/England/Reports/9th_annual_ report/NJR% 209th% 20Annual% 20Report% 202012.pdf; 2012.

4. The Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry. Annual Report 2012. https://aoanjrr.sahmri.com/documents/10180/60142/

Annual%20Report%202012?version1/41.3&t1/41361226543157; 2012.

5. Dramis A, Clatworthy E, Jones SA, et al. High failure rate of the R3 metal-on- metal total hip arthroplasty. Hip Int 2014;24(5):442.

6. Lee PY, Evans AR. Early failure of the Polarstem total hip arthroplasty can the Australian NJR tell us the full story? J Arthroplasty 2014;29(3):609.

7. Grosser D, Benveniste S, Bramwell D, et al. Early migration of the R3 unce-mented acetabular component: a prospective 2 year radiostereometric analysis. J Surg 2013;1(2):5. 8. Labek G, Kovac S, Levasic V, et al. The outcome of the cementless tapered SL- Plus stem: an analysis of arthroplasty register data. Int Orthop 2012;36(6):1149. 9. Pfirrmann CW, Notzli HP, Dora C, et al. Abductor tendons and muscles assessed at MR imaging after total hip arthroplasty in asymptomatic and symptomatic

patients. Radiology 2005;235(3):969.

10. Kretzer JP, Jakubowitz E, Krachler M, et al. Metal release and corrosion effects of modular neck total hip arthroplasty. Int Orthop 2009;33(6):1531.

11. Hsu AR, Gross CE, Levine BR. Pseudotumor from modular neck corrosion after ceramicon-polyethylene total hip arthroplasty. Am J Orthop

2012;41(9):422.

12. Gill IP, Webb J, Sloan K, et al. Corrosion at the neck-stem junction as a cause of metal ion release and pseudotumour formation. J Bone Joint Surg Br 2012;94(7):895.

13. Cooper HJ, Della Valle CJ, Berger RA, et al. Corrosion at the head-neck taper as a cause for adverse local tissue reactions after total hip arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2012;94(18):1655.

14. Werner SD, Bono JV, Nandi S, et al. Adverse tissue reactions in modular exchangeable neck implants: a report of two cases. J Arthroplasty 2013;28(3): 543.e13.

15. Cooper HJ, Urban RM, Wixson RL, et al. Adverse local tissue reaction arising from corrosion at the femoral neck-body junction in a dual-taper stem with a cobalt-chromium modular neck. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2013;95(10):865.

16. Cook SD, Barrack RL, Clemow AJ. Corrosion and wear at the modular interface of

uncemented femoral stems. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1994;76(1):68.

17. Collier JP, Surprenant VA, Jensen RE, et al. Corrosion at the interface of cobaltalloy heads on titanium-alloy stems. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1991;(271):305. 18. Collier JP, Surprenant VA, Jensen RE, et al. Corrosion between the components

of modular femoral hip prostheses. J Bone Joint Surg Br 1992;74(4):511.

19. Gilbert JL, Buckley CA, Jacobs JJ. In vivo corrosion of modular hip prosthesis components in mixed and similar metal combinations. The effect of crevice,

stress, motion, and alloy coupling. J Biomed Mater Res 1993;27(12):1533.

20. Goldberg JR, Gilbert JL, Jacobs JJ, et al. A multicenter retrieval study of the taper interfaces of modular hip prostheses. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2002;(401):149.

21. Gilbert JL, Mehta M, Pinder B. Fretting crevice corrosion of stainless steel stem-CoCr femoral head connections: comparisons of materials, initial moisture, and

offset length. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2009;88(1):162.

22. Patel A, Bliss J, Calfee RP, et al. Modular femoral stem-sleeve junction failure after primary total hip arthroplasty. J Arthroplasty 2009;24(7):1143.e1.

Appendix 3: Metal-On-Metal Total Hip Arthroplasty: Does Increasing Modularity Effect Clinical Outcome?

Ilo KC, Hothi HS, Skinner JA, Hart AJ. *Metal-on-metal total hip arthroplasty: does increasing modularity affect clinical outcome?* Hip Int. 2022 Sep;32(5):677-684. doi: 10.1177/1120700020979275. Epub 2020 Dec 16. PMID: 33322929.

Abstract

Background: Modularity of metal-on-metal (MoM) implants has come under scrutiny due to concerns regarding additional sources of metal debris. This study is a retrieval analysis of implants from the same manufacturer with the same MoM bearing surface. The difference between the implants was presence or absence of modular junctions.

Methods: This is a retrospective study of 31 retrieved implants from 31 patients who received a Conserve Wright Medical MoM hip prosthesis. The 31 implants consisted of 16 resurfacings and 15 implants with modular junctions; 4 conventional THAs and 11 modular-neck THAs.

Results: 43% of pre-revision MRI scans performed on resurfacing implants and 91% performed on the modular implants illustrated evidence of an adverse local tissue reaction. There was no difference in pre-revision blood metal ion levels or bearing surface wear between the resurfacings and modular implants. The neck-head tapers of the modular group showed low levels of material loss. However, the neck-stem tapers showed increased severity of corrosion and material loss

Conclusions: The modular implants had an increased incidence of adverse local tissue reaction. This could be related to the presence of modular junctions, particular the neck-stem junction which showed increased susceptibly to corrosion

Introduction

Modular implants were introduced to improve flexibility and restoration of individual biomechanics [1,2]. High failure rates have led to recalls of certain designs [3]. Dual-modular femoral stems such as the ABG2 and Rejuvenate (Stryker, Mahwah, NJ, USA) were recalled in July 2012 as a result of high revision rates. A PROFEMUR (Wright Medical Group Inc, Arlington, TN, USA) modular neck device; the PROFEMUR Neck Varus/Valgus cobalt

chromium eight degree, was recalled in August 2015 due to unexpected rates of fracture. Although increasing modularity did initially appear attractive, higher than expected failure rates are alarming. In this study, we analysed failed implants from the same manufacturer with the same bearing surface. The only difference between them was the absence or presence of modular junctions. Our aim was to investigate whether implant function and survival was affected by the presence of modular junctions.

Methods

This is a retrospective study of 31 retrieved implants from 31 patients who had received a Conserve Wright Medical (Memphis, TN, USA) metal-on-metal (MoM) hip prosthesis. The bearing surface materials are the same for the different designs and are manufactured from high carbon cast cobalt chrome alloy. The Conserve Wright MoM hip designs are resurfacings, conventional THAs and modular-neck THAs (Figure 1). The THA designs have a range of different femoral stem choices.

Implants were collected at a national MoM implant retrieval centre (Table 1). The patient cohort included 13 men and 18 women with an average of 67 (range 35–79) years at the index procedure. The 31 implants consisted of 16 resurfacings and 15 implants with modular junctions; 4 conventional THAs and 11 modular-neck THAs. The modular neck components provided a combination of 4/8/15 degrees of anteversion or retroversion and 6/8/15 degrees of varus or valgus (neutral = 135°).



Figure 1. 3 different designs of the Conserve Wright MoM hip prosthesis. (Left) Hip resurfacing, (middle) conventional THA, (right), modular neck THA

Design	No.	Bearing	Stem	Modular	Neck angle	Neck
		surface	material	neck		length
			(design)	material		
Resurfacing	16	High carbon	-	-	-	-
		caste cobalt				
		chrome alloy				
ТНА	4	High carbon	Titanium	-	135°	32.6mm
Conventional		caste cobalt	(Profemur			
		chrome alloy	Gladiator)			
ТНА	11	High carbon	Titanium	CoCr	Neutral long	38.5mm
Modular		caste cobalt	(Profemur		8° varus short	27mm
neck		chrome alloy	Gladiator) (4)			20.7
					4° retroverted/	38.5mm
					6° valgus long	
					8° valgus short	27mm
			Titanium	CoCr	4° retroverted/	38.5mm
			(Profemur Z)		6° valgus long	
			(5)		[193]	28mm
					neutral short[193]	
					nouuu short[190]	38mm
					8° varus long	
			Stem not	CoCr	8° varus short	27mm
			explanted (30)		8° varus short	27mm

Table 1. Characteristics of the retrieved implants (THA: total hip arthroplasty)

Demographic, imaging & blood metal ions data

Patient demographics were collected (Table 2). Pre-revision whole blood cobalt and chromium ion levels and imaging data were collected. All imaging (including magnetic resonance imaging [MRI]) were reported by an experienced musculoskeletal radiologist to evaluate any adverse local tissue reactions (ALTR).

Design	M:F	Age (years)		Time <i>i</i>	n situ	Head size	
				(months)			
		Median	Range	Median Range		Median	Range
Resurfacing	7:9	55	35–73	55	29–119	56	48–60
(<i>n</i> = 16)							
THA	6:9	59	51–71	60	18-85	48	44–58
(<i>n</i> = 15)							

Table 2. Demographic and prosthesis data (THA, total hip arthroplasty)

Measurement of material loss

Volumetric wear from the bearing surfaces and head taper junction was measured. Material loss from the bearing surfaces was measured using a Zeiss Prismo (Carl Zeiss, Ltd., Rugby, UK) coordinate measuring machine utilizing a previously described protocol [4]. Data was analysed using a previously described method, to determine volumetric wear from each bearing surface [5].

To assess the volume of material loss from the head-neck taper junction of the conventional and modular neck THAs, a Talyrond 365 (Taylor Hobson, Leicester, UK) out-of-roundness instrument was used to measure taper surfaces using a previously described protocol [5]. The female taper of the head-neck junction was measured as its material loss is a similar magnitude to the bearing surfaces, in contrast to the male taper.

Currently there is not reliable way of determining material loss from the neck-stem taper junction as the unworn shape of the taper surfaces cannot be accurately determined. To estimate the material loss of the neck-stem taper, we used the Talyrond 365 to take a series of 14 vertical straightness profiles along the axis of the neck-stem taper surfaces. These traces were used to estimate the maximum linear deviation (equal to the maximum depth of material loss) on each surface.

Visual analysis

All tapers of the THAs were assessed for corrosion. For the conventional proximal taper, each male and female taper surface was inspected macroscopically with a Leica M50 light microscope (Leica Microsystems, Germany) at up to x40 magnification. A well-published classification method was used to grade each surface with a score of 1 (no corrosion), 2 (mild

corrosion), 3 (moderate corrosion) or 4 (severe corrosion). This method has been demonstrated as being repeatable and reproducible [6].

A visual analysis method, modified from Goldbergs' method [7], was performed for the distal neck-stem taper. Corrosion was scored using a scale of 1 (corrosion evident on <10% of surface) to 4 (corrosion evident on >50% of surface). Fretting was not quantified due to the difficulties in the identification and quantification of fretting from previous experience [6]. The explanted stems taper surfaces were also examined for evidence of surface damage. A scanning electron microscope (SEM, Joel JSM5500, Tokyo, Japan) was used to perform detailed microscopic analysis of areas of interest highlighted from the macroscopic inspection on the neck-stem male taper surface.

Sectioned stem

A modular stem was sectioned in order to facilitate visual analysis of its female taper. Energydispersive x-ray spectroscopy (EDX) was performed to analyse the chemical characterisation of corrosive debris within the modular junction.

Results

Reason for revision	Resurfacing	ТНА
		(conventional and modular neck)
Unexplained pain	4	7
Aseptic loosening	7	3
Adverse local tissue reaction	4	4
Infection	1	0
High metal Ions	0	1

Indications for revision are illustrated in Table 3.

Table 3. Reasons for revision of retrievals.

Blood metal ions

Whole blood cobalt and chromium levels are illustrated in Figure 2. In the resurfacings group the median cobalt and chromium levels were 8.3 ppb and 7.4 ppb respectively. In the modular

group the median cobalt and chromium levels were and 8.4 ppb and 3.4 ppb respectively and there was no statistically significant difference in cobalt (p = 0.683) and chromium (p = 0.440) between the resurfacings and modular group. The mean ratio of Co/Cr was 1.08 in the resurfacing group and 1.45 in the modular group (p = 0.358).



Figure 2. Blood metal ion levels of the resurfacing and modular group.

Bearing surface wear

There was no statistically significant difference between the wear rates of the cup (p = 0.86), head (p = 0.103) and combined (p = 0.075).

Taper junction wear

The taper of the THA acetabular heads was measured for material loss. The modular-neck implants (median $1.164 \text{ mm}^3/\text{year}$, range 0.16-3.94) did not have a statistically significant difference in the material loss at this taper junction when compared to conventional THA (median $1.93 \text{ mm}^3/\text{year}$, range 0.21-3.67).

Material loss at the neck-stem taper junction

Straightness traces of the 11 male, neck-stem taper demonstrated surface damage with areas of material deposition and material loss with a maximum depth of 58.17 microns (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Optical microscopy image of a neck-stem taper of a modular neck component showing severe surface disruption with both areas of material deposition and material loss. Vertical straightness traces (right) confirmed these findings demonstrating areas of material loss with maximum depths of 58.17 microns. The traces were normalised using unworn areas measured below the contacting taper interface.

Visual analysis of taper junctions

All head-neck tapers of the modular group showed mild to moderate evidence of corrosion (mean 2, 95% confidence interval [CI], 1–2). However, the neck-stem taper showed mainly moderate to severe corrosion (mean 3, 95% CI, 2–3).

A modular neck stem was section to aid visual analysis. The trunnion showed evidence of corrosive debris present (Figure 4). Scanning electron microscope (SEM) images showed evidence of a corroded surface with corrosive debris and pitting (Figure 5).



Figure 4. Optical microscopy image of sectioned modular neck stem illustrating a severely damaged trunnion surface.



Figure 5. SEM and EDX analysis of sectioned stem illustrating evidence of black corrosive debris and pitting (200x and 400x).

Pre-revision MRI scans were performed for all of the resurfacings group (n = 16) and 11 in the modular group (n = 15). 43% of pre-revision MRI scans performed on resurfacing implants and 91% performed on the modular implants illustrated evidence of ALTR. Radiographs were unremarkable apart from one modular neck implant showed extensive osteolysis of the greater trochanter.

Discussion

MoM bearing surface for THA improves wear properties in comparison to metal-onpolyethylene. Although this is desirable for hip prostheses, there are concerns regarding metal debris release [8,9]. Metal debris produced from bearing surfaces has a large surface area and is small in size, the small particle size leads to large number of particles for a given wear volume compared to metal-on-polyethylene bearings [10]. For resurfacings, metal debris release is from the bearing surface, whereas conventional and modular neck THA have taper junctions which are additional sources of metal ion release. Modular-neck THA permits optimisation of hip biomechanics but taper junction corrosion results in further biologically active metal debris [11]. This cohort showed no statistically significant difference in wear rates between resurfacings and modular implants. The majority of the retrievals had shown levels of wear within expected limits [12]. There were a small number of resurfacings which exhibited large amounts of volumetric wear from the head and the cup components. These implants illustrated a wear pattern equivalent to edge loading, which affects resurfacings more due to retention of the neck which can lead to impingement-type edge loading [13]. Edge-loading occurs in a mal-positioned prosthesis. It has been shown that other factors such as stem subsidence and tissue laxity could facilitate edge loading and lead to implant failure [13]. Nonetheless, there is significant importance in implant design and insertion in its optimum position [13].

Corrosion at taper junctions is reported to be a cause failure of hip implants [9,14]. Hip resurfacing implants are exempt as they do not contain a taper junction. In this study, the modular group consisted of conventional and modular-neck THAs. The head-neck male tapers were measured for material loss and this was relatively low, visual analysis of this junction also did not indicate severe corrosion. Measuring material loss from the neck-stem junction of dual-modular implants is challenging. Linear measurements of the male taper of the neck-stem junction illustrated that this surface can undergo severe damage and material loss. Mechanical

in vitro studies of modular-neck implants show that at the neck-stem taper junction there is potential for micromotion resulting in fretting and corrosion [15]. We used visual corrosion scores to assess the changes at this taper junction. Matthies et al..[5] showed that scoring systems for corrosion and fretting are correlated with material loss, although this was for the neck-head taper. In this study, the stem-neck taper junctions exhibited a greater severity of corrosion than the head-neck taper junction. Nearly all stem-neck taper junctions of the modular-neck THA illustrated moderate to severe corrosion.

Corrosion is an inevitable complication of implant design and metallurgy. Mixed alloy couples at modular junctions contribute to greater corrosion as the two alloys have different properties. The titanium alloy of the stem is softer and its oxide layer is more susceptible to fracture than the cobalt chromium alloy, therefore when coupled the corrosion and fretting resistance may be effected. However, conventional THA tapers and the modular neck-stem taper are both mixed alloy couples, yet the modular neck stem tapers exhibited greater corrosion. Mechanically-assisted crevice corrosion explains how mechanical loading can cause fretting, fracture of passive oxide films, repassivation and crevice corrosion [16]. The increased corrosion at the neck-stem junction is likely due to many factors. Greater micromotion at the neck-stem taper junction has been shown with modular-neck hip prosthesis, likely caused by a 20-fold larger lever arm between load application and taper engagement [17]. Also, tolerances of the neck-stem junction can lead to a gap between the taper surfaces [18]. This gap can facilitate micromotion and promote crevice corrosion. The mixing of metals at the neck-stem junction can hypothetically promote galvanic corrosion. This is concerning as metal debris from taper junctions may have a greater clinical impact than that from bearing surfaces [14]. In this study, one modular-neck stem component was sectioned to better visualise the stem trunnion. Severe damage secondary to corrosion was evident. A hypothetical benefit of modular implants is a well-fixed stem can potentially be left in situ during revision surgery. However, with dual modular prosthesis the question arises whether a well-fixed stem should still be explanted as the neck-stem taper is susceptible to damage secondary corrosion.

Chromium and cobalt alloys are popular for use in MoM prosthesis, excellent wear properties make it attractive for use in bearing surfaces. However, the clinical relevance of this debris is not fully understood. There are results showing that the elevated blood metal ion levels leads to a greater chance of an adverse outcome and that cobalt is the more clinically relevant metal responsible for adverse tissue reactions [19]. Also, exposure to high levels of these elements can lead to osteolysis, carcinogenic, teratogenic and allergenic responses [20,21]. Therefore, blood metal ion levels have been used to monitor MoM hip implants. In this cohort of retrievals, there was no statistically significant difference in blood metal ion levels between the resurfacing and modular groups, even though the modular groups had taper junctions which is additional source of metal ion release. There are reports that Co/Cr ratio might be a tool for detecting taper corrosion as it is speculated that there is a greater release of cobalt compared to chromium at taper junctions [22]. In a study by Laaksonen et al. [23], they found a Co/Cr ratio of 1.4 was highly sensitive to ALTR and independently predictive of ALTR presence. In this study, the mean Co/Cr ratio for the modular group was 1.45 (resurfacings=1.08). Pre-revision MRI scans showed that there was evidence of an ALTR in 43% of the resurfacing group and 91% of the modular group. Metal debris stimulates a host inflammatory response mainly due to macrophage activation [24]. A study by Xia et al. [25] showed that tissues from patients with dual modular implants have a higher amount of lymphocytes and tissue destruction when compared to conventional THA and resurfacings. The amplified inflammatory response to taper debris may explain the increased presence of ALTR within the modular group of retrievals.

In this study, there was one modular-neck implant which radiographs illustrated worsening osteolysis of the greater trochanter that occurred over a period of time. The retrieved implant showed wear of the bearing surface wear and the neck-head taper within expected limits, however visually the stem-neck taper had moderate corrosive damage. There are reports of ALTR reactions caused solely by metal debris from taper junctions, in the presence of a nonmetal articulating surface [26]. For MoM implants, it is difficult to ascertain whether such reactions can be attributed to metal debris solely from taper junctions, bearing surfaces or from all sources. ALTR are not always associated with high wear volumes [27]. Both cobalt and chromium are known to be cytotoxic and can initiate an immune response [28]. This can result in periprosthetic osteolysis but some studies have shown cobalt and chromium to be mutagenic and genotoxic [29]. It is beneficial to minimise the volume of wear debris, but patient-related factors need to be further understood. The combination of macrophage-induced necrosis and T-lymphocyte mediated hypersensitivity reactions may explain differences in thresholds of toxicity, sensitivity and response to metal debris amongst individuals [29]. This may explain why there are many well-functioning hip implants with MoM bearing surfaces and modular junctions [30]. Further research is required to understand the clinical significance of modular junctions and patient related factors which may increase susceptibility to metal debris.

Limitations

This study discussed findings from a small cohort of retrieved Conserve hip implants and, therefore, does not represent all of those implanted. We are not able to comment on the failure rate of the Conserve hip compared to other manufacturers and designs. Also, the number of retrievals is not enough to draw significant conclusions regarding the performance of this implant.

References

1. Traina F, De Clerico M, Biondi F, et al. Sex differences in hip morphology: is stem modularity effective for total hip replacement? *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 2009; 91(Suppl. 6): 121–128.

2. Traina F, De Fine M, Biondi F, et al. The influence of the centre of rotation on implant survival using a modular stem hip prosthesis. *Int Orthop* 2009; 33: 1513–1518.

3. Nawabi DH, Do HT, Ruel A, et al. Comprehensive analysis of a recalled modular total hip system and recommendations for management. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 2016; 98: 40–47.

4. Bills PJ, Racasan R, Underwood RJ, et al. Volumetric wear assessment of retrieved metal-on-metal hip prostheses and the impact of measurement uncertainty. *Wear* 2012; 74: 212–219.

5. Matthies AK, Racasan R, Bills P, et al. Material loss at the taper junction of retrieved large head metal-on-metal total hip replacements. *J Orthop Res* 2013; 31: 1677–1685.

6. Hothi HS, Matthies AK, Berber R, et al. The reliability of a scoring system for corrosion and fretting, and its relationship to material loss of tapered, modular junctions of retrieved hip implants. *J Arthroplasty* 2014; 29: 1313–1317.

7. Goldberg JR, Gilbert JL, Jacobs JJ, et al. A multicenter retrieval study of the taper interfaces of modular hip prostheses. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2002; (401): 149–161.

8. Mistry JB, Chughtai M, Elmallah RK, et al. Trunnionosis in total hip arthroplasty: a review. *J Orthop Traumatol* 2016; 17: 1–6.

9. Sidaginamale RP, Joyce TJ, Bowsher JG, et al. The clinical implications of metal debris release from the taper junctions and bearing surfaces of metal-on-metal hip arthroplasty: joint fluid and blood metal ion concentrations. *Bone Joint J* 2016; 98-B: 925–933.

10. Ingham E and Fisher J. Biological reactions to wear debris in total joint replacement. *Proc Inst Mech Eng H* 2000; 214: 21–37.

11. Amstutz HC and Grigoris P. Metal on metal bearings in hip arthroplasty. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 1996; (329(Suppl.)): S11–34.

12. Matthies A, Underwood R, Cann P, et al. Retrieval analysis of 240 metal-on-metal hip components, comparing modular total hip replacement with hip resurfacing. *J Bone Joint Surg Br* 2011; 93: 307–314.

13. Al-Hajjar M, Fisher J, Williams S, et al. (2013); Effect of femoral head size on the wear of metal on metal bearings in total hip replacements under adverse edge-loading conditions. *J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater* 2013; 101: 213–222.

14. Langton D, Sidaginamale R, Lord J, et al. Metal debris release from taper junctions appears to have a greater clinical impact than debris released from metal on metal bearing surfaces. *Orthopaedic Proceedings* 2013; 95-B(SUPP_I): 28.

15. Viceconti M, Ruggeri O, Toni A, et al. Design-related fretting wear in modular neck hip prosthesis. *J Biomed Mater Res* 1996; 30: 181–186.

16. Gilbert JL, Buckley CA and Jacobs JJ. In vivo corrosion of modular hip prosthesis components in mixed and similar metal combinations. The effect of crevice, stress, motion, and alloy coupling. *J Biomed Mater Res* 1993; 27: 1533–1544.

17. Falkenberg A, Morlock M and Huber G. Load offset may be decisive for micromotions within taper junctions of modular total hip prostheses. *Orthopaedic Proceedings* 2018; 100-B(SUPP_5): 36.

18. Goldberg JR and Gilbert JL. In vitro corrosion testing of modular hip tapers. *J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater* 2003; 64: 78–93.

19. Hart AJ, Quinn PD, Lali F, et al. Cobalt from metal-on-metal hip replacements may be the clinically relevant active agent responsible for periprosthetic tissue reactions. *Acta Biomater* 2012; 8: 3865–3873.

20. Park YS, Moon YW, Lim SJ, et al. Early osteolysis following second-generation metal-on-metal hip replacement. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 2005; 87: 1515–1521.

21. Willert HG, Buchhorn GH, Fayyazi A, et al. Metal-on-metal bearings and hypersensitivity in patients with artificial hip joints. A clinical and histomorphological study. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 2005; 87: 28–36.

22. Hothi HS, Berber R, Whittaker RK, et al. The relationship between cobalt/chromium ratios and the high prevalence of head-stem junction corrosion in metal-on-metal total hip arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty* 2016; 31: 1123–1127.

23. Laaksonen I, Galea VP, Donahue GS, et al. The cobalt/chromium ratio provides similar diagnostic value to a low cobalt threshold in predicting adverse local tissue reactions in patients with metal-on-metal hip arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty* 2018; 33: 3020–3024.

24. Lassus J, Salo J, Jiranek WA, et al. Macrophage activation results in bone resorption. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 1998; (352): 7–15.

25. Xia Z, Ricciardi BF, Liu Z, et al. Nano-analyses of wear particles from metal-onmetal and non-metal-on-metal dual modular neck hip arthroplasty. *Nanomedicine* 2017; 13: 1205–1217.

26. Hsu AR, Gross CE and Levine BR. Pseudotumor from modular neck corrosion after ceramic-on-polyethylene total hip arthroplasty. *Am J Orthop (Belle Mead NJ)* 2012; 41: 422–446.

27. Matthies AK, Skinner JA, Osmani H, et al. Pseudotumors are common in well-positioned low-wearing metal-on-metal hips. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* 2012; 470: 1895–1906.

28. Maloney WJ, Smith RL, Castro F, et al. Fibroblast response to metallic debris in vitro.
Enzyme induction cell proliferation, and toxicity. *J Bone Joint Surg Am* 1993; 75: 835–844.
29. Gill HS, Grammatopoulos G, Adshead S, et al. Molecular and immune toxicity of

CoCr nanoparticles in MoM hip arthroplasty. *Trends Mol Med* 2012; 18: 145–155. 30. Thomas SS Aiona MD Pierce P. et al. Gait changes in children with spastic.

30. Thomas SS, Aiona MD, Pierce R, et al. Gait changes in children with spastic diplegia after selective dorsal rhizotomy. *J Pediatr Orthop* 1996; 16: 747–752.

Appendix 4: Does Modularity Of MOM Implants Increase Blood Cobalt:Chromium Ratio?

Ilo KC, Aboelmagd K, Hothi HS, Asaad A, Skinner JA, Hart AJ. *Does modularity of metal-on-metal hip implants increase cobalt: chromium ratio?* Hip Int. 2021 Jan;31(1):109-114. doi: 10.1177/1120700019873637. Epub 2019 Sep 8. PMID: 31496282.

Abstract

Background: Blood metal ion levels are used in the surveillance of metal-on-metal (MoM) hip implants. Modular implants contain an extra source of metal debris that may affect the ratio of metal ions in the blood.

Methods: This was a retrospective study of 503 patients with hip replacements made by a single manufacturer (Smith & Nephew, Warwick, UK) with the same bearing surface. There were 54 total hip arthroplasties, 35 Birmingham Mid- Head Resections and 414 hip resurfacings. Whole blood metal ion levels and their ratios were analysed to investigate the effect of a modular junction.

Results: The cobalt:chromium ratios were greater in the total hip arthroplasty group (mean 2.3:1) when compared to the resurfacings group (mean 1.3:1, p=<0.05) and Birmingham Mid-Head Resection group (mean 1.1:1, p=0.11)

Conclusions: This study demonstrated a trend for a higher cobalt:chromium ratio in patients with MoM total hip replacement that may be due to metal debris from the modular stem-head junction. Further work is required to correlate clinical data with retrieval analysis to confirm the effect of taper material loss on the cobalt:chromium ratio.

Introduction

Due to its success, the use of total hip arthroplasty (THA) has been extended into younger age groups. In these patients, bone-conserving implants are attractive. Hip resurfacing and midhead resection arthroplasty are good examples. Unfortunately, these require metal-on-metal (MOM) bearings to provide the wear resistance needed. With resurfacings, metal ions are only released from wear at the bearing surface. However, with MOM THA and mid-head resection arthroplasty there is potential metal ion release from wear of the bearing surfaces[1], and wear

and corrosion at the head-neck taper[2]. The widespread use of MOM bearings, led to the identification of complications that have resulted in a reduction in the use of MOM implants.

Blood metal ion levels are utilized in the surveillance of patients with MOM implants[3]. The main source of metal debris is as a result of wear from the articulating bearing surface. Mechanical and corrosive damage at modular junctions have also been shown to be a cause of metal debris formation[2, 4]. Blood metal ion levels may provide useful information regarding the production of metal debris in-situ. Blood metal ion levels can be affected by various implant and patient factors[3, 5]. It has been previously reported that the addition of modular junctions increases blood metal ion levels[6]. Conversely, current interpretation of blood metal ion levels are unable to provide information regarding the integrity of the modular junction. Any information we can gather regarding the in vivo performance of the implant would be beneficial. The aim of this study was to investigate whether modularity leads to a difference in blood metal ion levels and their ratios.

Method

This was a retrospective, non-randomized study performed at a tertiary referral centre for MOM implants. In order to compare the effect of modularity on blood metal ion levels, we identified implants from a single manufacturer with the same bearing surface design and metallurgy with and without a modular junction. Smith and Nephew's (Warwick, United Kingdom) MOM Birmingham Hip system consists of high carbon content cobalt chrome molybdenum (CoCrMo) alloy bearing surfaces that is utilized as different types of arthroplasty (Figure 1).

The Birmingham Hip resurfacing is a joint resurfacing implant which contains no modular junction. Conversely, the Birmingham Hip Total Hip Arthroplasty[7] has a modular taper junction within the femoral head component which can be used with a variety of femoral stem implants. One of these options uses an alternatively designed femoral component which is positioned within the femoral neck and not the shaft. This bone-conserving arthroplasty is the Birmingham Mid-Head Resection arthroplasty (BMHR).



Figure 1: Photograph image (100mm lens) of MMT/Smith and Nephew metal-on-metal bearing surface utilized as different implants; (A) Birmingham Mid-Head Resection, (B) total hip arthroplasty, (C) resurfacing

A total of 503 patients were identified that had undergone a unilateral hip replacement with a MOM Birmingham Hip bearing system. Patient demographic data and the blood metal ion levels were collected for all implants. Data was collected in the period from July 2009 to May 2013. Of the 503 patients identified with a MOM Birmingham Hip bearing system, there was a total of 414 hip resurfacings, 54 THAs and 35 BMHRs.

Statistics

All statistics were performed using the statistical software package SPSS 22 (Spss Inc., Chicago, III). The Mann-Whitney U test was utilized to determine a significant difference between the different implant groups. A significance level of p < 0.05 was utilized.

Results

Amongst the 414 patients with hip resurfacings; 308 had subsequently been revised, whilst 106 had well-functioning implants. The 54 patients with THAs had all been revised, whilst all 35 patients with a BMHR were all well-functioning. A well-functioning implant was defined clinically as an asymptomatic implant which had no indication for revision (unexplained pain, pseudotumour, loosening etc) and was purely under surveillance in accordance with Medicine

and Healthcare Regulatory Authority (MHRA) guidelines. Patient demographic data is illustrated in Table 1. Reasons for revision are illustrated in Table 2. Whole blood cobalt (Co) and chromium (Cr) levels were collected for all patients. For revised implants the pre-revision blood metal ion results were used and for the well-functioning patients; the most recent result.

Implant	M:F	Age (years)		Head size (mm)		Time in s	Time in situ		
		Media	n Range	Media	n Range	(months)	(months)		
						Median	Range		
THA	25:29	69	39-84	46	38-58	53	11-128		
(n = 54)									
BMHR	20:15	56	30-71	48	44-56	73	37-92		
(n = 35)									
Resurfacing	219:95	68	26-84	48	38-54	140	5-158		
(n = 414)									

 Table 1: Patient demographic data for implant groups

Revised	Unexplained	Aseptic	infection	Psuedotumour	instability	High	Fracture	Impingement
Implant	pain	loosening				metal		
						ions		
THA	25	5	4	19	1	0	0	0
(n = 54)								
Resurfacing	142	34	10	49	7	41	14	11
(n = 308)								

 Table 2: Reasons for implant revision

Blood metal ions levels and ratios of different implant types

Blood metal on levels are illustrated for the different implant types in Table 3, Figures 2 and

3.

Implant	Cobalt (ppb)			Chron	nium (pp	ob)	Ratio			
Туре	Min	Mean	Max	Min	Mean	Max	Min	Mean	Max	
THA	0.83	15	119	0.7	7.8	43	0.62	2.3	10	
BMHR	0.18	2.8	10	0.36	3	12	0.38	1.1	4.4	
Resurfacings	0	19	250	0.3	16	343	0	1.3	60	

Table 3: Blood metal ion levels and ratios of different implant types
The only statistically significant difference in cobalt levels was between the resurfacings group and the BMHR group (p=0.0115). The only statistically significant difference in chromium levels was between the resurfacings group and the BMHR group (p=0.0222). The only statistically significant difference in Co:Cr ratio was between the THA group and the



resurfacings group (p=0.0426).

Figure 2: Graph illustrating blood metal ion levels of different implant types



Figure 3: Graph illustrating Co:Cr ratio of different implant types

Blood metal ions levels and ratios of revised and well-functioning implants

There was no statistically significant difference between cobalt levels and Co:Cr ratios of the THA group (all revised) and the revised Resurfacings group. Although there was a trend for a higher Co:Cr ratio in the THA group (mean 2.3, range 0.62-10) in comparison to the revised Resurfacing group (mean 1.5, range 0-60). The Chromium levels were statistically different (p=0.0079).

There was no statistically significant difference between chromium, cobalt and Co:Cr ratio of the BHMR group (all well-functioning) and the functioning Resurfacings group. Comparing all functioning implants with revised implants. Revised implants showed statistically significant higher cobalt (p<0.001), chromium (p<0.001) and Co:Cr ratios (p=0.0204).

Correlation of time with blood metal ion levels

Time in situ was positively correlated with Cr and Co levels but not Co:Cr ratios. None of the correlations were significant.

Discussion

Modularity of implants permit the use of different components that allow better replication of individual hip biomechanics. However, failure of the modular taper junction has become a cause of concern regarding metal ion release with THAs [8-13]. Metal ions are not inert and can cause an inflammatory reaction which can be localized and systemic. There are reports of localized lesions which can be destructive and high incidences of unexplained pain. Nonetheless, there have been vast numbers of MOM hip replacements implanted and are under surveillance as advised by the MHRA. The utilization of blood metal ions provides a marker of the in-vivo performance of MOM bearings but the effect of modularity is unknown. This study aims to further understand blood metal ion levels and their ratios.

Three different implants that have the same bearing surface, with and without a modular junction were included in this study. Two of these implants had a modular junction (THA, BMHR) whilst the other did not have a modular junction (resurfacings). Analysis of blood metal ions between the implants showed that the resurfacings group had higher individual cobalt and chromium levels, than the other implants. However, the resurfacings blood metal ion levels were only significantly higher than the BMHR group. the ratio of cobalt to chromium was highest in the THA group and this was significantly greater than the resurfacings group.

As this was a retrospective study including all implants with the same bearing surface, the different implant groups were not matched demographically or functionally. Some of the implants had subsequently been revised. The THA group had all been revised and therefore their blood metal ion levels were further compared to revised resurfacings. The failed resurfacings had a higher Co and Cr level but the THA group had a higher Co:Cr ratio. This was not statistically significant, however there was one anomalous result in the failed resurfacing group, which was a Co:Cr ratio of 60. Removing this result from the analysis did result in a significantly greater Co:Cr ratio in the THA group when compared to failed resurfacings (p<0.0001). The BMHR group were all well-functioning and therefore their blood metal ion levels were compared to well-functioning resurfacings. There was no difference in Co, Cr and Co:Cr ratios between the two groups of well-functioning implants. We also compared the functioning implants to the revised implants. This did show significantly greater Co; Cr ratio.

There are reports which have not shown Co:Cr to be useful, especially for diagnosing ALTR[14, 15]. This has been attributed to variabilities in alloy composition, solubility of metal ions and excretion. In this study, we have shown that well-functioning implants have lower blood metal ion levels than failed implants with the same bearing surface. However more importantly there was an increase in Co: Cr ratio with modularity. There are other studies that have shown elevated Co levels compared to Cr levels in modular implants [14,16–18]. In a prospective randomized clinical trial, Garbuz et al. [18] compared clinical outcomes of resurfacings to large diameter head THAs. At one year the THA group showed a marked elevation of Co in relation to Cr when compared to the resurfacing group. The elevation in the Co:Cr ratio may be due to the production of a Cr oxide passivation layer that develops at the head-neck junction. The consumption of Cr ions to form the passivation layer could potentially decrease the amount of Cr ions reaching systemic circulation. Hypothetically, this will increase the Co:Cr ratio.

Metal ion debris is produced from several sources, subsequently their levels are affected by material loss from the bearing surface, taper junction and component impingement. The influence of the taper junction will prove difficult to isolate. In this study, we have investigated implants with the same manufactured bearing surface with and without a modular junction. This study found an increase in Co:Cr ratio in the THA group when compared to resurfacings

and the BMHR. We may have expected that because the BMHR also has a modular junction the Co:Cr ratio should be increased. However, the tapers of the BMHR and the THA are different. The BMHR has a collar just below the taper for the head to sit on, which the THA doesn't. This could protect this taper from fluid and debris that can exacerbate corrosive material loss at this junction. Also, due to the geometry of the BMHR implant the forces that act through this are similar to a resurfacing and the implant is well supported by the native femoral neck. In contrast the THA undergoes forces, which are transferred through the implant and the unsupported taper junction allowing the potential for micro-movement that exacerbates corrosion at the taper junction[19].

Moharrami et al. [20] showed that the oxide layer produced by the titanium alloy (commonly used in femoral stems) was both harder and thicker than the oxide layer produced from the CoCr alloy. This difference in hardness causes abrasive wear of the female CoCr taper resulting in wear debris and ion release. As the Cr ions are utilized in the formation of the passivation layer this would lead to an increase in Co with a lesser increase in Cr. In this study, all groups utilized the same bearing surface design and metallurgy, therefore the increase in Co ions greater than Cr ions in the THA group is possibly due to release from the taper head-neck junction. Clinically there has been a significant difference regarding the performance of the Birmingham Hip Resurfacing and the Birmingham THA. In this study there was a higher incidence of ALTR in the failed THA group when compared to the failed resurfacings. Data from the national joint registries of Australia and England and Wales have shown that revision rates are higher for the Birmingham THA when compared to other conventional hip replacements[21]. However, the Birmingham resurfacing has a much lower revision rate and performs well when compared to other resurfacings. As both implants utilize the same bearing surface, the issue may result from the taper junction. There are a range of conventional stems that can be and are used with the Birmingham Hip modular head. This mixing and matching of components could be the underlying issue. Unfortunately, in this study information regarding the different stems used was not available.

Addition of another metal-metal interface leads to corrosion related complications, especially when differing metals are combined[17,18]. Collier et al.[22] looked at the taper interface between 139 modular femoral components. In 91 femoral head and stem couples the same alloy was used and none of the implants examined in this group showed evidence of corrosion. Of the 48 implants that utilized a titanium stem with a CoCr head, 25 showed evidence of

corrosion[22]. The mixing of metals in THA is one of the factors that contribute to corrosion at the taper junction as this can permit galvanic corrosion. Although the material loss at the junction is relatively small as shown in a study by Matthies et al.[2], the relative greater increase in Co rather than Cr may give an insight into the integrity of the taper junction. Cooper et al. reported on 10 patients with metal-on-polyethylene bearings that underwent revision for symptoms including pain, instability and swelling. Co levels were found to be higher than Cr levels and it was concluded that corrosion at the head neck taper can cause adverse local tissue reactions[23]. This suggests that Co:Cr ratio could potentially aid in discovering whether the culprit of problematic metal debris is from the bearing surface or the modular junctions. However cobalt is more soluble than chromium, therefore cobalt is more readily dissolved into the blood and this may affect the Co:Cr ratio. If this proves to be the case then it questions whether a well-fixed stem should be revised if the Co:Cr ratio suggests that the modular junction is a cause for concern.

Blood metal ion levels play an important role in the surveillance of MOM implants. The MHRA have suggested a threshold of 7ppb, above which suggests possible further investigations for the symptomatic patients[24]. However, blood metal ions below this threshold does not fully equate to a well-functioning implant. In this study, we have shown that in failed retrievals there are a large number below this level. The increase of Co and Cr, especially in implants with a modular junction does not appear to be equal. In modular implants, it appears that the Co increases more than Cr and this may be due to the taper junction. The Co:Cr ratio could possibly be used to risk stratify implants that undergo taper failure. Therefore, a possible alteration to the reporting of clinical reference levels used to monitor patients with implants that contain Co and Cr levels, could possibly include a Co:Cr ratio. The threshold of 7ppb for Co and Cr levels set by the MHRA may need to be augmented for modular implants to acknowledge the influence of the taper junctions.

Limitations

We acknowledge that there are several limitations to this study. This study has investigated different groups of patients that have not been demographically matched which can introduce confounding factors to our results. Patient factors such as kidney function, occupational exposure and dietary supplementation were not identified. In this study, there were no well-functioning THAs and failed BMHR to compare results to. The cause of failure was not

determined for every implant and possibly could affect the blood metal ion levels, such as component impingement. The analysis of blood metal ion levels were performed at different laboratories that can introduce measurement differences. In our group of failed THAs there was a number of various stems used which will affect the geometry and characteristics of the modular taper junction. Unfortunately, not all stems could be identified as some stems were well fixed and left in situ, therefore not revised.

Conclusion

The full significance of blood metal ion levels and their correlation with the in-vivo performance of MOM bearings are not fully known. There are a large number of MOM bearings, which have failed with blood metal ion levels less than 7ppb. However, till more is known about the significance of blood metal ion levels we cannot advise on how this value should be altered. This study which focused on implants with the same metallurgy showed a trend of higher Co:Cr ratio in patients with a MOM THA that may be attributed to metal debris from the modular stem-head junction. Further work is required to correlate retrieval analysis with blood metal ions to investigate the effect of material loss from modular junctions on blood metal ions and ratios.

Acknowledgements

Two authors received funding from the British Orthopaedic Association through an industry consortium of nine manufacturers: DePuy International Ltd (Leeds, UK), Zimmer GmbH (Winterthur, Switzerland), Smith & Nephew UK Ltd (Warwick, UK), Biomet UK Ltd (Bridgend, South Wales, UK), JRI Ltd (London, UK), Finsbury Orthopaedics Ltd (Leatherhead, UK), Corin Group PLC (Cirencester, UK), Mathys Orthopaedics Ltd (Alton, UK), and Stryker UK Ltd (Newbury, UK).

References

1. Hart AJ, Muirhead-Allwood S, Porter M, Matthies A, Ilo K, Maggiore P, et al. (2013); Which factors determine the wear rate of large-diameter metal-on-metal hip replacements? Multivariate analysis of two hundred and seventy-six components. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume.95(8):678-85.

2. Matthies AK, Racasan R, Bills P, Blunt L, Cro S, Panagiotidou A, et al. (2013); Material loss at the taper junction of retrieved large head metal-on-metal total hip replacements. J Orthop Res.31(11):1677-85.

3. Hart AJ, Sabah SA, Sampson B, Skinner JA, Powell JJ, Palla L, et al. (2014); Surveillance of Patients with Metal-on-Metal Hip Resurfacing and Total Hip Prostheses: A Prospective Cohort Study to Investigate the Relationship Between Blood Metal Ion Levels and Implant Failure. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume.96(13):1091-9.

4. Kretzer JP, Jakubowitz E, Krachler M, Thomsen M, Heisel C. (2009); Metal release and corrosion effects of modular neck total hip arthroplasty. International orthopaedics.33(6):1531-6.

5. Amstutz HC, Campbell PA, Dorey FJ, Johnson AJ, Skipor AK, Jacobs JJ. (2013); Do ion concentrations after metal-on-metal hip resurfacing increase over time? A prospective study. The Journal of arthroplasty.28(4):695-700.

6. Johnson AJ, Le Duff MJ, Yoon JP, Al-Hamad M, Amstutz HC. (2013); Metal ion levels in total hip arthroplasty versus hip resurfacing. The Journal of arthroplasty.28(7):1235-7.

7. Arirachakaran A, Sukthuayat A, Sisayanarane T, Laoratanavoraphong S, Kanchanatawan W, Kongtharvonskul J. (2016); Platelet-rich plasma versus autologous blood versus steroid injection in lateral epicondylitis: systematic review and network meta-analysis. Journal of orthopaedics and traumatology : official journal of the Italian Society of Orthopaedics and Traumatology.17(2):101-12.

8. Krishnan H, Krishnan SP, Blunn G, Skinner JA, Hart AJ. (2013); Modular neck femoral stems. The bone & joint journal.95-B(8):1011-21.

9. Sotereanos NG, Sauber TJ, Tupis TT. (2013); Modular femoral neck fracture after primary total hip arthroplasty. The Journal of arthroplasty.28(1):196 e7-9.

10. Hothi HS, Matthies AK, Berber R, Whittaker RK, Skinner JA, Hart AJ. (2013); The Reliability of a Scoring System for Corrosion and Fretting, and Its Relationship to Material Loss of Tapered, Modular Junctions of Retrieved Hip Implants. The Journal of arthroplasty.

11. Cooper HJ, Urban RM, Wixson RL, Meneghini RM, Jacobs JJ. (2013); Adverse local tissue reaction arising from corrosion at the femoral neck-body junction in a dual-taper stem with a cobalt-chromium modular neck. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume.95(10):865-72.

12. Higgs GB, Hanzlik JA, MacDonald DW, Gilbert JL, Rimnac CM, Kurtz SM, et al. (2013); Is increased modularity associated with increased fretting and corrosion damage in metal-on-metal total hip arthroplasty devices?: a retrieval study. The Journal of arthroplasty.28(8 Suppl):2-6.

13. Vundelinckx BJ, Verhelst LA, De Schepper J. (2013); Taper corrosion in modular hip prostheses: analysis of serum metal ions in 19 patients. The Journal of arthroplasty.28(7):1218-23.

14. Fehring TK, Carter JL, Fehring KA, Odum SM, Griffin WL. (2015); Cobalt to Chromium Ratio is Not a Key Marker for Adverse Local Tissue Reaction (ALTR) in Metal on Metal Hips. J Arthroplasty.30(9 Suppl):107-9.

15. Persson A, Eisler T, Boden H, Krupic F, Skoldenberg O, Muren O. (2018); Revision for Symptomatic Pseudotumor After Primary Metal-on-Polyethylene Total Hip Arthroplasty with a Standard Femoral Stem. J Bone Joint Surg Am.100(11):942-9.

16. Doherty AT, Howell RT, Ellis LA, Bisbinas I, Learmonth ID, Newson R, et al. (2001); Increased chromosome translocations and aneuploidy in peripheral blood lymphocytes of patients having revision arthroplasty of the hip. The Journal of bone and joint surgery British volume.83(7):1075-81.

17. Kop AM, Swarts E. (2009); Corrosion of a hip stem with a modular neck taper junction: a retrieval study of 16 cases. The Journal of arthroplasty.24(7):1019-23.

18. Goldberg JR, Gilbert JL, Jacobs JJ, Bauer TW, Paprosky W, Leurgans S. (2002); A multicenter retrieval study of the taper interfaces of modular hip prostheses. Clinical orthopaedics and related research(401):149-61.

19. Higgs GB, Hanzlik JA, MacDonald DW, Gilbert JL, Rimnac CM, Kurtz SM. (2013); Is Increased Modularity Associated With Increased Fretting and Corrosion Damage in Metal-On-Metal Total Hip Arthroplasty Devices?: A Retrieval Study. The Journal of arthroplasty.28(8):2-6.

20. Moharrami N, Langton D, Sayginer O, Bull S. (2013); Why does titanium alloy wear cobalt chrome alloy despite lower bulk hardness: A nanoindentation study? Thin Solid Films.549:79-86.

21. The Australian Orthopaedic Association National Joint Replacement Registry2013 2013; 2013 annual report. Available from:

https://aoanjrr.dmac.adelaide.edu.au/documents/10180/127202/Annual Report 2013?version=1.2&t=1385685288617.

22. Collier JP, Surprenant VA, Jensen RE, Mayor MB, Surprenant HP. (1992); Corrosion between the components of modular femoral hip prostheses. The Journal of bone and joint surgery British volume.74(4):511-7.

23. Cooper HJ, Della Valle CJ, Berger RA, Tetreault M, Paprosky WG, Sporer SM, et al. (2012); Corrosion at the head-neck taper as a cause for adverse local tissue reactions after total hip arthroplasty. J Bone Joint Surg Am.94(18):1655-61.

24. Hart AJ, Sabah SA, Bandi AS, Maggiore P, Tarassoli P, Sampson B, et al. (2011); Sensitivity and specificity of blood cobalt and chromium metal ions for predicting failure of metal-on-metal hip replacement. The Journal of bone and joint surgery British volume.93(10):1308-13.

Appendix 6: Custom Femoral Stems: A Needed Solution To Modularity

Ilo K, Hallikeri P, Naathan H, Van Duren B, Higgins M, McNamara I, Smith T. Outcomes of primary total hip arthroplasty using custom femoral stems in patients with a secondary hip osteoarthritis: a systematic review. Arthroplasty Today 2024 DOI: 10.1016/j.artd.2024.101504

Abstract

Aims: This systematic review aims to evaluate the effectiveness and safety of custom femoral stems in primary total hip arthroplasty (THA) for patients with secondary osteoarthritis with abnormal hip anatomy.

Methods: Following PRISMA guidelines, databases were systematically searched for studies published on primary THA utilizing custom femoral stems. Inclusion criteria were studies on patients with secondary osteoarthritis receiving custom stems, with outcomes including implant survival, revision rates, and functional scores. Data were extracted from eligible studies, with a focus on overall and cause-specific revision rates.

Results: 689 studies were screened, 13 met the inclusion criteria, encompassing 806 patients and 951 custom THA procedures. The collective follow-up period averaged 11.6 years, with a mean age of 44.6 years. The mean reoperation and revision rates were 6.9% (95% CI: 3.24 - 10.13) and 8.25% (95% CI: 4.02 - 12.47) respectively. The mean intraoperative fracture rate was 3.23% (95% CI: 1.35 - 5.11) and the mean postoperative leg length discrepancy was 4.25mm (95% CI: 1.57-6.93). Mean improvement of postoperative Harris Hip Score as 40.32 (range 30-56).

Conclusions: Custom femoral stems in primary THA demonstrate promising results in terms of implant survival and functional outcomes for patients with complex hip anatomy due to secondary osteoarthritis. These findings support the consideration of custom implants as a viable option for this patient demographic, though further research is warranted for long-term outcomes and direct comparisons with standard prostheses.

Introduction

Total hip arthroplasty (THA) is increasingly being utilised to treat younger, more active patients who have developed secondary hip osteoarthritis due to congenital or acquired conditions[1, 2]. This poses new challenges in surgical practice and implant design, especially when addressing patients with complex hip anatomy[3]. Cemented femoral stems have been the preferred solution for addressing femoral abnormalities due to their versatility and flexibility during surgery to recreate a patient's normal hip biomechanics[4, 5]. However, there are concerns regarding the durability of cemented fixation in younger and more active patients[6, 7]. Furthermore, recent studies have highlighted an increased risk of periprosthetic fractures with certain designs of cemented femoral stems[8-10]. As a result, cementless and biological fixation is desirable[11]. Custom cementless femoral stems have the potential to address such issues, especially for patients with femoral deformities. Achieving primary stability is crucial for THA success, but it can be challenging with standard cementless femoral stems, especially in the presence of anatomical irregularities as the proximal femur has a wide range of anatomical variations[12]. These variations make it difficult to achieve an optimal fit-and-fill of the metaphysis with commercially available prostheses, despite the availability of various anatomical designs and sizes[13].

Custom femoral stems, designed and tailored through advanced preoperative threedimensional (3-D) imaging techniques, are a promising solution (Figure 1). They have shown considerable utility in treating a range of conditions, including primary osteoarthritis, osteoarthritis secondary to abnormal anatomy, and revision surgery [14-17]. By tailoring the design to the individual's specific anatomy, custom stems ensure a more precise fit, recreating normal hip mechanics and stability, in theory improving their overall outcome[18-21]. For patients with femoral deformity and a long-life expectancy, custom cementless femoral stems represent an encouraging alternative to standard femoral stems. This approach addresses the unique challenges posed by the patient's anatomy and age, offering a solution that aligns more closely with their physiological requirements.

Despite the potential of custom femoral stems, there is a lack of comprehensive clinical outcomes data for custom femoral stems in primary THA, especially in patients with abnormal hip anatomy. This review aims to address this need by examining the clinical outcomes associated with the use of custom femoral stems in secondary hip osteoarthritis, focusing on patients with abnormal hip anatomy and deformity and exploring their benefits and challenges in modern orthopaedic practice.



Figure 1: Design of a custom femoral stem utilising computer tomography imaging]for abnormal proximal femur anatomy

Methods

This systematic review adheres to the guidelines outlined in the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA[22]) and has been registered with PROSPERO (Registration: CRD42023488321).

Search Strategy

The search strategy involved an electronic literature search conducted on November 1, 2023, encompassing Medline, Embase, Cochrane, and CINAHL databases. The search terms, including variations of "custom," "stem," and "total hip arthroplasty" were crafted to identify relevant studies (full search strategy in supplementary material). In addition to database searches, reference lists of selected articles, and trial registries were scrutinised to identify further relevant studies.

Eligibility Criteria

Inclusion criteria comprised of studies reporting clinical outcomes of custom femoral stems designed from preoperative 3-D imaging in secondary hip osteoarthritis. Studies where the population group majority (>50%) was primary osteoarthritis were excluded. The exclusion criteria also encompassed non-English studies, those published before 2000, revision THA studies, custom femoral stems not made with 3-D imaging, cemented stems, narrative reviews, expert opinions and case reports.

The titles and abstracts of all references from the search results were screened for inclusion by two independent reviewers (KI, PH). These authors then reviewed the full-text of the studies, and disagreements between the two reviewers were resolved through review and consensus with a third reviewer (HN).

Data Extraction

Three reviewers (KI, PH, HN) independently reviewed each study and extracted relevant review data. This included: year of publication, population characteristics, indication for surgery, type of stem, surgical approach, follow-up duration, type of acetabulum component and patient demographics. Outcomes including revision rates, reoperation rates, post-operative leg length discrepancies, survival rates of the femoral stem and both components, and pre- and post-operative patient-reported outcomes were also collected.

Outcomes

The primary outcome was reoperation events. Secondary outcomes included revision and survival, intraoperative complications, post-operative complications, leg length discrepancy, patient-reported outcome measures and health resource use/cost-effectiveness analysis data.

Critical Appraisal

The quality of each study was evaluated using the Joanna Briggs Institute Checklist, an appraisal tool for case series which is an approved method to assess the methodological quality of these studies [23]. This checklist consists of 10 questions and a point was scored for each, giving a maximum of 10 points. Assessments were performed by one reviewer (KI) and independently verified by two other reviewers (HN & PH).

Data Synthesis

Outcomes from the studies were recorded. Arithmetic and weighted means were calculated. Data extraction tables were reviewed for study heterogeneity. Where there was substantial heterogeneity in study design, population characteristics and surgical procedure, a narrative analysis were performed. Continuous data were assessed using a mean difference and presented with 95% confidence intervals. Dichotomous data were assessed with relative risk and presented with 95% CI. All data were analysed using Prism 10 (Prism 10, GraphPad Software, San Diego, USA).

Results

Search results

A total of 689 studies were identified, of these 202 were duplicates (Figure 2). A further 41 studies were removed as they were prior to the year 2000 and not in English. The remaining, 438 studies were screened using title and abstract. This resulted in the inclusion of 51 studies for full-text screening. Out of these, 13 studies met the criteria for inclusion in the systematic review. All 13 studies reported on the clinical outcomes of primary THA using custom stems designed from 3-D imaging in patients with secondary hip osteoarthritis. One study (Jacquet et al.), reported on two series of patients[24]. All included studies were case series[17, 24-35].



Figure 2: PRISMA flow diagram

Study Characteristics

The included studies exhibited a mean follow-up duration of 11.6 years (95% confidence interval (CI), 9.48-13.74). The collective patient pool across the studies comprised 806 individuals and 951 custom femoral THAs (Table 1). The mean number of custom femoral stems included in each study was 67.9 (95% CI 36.1-99.8). The mean age of patients who received a custom femoral stem was 44.6 years (95% CI 38.4-50.9) with a mean BMI (four studies included the mean BMI) of 25.4kg/m² (95% CI 23.7-27.0). The indications for THA in each study are summarised in Table 1. There were no studies that compared patients with secondary hip osteoarthritis to patients with primary hip osteoarthritis. There were also no studies that compared custom femoral stems to off-the-shelf stems.

Study	No. patients	No. hips	Indication	Approach	Mean age (range)	Male No. (%)	Mean BMI (range)
Jacquet et al. 2020	212	233	Primary OA 17.6%, Secondary OA 49.4% AVN 33% DDH 37.8%, Post traumatic 11.6%	Anterolateral	39.6 (20-50)	106 (50%)	25 (16-48)
	21	26	DDH (Crowe 3 and 4)	Anterolateral	45 (17-73)	13 (61.9%)	27.2 (16-52)
Flecher et al. 2018	23	23	Hip fusion	Watson Jones	49 (28-69)	13 (56.6%)	25 (19-33)
Pakos et al. 2015l	67	86	DDH	Posterolateral	Median 48	7 (10.50%)	Median 26.81
Akbar et al. 2009	61	72	Dysplasia 34.7% Hip dislocation 11.1% AVN 11.1% OA 2.8% Post-traumatic 16.7% Perthes 11.1% RA 9.7% SUFE 2.8%	Anterolateral	35 (22-40)	33 (54%)	26 (18-41)
Flecher et al. 2007	79	97	Congenital hip dislocation Crowe 1 =38.1% Crowe 2= 28.9% Crowe 3= 13.4% Crowe 4= 19.6%	Watson Jones	48 (17-72)	5 (6.3%)	Not stated
Al-Khateeb et al. 2014	14	15	Perthes	Anterolateral or Posterior	32.8 (23-55)	6 (42.9%)	Not stated
Koulouvaris et al. 2008	38	48	Congenital dislocation of hip	Posterolateral	47 (22-69)	Not stated	Not stated
Benum et al. 2010	83	83	Primary OA 19% Dysplasia 57% Perthes 12% RA 6) Post-traumatic 1% AVN 2% Other 2%	Direct lateral	46 (20-60)	36 (43.4%)	Not stated
Sakai et al. 2006	77	99	Congenital hip dysplasia Crowe $1=47.5\%$ Crowe $2=41.4\%$ Crowe $3=11.1\&$	Posterolateral	54 (40-73)	7 (9.1%)	23.6 (17.3-30.6)
Sewell et al. 2011	25	40	Skeletal dysplasia	Anterolateral or Posterior,	37.5 (18-61)	15 (60%)	Not stated
McCullough et al. 2006	25	42	Inflammatory Polyarthropathy	Not stated	21(11-35)	7 (28%)	Not stated
Kawate et al 2009	53	55	Dysplastic hips	Posterolateral	60(40-73)	5 (9.4%)	Not stated

Masuda et al. 2016	28	32	Dysplastic hips with previous osteotomy	Posterolateral	62(29-77)	2 (7.1%)	Not stated
-----------------------	----	----	--	----------------	-----------	----------	------------

Table 1: Characteristics of included studies (AVN = avascular necrosis; DDH =developmental dysplasia of hip; No. = Number; OA = osteoarthritis; RA = rheumatoidarthritis; SUFE = Slipped Upper Femoral Epiphysis)

Design of Custom Stems

Of the 13 included studies of custom femoral stems, there were six different manufacturers, and in one study, the manufacturer was not stated (Supplementary File 2). All custom stems were designed from computer tomography (CT) imaging. They were all uncemented, and 11 studies specified a coating with hydroxyapatite, however not always stating whether fully or partially. Additionally, 10 studies mentioned the material of the femoral stem (titanium alloy), while others did not provide specific material details. The lengths of the custom femoral stems were stated in four studies.

Survival Rates, Revisions, and Reoperations

Eleven studies (N=780) presented reoperation rates (Table 2). At a mean follow up of 11.6 years, the overall mean reoperation rate was 6.9% (95% CI: 3.24 - 10.13). The range of reoperation rates in the studies was 0%-16%. The overall weighted mean reoperation rate was 5.6%.

Eleven studies (N=780) presented their revision rates (Table 2). At a mean follow-up of 11.5 years, the overall mean revision rate for custom femoral THA prostheses was 8.25% (95% CI: 4.02 - 12.47). The range of revision rates in the studies was 0% to 23.10%. The overall weighted mean revision rate was 7.0%.

Kaplan Meier survival was reported in 11 studies (Table 3). Stem survival with aseptic loosening as an endpoint was reported in 11 studies (N=869). Eight studies (N=488)[26-29, 32-35] reported this as 100% with a follow-up ranging from 6 to 14 years. Three studies (n=381)[17, 24, 25] reported survival of 87.5%-99% with a follow up ranging from 9.3 to 20 years.

Study	Follow-up period in years (range)	Revisions (%)	Reason for Revision	Reoperations (%)	Reason for Reoperation
Jacquet et al.	20 (14-27)	23 (9.9%)	Cup -7 for AL - 6 for PE wear Both implants -3 for AL -7 for infection	12 (5.2%)	4 infections 3 symptomatic HO 1 PP femur fracture 1 liner dislocation 1 painful trochanteric wire 1 GT fracture non-union 1 dislocation
2020	16 (10-22)	6 (23.1%)	Cup -2 for dislocation -1 for AL Stem -for PP fracture -2 for AL	1 (3.8%)	1 PP femur fracture
Flecher et al. 2018	15 (9-22)	1 (4.35%)	Stem -1 for AL	2 (8.7%)	1 infection 1 head fracture
Pakos et al. 2015	10.6	8 (9.30%)	Cup -3 for AL -1 for PE liner wear Stem -2 for AL Both implants -2 for infection	3 (3.5%)	2 dislocations 1 HO
Akbar et al. 2009	14 (10-16)	3 (4.17%)	Cup -3 for AL	-Not stated	-Not stated
Flecher et al. 2007	10.25 (83-182)	6 (6.2%)	Cup -2 for AL -2 for dislocation Stem -1 for stem fracture Both implants -1 for infection	1 (1.0%)	1 dislocation
Al-Khateeb et al. 2014	10.1 (5-15)	3 (21%)	Cup -3 for AL	2 (13.3%)	1 symptomatic HO 1 infection
Koulouvaris et al. 2008	6 (4-8)	3 (6.25)	Cup -1 for mechanical failure Both implants -2 for infection	2 (4.2%)	1 dislocation 1 symptomatic HO
Benum et al. 2010	10	2 (2.41%)	Stem -2 for PP fracture	7 (8.4%)	1 PP femur fracture 4 PE wear 2 pain
Sakai et al. 2006	9.25	1 (1.01%)	Stem - 1 for AL	-Not stated	-Not stated
Sewell et al. 2011	10.1 (4.3-18.2)	4 (10%)	Cup -2 for AL Stem - 1 for infection Both implants -1 for AL	4 (16%)	1 dislocation 2 intraoperative fracture 1 infection
McCullough et al. 2006	11.2 (8-13)	4 (9.5%)	Cup -2 for AL Stem -2 for AL	6 (14.3%)	1 stem subsidence 4 exchange PE line 1 PP fracture
Kawate et al. 2009	7 (5-11)	0	0	1 (1.8%)	1 dislocation
Masuda et al. 2016	13 (10-19)	-	-	3 (9.38%)	3 dislocation

Table 2: Rates and reasons for revision and reoperations in included studies (AL = aseptic
loosening, PE= polyethylene, HO = heterotopic ossification, GT = greater trochanter, PP =
periprosthetic)

64 J	Stem revisio loose	on for aseptic ening	Revision of any component for any reason		
Study	Follow up years	KM survival (95% CI)	Follow up years	KM survival (95% CI)	
Jacquet et al.	20	96.8% (95.1-98.5)	20	77.7% (72.4-84)	
2020	15	87.5% (76.5-99.1)	15	72.60%	
Flecher et al. 2018	15	95.6% (92.4-98.8)	Not stated	Not stated	
Pakos et al. 2015	10	100%	10	95.4%%	
Akbar et al. 2009	14	100%	14	86% (64-95)	
Flecher et al. 2007	13	100%	13	89.5% (89.2-89.8)	
Al-Khateeb et al. 2014	10.1	100%	10.1	79%	
Koulouvaris et al. 2008	6	100%	Not stated	Not stated	
Benum et al. 2010	10	100%	Not stated	Not stated	
Sakai et al. 2006	9.3	99% (0.97-1)	9.3	99% (0.97-1)	
Sewell et al. 2011	Not stated	Not stated	Not stated	Not stated	
McCullough et al. 2006	Not stated	Not stated	12	71.4%	
Kawate et al. 2009	7	100%	Not stated	Not stated	
Masuda et al. 2016	13	100%	Not stated	Not stated	

Table 3: Kaplan Meir survival data for included studies (CI = confidence interval; KM =Kaplan Meir).

Intraoperative Fractures and Leg Length Discrepancy

Intraoperative fracture rates were reported in 11 studies (N=595) with a mean rate of 3.23% (95% CI: 1.35 - 5.11). The overall weighted mean was 3.19%. All cases of intraoperative fractures were treated with cabling, except one which required no intervention. Leg length discrepancies postoperatively were reported in five studies with a mean discrepancy of 4.25mm (95% CI: 1.57-6.93). The overall weighted mean was 3.08mm.

Postoperative Patient-Reported Outcomes (PROM)

All studies included reported patient outcomes. Ten studies reported their outcomes using Harris Hip Score(HHS; Figure 2)[36], four studies presented Merle D'Aubigne scores[37] and one study presented Hospital for Special Surgery system scores[38]. There was insufficient data to permit meta-analysis with studies not reporting inter-quartile range or standard deviation values for specific timepoints. The mean preoperative HHS was 47.26 (range 41-59), and post-operative HHS was 87.58 (range 80-98). The mean improvement in HHS was 40.32 (30-56). The mean preoperative Merle D'Aubigne score was nine (range 7.6-10) and

postoperatively the mean score was 16.63 (range 15.9-17). The one study presenting the hospital for special surgery system score showed an improvement from a median 14 preoperatively to a median 30 postoperatively.



Figure 2: Graph illustrating mean preoperative and postoperative Harris Hip Scores

Quality of Evidence

The Joanna Briggs Institute score, reflecting the quality of evidence, indicated a mean score of 6.08 points out of a maximum of 10, with a range of 3 to 9 points (Table 4). Consistently reported strengths in the literature included clearly reported follow-up results of cases (N=12; 92.3% studies), clear criteria for inclusion in the case series (N=11; 84.6% studies) and clear reporting of the demographics of the participants of the study (N=12; 92.3% studies). Repeated limitations in the evidence included insufficient methods used for identification of the condition for all participants included (N=11; 84.6% studies) and the condition was not measured in a standard, reliable way for all participants included (N=9; 69.2% studies)

Study	JBI Checklist Score
Jacquet et al.	6 (non-comparative, retrospective)
2020	
Flecher et al.	4 (non-comparative, retrospective)
2018	
Flecher et al.	7 (non-comparative, retrospective)
2018	
Pakos et al.	8 (non-comparative, prospective)
2015	
Akbar et al.	8 (non-comparative)
2009	-
Flecher et al.	7 (non-comparative, retrospective)

2007	
Al-Khateeb et al. 2014	9 (non-comparative, prospective)
Koulouvaris et al. 2008	0 (non-comparative, prospective)
Benum et al. 2010	8 (non-comparative, prospective)
Sakai et al. 2006	7 (non-comparative, retrospective)
Sewell et al. 2011	5 (non-comparative)
McCullough et al. 2006	7 (non-comparative)
Kawate et al. 2009	3 (non-comparative, retrospective)

Table 4: Illustrating Joanna Briggs Institute (JBI) Checklist Score and study type

Discussion

Custom femoral stems offer tailored solutions for deformed proximal femurs, optimizing fixation for unique anatomical challenges. However, their use has limitations, requiring a balanced consideration of benefits against potential challenges in clinical practice. The findings of this systematic review indicate the impressive performance of custom femoral stems in complex patient groups, where achieving durable fixation in abnormal proximal femoral bone is a concern[39, 40]. These custom stems demonstrate excellent survival rates against aseptic loosening, with figures ranging from 87.5% to 100% over follow-up periods of 6-20 years. Multiple studies have emphasised that custom femoral stems excel in achieving enhanced metaphyseal fit and fill, a critical factor in boosting both rotational and axial stability[18, 41]. The integration of computer-aided design and manufacturing (CAD-CAM) technologies in crafting these stems has been instrumental in achieving this [42, 43]. This approach not only preserves bone mass but also optimizes load distribution across the hip joint, characteristics vital for femoral stems, particularly in complex clinical scenarios[42, 44]. While the overall survival rate for all components (considering any cause) is somewhat lower, it remains promising in a challenging patient demographic. Notably, most revisions were related to acetabular issues such as loosening and wear, underscoring known challenges with acetabular fixation and durability in these patients [45, 46]. The relatively fewer revisions pertaining solely to the femoral component are reassuring.

Custom femoral stems are designed to achieve optimal fit and fill in the metaphyseal region. This is particularly significant in patients with atypical proximal femoral anatomy, who may also present with abnormal bone quality. Such scenarios inherently raise the possibility of intraoperative challenges, including the risk of fractures and potential discrepancies in limb length, should the custom femoral stem not fit as intended[25, 47]. Encouragingly, the incidence of intraoperative fractures with custom stems has been reported to be low, even falling below the reported rate of up to 5% for cementless stems in primary THA[48-50]. This is a noteworthy achievement, considering the complexity of cases involving custom stems. Furthermore, the rates of postoperative leg length discrepancy with custom stems have also been low. When contrasted with the average discrepancies reported in the literature, which range from 3 to 17mm, the precision achieved with custom stems is commendable[51]. This suggests that with meticulous surgical planning and technique, the risks typically associated with custom stem implantation, such as intraoperative fractures and leg length discrepancies, can be effectively mitigated whilst adequately replicating centre of rotation of the femoral head. Therefore, avoiding impingement and reproducing the original foot progression angle[52, 53]. These findings underscore the importance of careful preoperative assessment and planning in ensuring successful outcomes with custom femoral stems in THA.

Custom femoral stem manufacturing has evolved over the past three decades, shifting from intraoperative silicone mould crafting to preoperative design using radiographs and 3-D imaging. Manufacturers differ in their approach; some modify off-the-shelf models, while others use detailed imaging for a precise anatomical fit. These stems vary in dimensions, shapes, and materials, reflecting diverse manufacturing practices and necessitating treating each stem as a unique, patient-specific implant. This variability challenges standard classification and comparison, as noted in a previous systematic review[54]. Custom stems, designed based on individual patient anatomy and surgeon preferences, offer unique surgical solutions but face challenges like higher costs and extensive preoperative planning[55, 56]. Advancements in technologies such as CAD-CAM and 3-D printing are revolutionizing the manufacturing of custom stems, by making the process more efficient and cost-effective. Although the initial cost of these advanced manufacturing techniques might be higher, this could be offset by reduced risk of revision. These techniques offer enhanced precision and customization, which enable surgeons to provide more tailored and patient-specific solutions, particularly in complex cases where standard implants may not be adequate. As we continue to embrace these innovations, the future of hip replacement surgery looks to offer more personalized treatment options in order to significantly improve patient outcomes and satisfaction.

This review highlights that existing research lacks direct comparative studies between custom and standard femoral stems in secondary hip osteoarthritis, limiting understanding of custom designs' benefits in complex scenarios. The decision to utilise a custom femoral stem, requires deep knowledge of patient anatomy, standard implant limitations, and custom design benefits and challenges. Expertise in preoperative planning and intraoperative techniques is crucial to reduce complications. Current comparative studies show no significant differences, indicating a need for more robust comparative research involving larger cohorts[18, 20, 21, 57-59]. Future studies should include long-term follow-ups to assess custom stems' performance, durability, and effectiveness in mimicking natural biomechanics.

Limitations

Our review is not without limitations. The potential for publication bias, the heterogeneity of the included studies, and the variability in methodologies, follow-up periods, and patient demographics across studies may affect the generalisability of our conclusions. Furthermore, there is variability in the design and manufacturing of custom femoral stems that cannot be controlled and may result in a difference of outcomes. Data for each included study was not available so a meta-analysis of the PROMs could not be performed.

Conclusion

In conclusion, custom femoral stems in primary THA for secondary hip osteoarthritis offer a potentially accurate and reliable solution that can significantly improve patient outcomes. However, their use requires careful consideration of the individual patient's anatomy, surgical expertise, and the challenges associated with custom implant design and manufacturing. Future research should aim to directly compare results and cost effectiveness of custom and standard femoral stems and provide more robust evidence to guide clinical practice. As orthopaedic surgery continues to evolve, the quest for optimal solutions in complex primary THA will undoubtedly fuel ongoing research and innovation.

Supplementary Material

Supplementary File 1: Electronic database search strategy

(custom OR custom* OR "patient specific") AND (stem OR stems) AND ("total hip arthroplasty" OR "total hip replacement" OR "total hip implants" OR THA OR THR)

Supplementary File 2: Details of custom femoral stems included in studies (Ti = titanium, HA = hydroxyapatite, 3-D = three dimensional, CT = computer tomography)

Study	Stem manufacturer	Description
Jacquet et al. 2020	Symbios Ti-Alloy, HA coated	No further details
Flecher et al. 2017	Symbios Ti-Alloy, HA coated	Fitting intramedullary proximal femoral anatomy and accommodating neck offset to the new centre of the joint for patient according to the 3-D CT-based preoperative planning
Flecher et al. 2018	Symbios Ti-Alloy, HA coated	Thick layer coating of porous hydroxyapatite at the proximal part. The HA layer was air plasma sprayed and had a thickness of $75 \pm 25 \mu$ m. All femoral stems were designed to restore the prosthetic neck anteversion to a normal of 15°. The median femoral neck angle was 130° (IQR 126°–133°) and the median neck length was 48mm (IQR 41.75 mm–56.00 mm). The offset of the prosthesis was calculated according to the opposite hip. If abnormal opposite hip, a 4cm offset for small patients with narrow pelvis and a 4.5cm offset for heavy, obese patients.
Pakos et al. 2015	OS orthopaedic services, GmbH, CT3D-A femoral stem, Ti- alloy, proximal HA-coated	Filling and fitting in the proximal metaphysis. Distal diaphyseal fixation was avoided by reducing the diameter of the stem. The length of the stem ranged from 140 to 160 mm. The macro-structure with a medial bridge and arched structure effectively strengthens both the axial and the rotational stability. A coating layer of hydroxyapatite (HA) (thickness, 80–150µm) was applied to the proximal two-thirds of the implant.
Akbar et al. 2009	- Titanium, HA coated	fitting the intramedullary proximal femoral anatomy and accommodating the offset of the femoral neck to obtain the correct hip centre was then inserted the femoral component was designed to produce proximal loading on the femur and was tapered distally. The mean prosthetic neck-shaft angle was 131.8° (102°-143°)
Flecher et al. 2007	Centre for Biomechanical Engineering, UCL Ti-alloy, HA coated	It had a collar proximally and a lateral flare. The intertrochanteric portion had numerous macro-grooves measuring 1.5mm in depth and 3 mm in width to increase the surface area for osseointegration. The distal end had longitudinal cutting flutes with a polished finish at the tip to optimize insertion. The implant surface was plasma-sprayed and coated with highly crystallinized HA.
Al-Khateeb et al. 2014	-	The custom prosthesis has a custom grit-blasted broach, which is undersized by 2 mm and is used for impaction of the cancellous bone of the femoral canal.
Koulouvaris et al. 2008	Unique; Scandinavia customized prosthesis, Trondheim, Norway) Proximal HA coated	Designed with a neck that gives a femoral neck anteversion of 10° after insertion unless surgeon decides otherwise. Stems were grit-blasted, and the proximal part of the stem was covered with HA only (CAM Implants, Leiden, the Netherlands) and sterilized by gamma technique (Gamma-Master BV, the Netherlands)
Benum et al. 2010	Cremascoli, Milano, Italy TI-Alloy, sandblasted	maximum proximal canal filling. The mean stem length was 121mm (range, 103–135mm). Curved anatomic shape with semicylinder-shaped surface grooves with a radius of 0.5mm were added to the implant in a 5mm grid to enhance mechanical locking onto the bone, femoral components were sandblasted with mesh sand (A12O3, 106–250 um) under 4 bar pressure for a few minutes at room temperature to provide a 4.95 \pm 1µm surface finish.
Sakai et al. 2006	Centre for Biomechanical Engineering, UCL (assoc. Stanmore implants) Ti-Alloy and proximally HA coated	Collared, lateral flare, intertrochanteric portion had numerous macrogrooves measuring 1.5mm in depth and 3mm in width to increase the surface area for osseointegration. The distal end had longitudinal cutting flutes with a polished finish at the tip to optimize insertion. The implant surface was plasma-sprayed and coated with highly crystallinized hydroxyapatite.
Sewell et al. 2011	Centre for Biomedical Engineering, UCL proximally HA coated	All had HA proximal third, high-crystallisation HA was used with a thickness of $75 \mu\text{m}$ to $100 \mu\text{m}$. in the first 14 hips, straight-stem femoral components were used, while the subsequent 28 implants had the addition of a proximal lateral flare.
McCullough et al. 2006	Expert stem version 1 Japan Medical Material, Ti-Alloy and proximally HA coated	To obtain the proximal fixation, the distal part was gradually tapered. The stems did not have collars and the proximal one third was coated using 400µm thick porous coating covered with 20µm HA coating. The average stem length was 10cm (range, 8.7-11.4cm) and average diameter was 8.8 mm (range 6.9-11.8mm)
Kawate et al. 2009	Expert stem version 1 Japan Medical Material, Ti-Alloy and proximally HA coated	collarless and the proximal third was coated with a 400 μ m thick porous coating covered with 20 μ m HA coating. The centre third was coated using sand blasted coating. Average stem length 10.5cm (range 8.9 – 18.8)

References

1. McAuley JP, Szuszczewicz ES, Young A, Engh CA, Sr. (2004); Total hip arthroplasty in patients 50 years and younger. Clin Orthop Relat Res(418):119-25.

2. Adelani MA, Keeney JA, Palisch A, Fowler SA, Clohisy JC. (2013); Has total hip arthroplasty in patients 30 years or younger improved? A systematic review. Clin Orthop Relat Res.471(8):2595-601.

3. Boisgard S, Descamps S, Bouillet B. (2013); Complex primary total hip arthroplasty. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res.99(1 Suppl):S34-42.

4. Morley JR, Barker R, Howell JR. Cemented Total Hip Replacement. In: Bentley G, editor. European Surgical Orthopaedics and Traumatology: The EFORT Textbook. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2014. p. 2397-422.

5. Murray DW. (2013); Cemented femoral fixation: the North Atlantic divide. Bone Joint J.95-B(11 Suppl A):51-2.

6. Wyatt M, Hooper G, Frampton C, Rothwell A. (2014); Survival outcomes of cemented compared to uncemented stems in primary total hip replacement. World J Orthop.5(5):591-6.

7. Bloch BV, White JJE, Matar HE, Berber R, Manktelow ARJ. (2022); Should patient age thresholds dictate fixation strategy in total hip arthroplasty? The Bone & Joint Journal.104-B(2):206-11.

8. Jain S, Lamb J, Townsend O, Scott CEH, Kendrick B, Middleton R, et al. (2021); Risk factors influencing fracture characteristics in postoperative periprosthetic femoral fractures around cemented stems in total hip arthroplasty : a multicentre observational cohort study on 584 fractures. Bone Jt Open.2(7):466-75.

9. Jain S, Lamb JN, Drake R, Entwistle I, Baren JP, Thompson Z, et al. (2024); Risk factors for periprosthetic femoral fracture risk around a cemented polished taper-slip stem using an osteoporotic composite bone model. Proc Inst Mech Eng H:9544119231225172.

10. Lynch Wong M, Robinson M, Bryce L, Cassidy R, Lamb JN, Diamond O, et al. (2024); Reoperation risk of periprosthetic fracture after primary total hip arthroplasty using a collared cementless or a taper-slip cemented stem. Bone Joint J.106-B(2):144-50.

11. Giebaly DE, Twaij H, Ibrahim M, Haddad FS. (2016); Cementless hip implants: an expanding choice. Hip Int.26(5):413-23.

12. Lavy CB, Msamati BC, Igbigbi PS. (2003); Racial and gender variations in adult hip morphology. Int Orthop.27(6):331-3.

13. Mavcic B, Antolic V. (2021); Cementless femoral stem fixation and leg-length discrepancy after total hip arthroplasty in different proximal femoral morphological types. Int Orthop.45(4):891-6.

14. Sotereanos N, Sewecke J, Raukar GJ, DeMeo PJ, Bargiotas K, Wohlrab D. (2006); Revision total hip arthroplasty with a custom cementless stem with distal cross-locking screws. Early results in femora with large proximal segmental deficiencies. J Bone Joint Surg Am.88(5):1079-84.

15. Nogier A, Tourabaly I, Ramos-Pascual S, Barreau X, Baraduc E, Saffarini M, et al. (2023); Excellent Clinical Outcomes and Return to Dance of 6 Active, Professional Ballet Dancers Aged Younger Than 40 Years at Total Hip Arthroplasty Through Direct Anterior Approach With a Custom Stem: A Case Report. Clin J Sport Med.33(6):573-8.

16. Hitz OF, Flecher X, Parratte S, Ollivier M, Argenson JN. (2018); Minimum 10-Year Outcome of One-Stage Total Hip Arthroplasty Without Subtrochanteric Osteotomy Using a Cementless Custom Stem for Crowe III and IV Hip Dislocation. J Arthroplasty.33(7):2197-202.

17. Sakai T, Sugano N, Ohzono K, Lee SB, Nishii T. (2006); The custom femoral component is an effective option for congenital hip dysplasia. Clin Orthop Relat Res.451:146-53.

18. Gotze C, Steens W, Vieth V, Poremba C, Claes L, Steinbeck J. (2002); Primary stability in cementless femoral stems: custom-made versus conventional femoral prosthesis. Clin Biomech (Bristol, Avon).17(4):267-73.

19. Bargar WL. (1989); Shape the implant to the patient. A rationale for the use of custom-fit cementless total hip implants. Clin Orthop Relat Res(249):73-8.

20. Grant P, Aamodt A, Falch JA, Nordsletten L. (2005); Differences in stability and bone remodeling between a customized uncemented hydroxyapatite coated and a standard cemented femoral stem A randomized study with use of radiostereometry and bone densitometry. J Orthop Res.23(6):1280-5.

21. Gotze C, Rosenbaum D, Hoedemaker J, Bottner F, Steens W. (2009); Is there a need of custom-made prostheses for total hip arthroplasty? Gait analysis, clinical and radiographic analysis of customized femoral components. Arch Orthop Trauma Surg.129(2):267-74.

22. Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. (2021); The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ.372:n71.

23. Munn Z, Barker TH, Moola S, Tufanaru C, Stern C, McArthur A, et al. (2020); Methodological quality of case series studies: an introduction to the JBI critical appraisal tool. JBI Evid Synth.18(10):2127-33.

24. Jacquet C, Flecher X, Pioger C, Fabre-Aubrespy M, Ollivier M, Argenson JN. (2020); Long-term results of custom-made femoral stems. Orthopade.49(5):408-16.

25. Flecher X, Ollivier M, Maman P, Pesenti S, Parratte S, Argenson J-N. (2018); Longterm results of custom cementless-stem total hip arthroplasty performed in hip fusion. International Orthopaedics.42(6):1259-64.

26. Akbar M, Aldinger G, Krahmer K, Bruckner T, Aldinger PR. (2009); Custom stems for femoral deformity in patients less than 40 years of age: 70 hips followed for an average of 14 years. Acta Orthopaedica.80(4):420-5.

27. Flecher X, Parratte S, Aubaniac JM, Argenson JN. (2007); Three-dimensional custom-designed cementless femoral stem for osteoarthritis secondary to congenital dislocation of the hip. Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery, British Volume.89(12):1586-91.

28. Al-Khateeb H, Kwok IH, Hanna SA, Sewell MD, Hashemi-Nejad A. (2014); Custom cementless THA in patients with Legg-Calve-Perthes Disease. J Arthroplasty.29(4):792-6.

29. Koulouvaris P, Stafylas K, Sculco T, Xenakis T. (2008); Custom-design implants for severe distorted proximal anatomy of the femur in young adults followed for 4-8 years. Acta Orthop.79(2):203-10.

30. Sewell MD, Hanna SA, Muirhead-Allwood SK, Cannon SR, Briggs TW. (2011); Custom cementless THA in patients with skeletal dysplasia results in lower apparent revision rates than other types of femoral fixation. Clin Orthop Relat Res.469(5):1406-12.

31. McCullough CJ, Remedios D, Tytherleigh-Strong G, Hua J, Walker PS. (2006); The use of hydroxyapatite-coated CAD-CAM femoral components in adolescents and young adults with inflammatory polyarthropathy: ten-year results. J Bone Joint Surg Br.88(7):860-4.

32. Masuda Y, Kawate K, Ohmura T, Munemoto M, Uchihara Y, Tanaka Y. (2016); Minimum ten-year follow-up of computed tomography based, custom cementless stem after intertrochanteric osteotomy for dysplastic hips. Journal of Nara Medical Association.67(4-6):65-72.

33. Benum P, Aamodt A, Nordsletten L. (2010); Customised femoral stems in osteopetrosis and the development of a guiding system for the preparation of an

intramedullary cavity: A REPORT OF TWO CASES. Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery, British Volume.92(9):1303-5.

34. Kawate K, Ohneda Y, Ohmura T, Yajima H, Sugimoto K, Takakura Y, et al. (2009); Computed tomography-based custom-made stem for dysplastic hips in Japanese patients. Journal of Arthroplasty.24(1):65-70.

35. Pakos EE, Stafilas KS, Tsovilis AE, Vafiadis JN, Kalos NK, Xenakis TA. (2015); Long Term Outcomes of Total Hip Arthroplasty With Custom Made Femoral Implants in Patients With Congenital Disease of Hip. Journal of Arthroplasty.30(12):2242-7.

36. Harris WH. (1969); Traumatic arthritis of the hip after dislocation and acetabular fractures: treatment by mold arthroplasty. An end-result study using a new method of result evaluation. J Bone Joint Surg Am.51(4):737-55.

37. D'Aubigne RM, Postel M. (1954); Functional results of hip arthroplasty with acrylic prosthesis. J Bone Joint Surg Am.36-A(3):451-75.

38. Salvati EA, Wilson PD, Jr. (1973); Long-term results of femoral-head replacement. J Bone Joint Surg Am.55(3):516-24.

39. Zhang Q, Goodman SB, Maloney WJ, Huddleston JI, 3rd. (2016); Can a Conical Implant Successfully Address Complex Anatomy in Primary THA? Radiographs and Hip Scores at Early Followup. Clin Orthop Relat Res.474(2):459-64.

40. Faldini C, Miscione MT, Chehrassan M, Acri F, Pungetti C, d'Amato M, et al. (2011); Congenital hip dysplasia treated by total hip arthroplasty using cementless tapered stem in patients younger than 50 years old: results after 12-years follow-up. J Orthop Traumatol.12(4):213-8.

41. Hosny HA, Srinivasan SC, Hall MJ, Keenan J, Fekry H. (2017); Achievement Of Primary Stability Using 3D-CT Guided Custom Design Femoral Stems In Patients With Proximal Femoral Deformity : EBRA-FCA Analysis. Acta Orthop Belg.83(4):617-23.

42. Hua J, Walker PS, Muirhead-Allwood W, Bentley G, McCullough CJ. (1995); The rationale for CAD-CAM uncemented custom hips: an interim assessment. Hip International.5(2):52-62.

43. Gikas PD, Hanna S, Bayliss L, Aston W, Carrington RWJ, Skinner J, et al. (2010); The royal national orthopaedic hospital experience with custom made (CAD-CAM) uncemented total hip replacement. The Bone & Joint Journal.92-B:298.

44. Hua J, Walker PS. (1995); Closeness of fit of uncemented stems improves the strain distribution in the femur. J Orthop Res.13(3):339-46.

45. Chougle A, Hemmady M, Hodgkinson J. (2005); Severity of hip dysplasia and loosening of the socket in cemented total hip replacement: a long-term follow-up. The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery British Volume.87(1):16-20.

46. Baghdadi YM, Larson AN, Sierra RJ. (2013); Restoration of the hip center during THA performed for protrusio acetabuli is associated with better implant survival. Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research[®].471:3251-9.

47. Reize PK, Wulker N. (2007); The Adaptiva custom-made stem--our reasons for not using it anymore. Int Orthop.31(2):217-22.

48. Miettinen SS, Makinen TJ, Kostensalo I, Makela K, Huhtala H, Kettunen JS, et al. (2016); Risk factors for intraoperative calcar fracture in cementless total hip arthroplasty. Acta Orthop.87(2):113-9.

49. Dammerer D, Putzer D, Glodny B, Petersen J, Arrich F, Krismer M, et al. (2019); Occult intra-operative periprosthetic fractures of the acetabulum may affect implant survival. Int Orthop.43(7):1583-90.

50. Radl R, Aigner C, Hungerford M, Pascher A, Windhager R. (2000); Proximal femoral bone loss and increased rate of fracture with a proximally hydroxyapatite-coated femoral component. J Bone Joint Surg Br.82(8):1151-5.

51. Turula KB, Friberg O, Lindholm TS, Tallroth K, Vankka E. (1986); Leg length inequality after total hip arthroplasty. Clin Orthop Relat Res(202):163-8.

52. Wettstein M, Mouhsine E, Aubaniac JM, Audige L, Ollivier M, Leyvraz PF, et al. (2023); The torsion of the proximal femur in cementless total hip arthroplasty: a 3-dimensional evaluation. Hip Int.33(2):254-61.

53. Sariali E, Mouttet A, Flecher X, Argenson JN. (2020); Reproducing proximal femur anatomy with custom stems. Personalized Hip and Knee Joint Replacement:53-63.

54. Nogier A, Tourabaly I, Ramos-Pascual S, Muller JH, Saffarini M, Courtin C. (2021); Outcomes of primary total hip arthroplasty using 3D image-based custom stems in unselected patients: a systematic review. EFORT Open Rev.6(12):1166-80.

55. Wettstein M, Mouhsine E, Argenson JN, Rubin PJ, Aubaniac JM, Leyvraz PF. (2005); Three-dimensional computed cementless custom femoral stems in young patients: midterm followup. Clin Orthop Relat Res(437):169-75.

56. Abdelaal O, Darwish S, El-Hofy H, Saito Y. (2019); Patient-specific design process and evaluation of a hip prosthesis femoral stem. Int J Artif Organs.42(6):271-90.

57. Chow I, Patel RM, Stulberg SD. (2015); Short stem metaphyseal-engaging femoral implants: a case-controlled radiographic and clinical evaluation with eight year follow-up. J Arthroplasty.30(4):600-6.

58. Nysted M, Benum P, Klaksvik J, Foss O, Aamodt A. (2011); Periprosthetic bone loss after insertion of an uncemented, customized femoral stem and an uncemented anatomical stem. A randomized DXA study with 5-year follow-up. Acta Orthop.82(4):410-6.

59. Aamodt A, Lund-Larsen J, Eine J, Andersen E, Benum P, Schnell Husby O. (2002); Mechanical stability of custom and anatomical femoral stems: an experimental study in human femora. Hip Int.12(3):263-73.